
 

 

 

 
Meeting: Planning Committee (South) 

Date: Wednesday 18th October, 2023 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Swanspool House, Doddington Road, Wellingborough, 
NN8 1BP 

 
To members of the Planning Committee (South) 
 
Councillor Jennie Bone (Chair), Councillor Lee Wilkes (Vice-Chair), Councillor Scott Brown, 
Councillor Melanie Coleman, Councillor Kirk Harrison, Councillor Philip Irwin, Councillor 
Bert Jackson, Councillor Barbara Jenney, Councillor Lora Lawman, Councillor Andy 
Mercer, Councillor Gill Mercer, Councillor Steven North and Councillor Malcolm Ward. 
 
(Substitute members:  Cllrs Tim Allebone, Jon-Paul Carr, Jonathan Ekins, Clive Hallam, 
Ken Harrington, Richard Levell, Dorothy Maxwell, Roger Powell, Michael Tye, Malcolm 
Waters and Andrew Weatherill). 
 

Agenda 
 

Item Subject Presenting 
Officer 

Page no. 
 
01   Apologies for non-attendance 

 
  

 
02   Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023 

 
 5 - 10 

 
03   Members' Declarations of Interests 

 
  

 
Items requiring a decision  

04   NE/22/00851/OUT - Land East of A6 roundabout at 
Bedford Road, Rushden, Northants 

Planning 
Officer -  
William 
Tysterman 
 

11 - 70 

 
05   20/00745/FUL - Land North of Raunds fronting 

Brick Kiln Road, North Street, Brooks Road and 
Midland Road, Raunds, Northants 

Planning 
Officer - 
Sunny Bains 
 

71 - 106 

 
06   NE/23/00900/FUL - 13 Church Street, Woodford, 

Kettering, NN14 4EX - Demolition of existing single 
storey flat rood extension and its replacement with 
a new single storey extension 
 

Panning 
Officer - 
Erika Davies 

107 - 114 

 
07   Close of Meeting    

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Adele Wylie, Monitoring Officer 
North Northamptonshire Council 

 
Proper Officer 

Tuesday 10 October 2023  
 
 
*The reports on this agenda include summaries of representations that have been received 
in response to consultation under the Planning Acts and in accordance with the provisions 
in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.   
 
This agenda has been published by Democratic Services. 
Committee Administrator: Democratic Services 
  01933 231 521   
  Carol.Mundy@northnorthants.gov.uk    
 
Meetings at the Council Offices 
Where there is a need for the council to discuss exempt or confidential business, the press 
and public will be excluded from those parts of the meeting only and will have to vacate the 
room for the duration of that business. 
 
Public Participation 
The council has approved procedures for you to request to address meetings of the 
council. 
 
ITEM NARRATIVE DEADLINE 
Members of 
the Public 
Agenda 
Statements 

Requests to address the committee must be received by 12 Noon on the 
day before the meeting.  Speakers will be limited to speak for 3 minutes. 
 

12 Noon 
Tuesday 17 
October 2023 

Member 
Agenda 
Statements 

A request from a Ward Councillor must be received by 12 Noon on the 
day before the meeting.  The Member will be limited to speak for 5 
minutes. 

12 Noon 
Tuesday 17 
October 2023 

 
Please see the procedures for speaking at the Planning Committee before registering to 
speak.  If you wish to register to speak, please contact the committee administrator 
 
Press & Media Enquiries 
Any press or media enquiries should be directed through the Council’s Communications 
Team to NNU-Comms-Team@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
Public Enquiries 
Public enquiries regarding the authority’s meetings can be made to 
democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 2

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/speaking-planning-committees
mailto:democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
Members’ Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are reminded of their duty to ensure they abide by the approved Member Code 
of Conduct whilst undertaking their role as a Councillor.  Where a matter arises at a 
meeting which relates to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, you must declare the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to other Registerable Interests, you 
must declare the interest.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the matter 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or relates to a financial interest of a relative, friend or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest and not vote on the matter unless granted 
a dispensation.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that they should continue to adhere to the Council’s approved 
rules and protocols during the conduct of meetings.  These are contained in the Council’s 
approved Constitution. 
 
If Members have any queries as to whether a Declaration of Interest should be made 
please contact the Monitoring Officer at –  monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk


 

 

Page 4



 

 
 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee (South) 
Held at 7.00pm on Wednesday 20 September 2023 in the Council Chamber, 
Swanspool House, Doddington Road, Wellingborough 
 
Present:- 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Jennie Bone (Chair)  Councillor Lee Wilkes (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Scott Brown   Councillor Barbara Jenney 
Councillor Melanie Coleman  Councillor Andy Mercer 
Councillor Kirk Harrison   Councillor Gill Mercer 
Councillor Philip Irwin   Councillor Steven North  
Councillor Bert Jackson   Councillor Malcolm Ward  
 
Officers 
 
Jasbir Sandhu (Interim Planning Management and Enforcement Lead Manager) 
Pete Baish (Principal Development Management Officer) 
John Wilbraham (Development Management Officer) 
Nigel Bell (Legal Adviser) 
Louise Tyers (Senior Democratic Services Officer) 
Emma Robinson (Democratic Services Support Officer) 
 
21 Apologies for non-attendance  
 

Apologies for non-attendance were received from Councillor Lora Lawman.   
 
22 Members’ Declarations of Interest  
 

The Chair invited those who wished to do so to declare any interests in respect of 
items on the agenda. 

 
Councillors Application Nature of Interest DPI Other 

Interest 
Jennie Bone 
and Bert 
Jackson 

NE/23/00088/FUL 
– Land South 
East of The 
Ferrers School 

Are members of 
Higham Ferrers 
Town Council. 

  Yes 

 
The following informal site visits were declared: 

 
• 36-40 High Street, Irthlingborough (NE/23/00350/FUL) – Councillors Jennie 

Bone, Kirk Harrison, Bert Jackson, Andy Mercer and Gill Mercer. 
Councillor Kirk Harrison also declared that he had exchanged a number of 
emails about the application with local residents. 

• Land South East of The Ferrers School, A6 Higham Ferrers Bypass, Higham 
Ferrers (NE/23/00088/FUL) – Councillor Jennie Bone. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



23 Minutes of the meeting of the Area Planning Committee Thrapston held on 
16 August 2023 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Planning Committee (South) held on 16 August 2023 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed. 

 
24 Planning Application NE/23/00350/FUL – 36-40 High Street , Irthlingborough  
 

The Committee considered an application to alter an existing building, adding a 
roof extension that would create a second floor, to create a total of four residential 
units (one bed).  The ground floor would remain in retail use and would not involve 
a change of use.  The first floor is to be converted under prior approved grant 
NE/22/01552/PDU.  
 
The Principal Development Management Officer presented the report which 
detailed the proposal, description of the site, the planning history, relevant planning 
policies, outcome of consultations and an assessment of the proposal, providing 
full and comprehensive details. 
 
It was recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the Committee report. 
 
Requests to address the meeting had been received from Revd. John Westwood, 
an objector; Councillor Dorothy Maxwell, a Ward Member and Christian Akrill, the 
agent and the Committee was given the opportunity to ask questions for 
clarification. 
 
Revd. Westwood addressed the Committee and stated that he spoke on behalf of 
the residents of Warrens Close.  The residents had a number of objections to the 
application including that the proposed additional flats would lead to an 
overdevelopment of the site, access to the flats would be from Warrens Close, the 
five parking spaces had already been allocated to the earlier application so there 
were no parking spaces allocated to this development and there would be 
unacceptable congestion in Warrens Close.  Existing residents would not be able 
to access the Close and emergency and utility vehicles would find it difficult to 
access.  Garden waste had recently not been able to be collected due to access.  
Parked cars also caused an issue.  There would be an unacceptable increase in 
traffic movements in the conservation area. 
 
Councillor Maxwell addressed the Committee and stated that the application did 
not meet the agreed Highways standards for parking.  Where would the parking 
which was lost be displaced to?  Turning facilities could not be achieved so how 
would emergency vehicles access the Close.  There was no area for children to 
play.  The developer had suggested parking in the nearby Council car park but 
what about the needs of local shoppers.  The application would severely affect the 
residents of Warrens Close and should be refused. 
 
Christian Akrill addressed the Committee and stated that the additional level had 
been designed in a traditional style and matched other approved residential 
developments.  It was accepted that the application did not meet the parking 

Page 6



standards, which required 12 spaces, with only five spaces.  It was a town centre 
location and the parking survey found that 36% of spaces on-street were free and 
77% in car parks were free.  No highway safety concerns had been raised by 
Highways, there would be no unacceptable traffic impacts and no waste issues 
had been raised.  Commercial traffic had been removed and the Heron Foods 
store would service their premises from the front.  It was in the Heron Foods lease 
that they could not park at the rear of the development.  The route from the car 
park to the site was believed to be safe.  There was a wide choice of parking 
available.  The development would appeal to those people who did not have a car.   
 
The Chair invited the Committee to determine the application. 
 
During debate on the application, the following points were made: 
 
(i) Parking was the key issue. The proposed parking was not sufficient and did 

not meet the approved parking standards.  It was noted that the Police had 
stated that parking should be provided in accordance with the approved 
parking standards, and if not, problems should be anticipated. 
 

(ii) From the proposed back entrance to the flats, it would be a walk of a 
considerable distance to the car park.  It was not reasonable to expect 
residents to park their car 500m away.  24-hour parking was also not 
allowed in the Council’s car park.   

 
(iii) In response, officers advised that they shared the concerns about parking, 

however, it was a town centre development and a parking survey had been 
submitted.  There was a seven spaces shortfall and in an appeal opposite, 
where there was also a seven spaces shortfall, the Planning Inspector had 
not been concerned.  The shortfall could be accommodated in the 
surrounding area.   
 

(iv) In response to comments that the parking survey was flawed, officers 
advised that the method of parking survey used was widely accepted.  The 
survey should be undertaken at a time of day when the highest number of 
residents were at home, e.g. late at night, which had been done in this case.  
The submitted survey had been accepted by the Highways Authority and 
would likely be accepted by a Planning Inspector.   

 
(v) There were also concerns at the road in Warren Close where cars were 

often parked obstructing the highway. 
 

(vi) Whilst acknowledging that the building would be better, was the site now 
being overdeveloped?  There were fundamental differences to the 
application which was allowed on appeal opposite, especially as its access 
was onto the High Street. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Philip Irwin and seconded by Councillor Scott Brown 
that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions set out in the report. 
 
On being put to the vote, there were 2 votes for the motion and 9 votes against, 
therefore the motion for approval was lost.   
 

Page 7



It was then proposed by Councillor Gill Mercer and seconded by Councillor Kirk 
Harrison that planning permission be refused. 
 
On being put to the vote, there were 9 votes for the motion and 2 against, therefore 
the motion was carried. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
That planning permission be refused, contrary to officer recommendation, due to 
the following reasons: 
 
• Overdevelopment of a site in the conservation area. 
• Intensification on Warrens Close. 
• Failure to comply with NNC adopted parking standards. 
 
The final wording of the refusal reasons is delegated to the Chair and Vice Chair, 
in consultation with officers. 

 
25 Planning Application NE/23/00088/REM – Land South East of The Ferrers 

School A6 Higham Ferrers Bypass Higham Ferrers  
 

The Committee considered an application for reserved matters: Appearance, 
Landscaping, Layout and Scale pursuant to 18/01648/OUT - Outline Planning 
Application on land to the west of the A6, Higham Ferrers, with means of vehicular 
access from the A6 roundabout known as the John Clarke Way Roundabout for 
consideration, all other matters (layout, appearance, scale and landscaping) 
reserved for subsequent approval, for the development of up to 300 no. new 
dwellings (Class C3), of which 30% will be affordable, landscaping, earthworks to 
facilitate surface water drainage and all other ancillary infrastructure and enabling 
works 
 
The Development Management Officer presented the report which detailed the 
proposal, description of the site, the planning history, relevant planning policies, 
outcome of consultations and an assessment of the proposal, providing full and 
comprehensive details. 
 
It was recommended that reserved matters permission be granted, subject to the 
conditions set out in the committee report. 
 
Requests to address the meeting had been received from Kathryn Ventham, the 
agent and the Committee was given the opportunity to ask questions for 
clarification. 
 
Ms Ventham addressed the Committee and stated that the site was allocated 
within the approved Higham Ferrers Neighbourhood Plan and outline approval had 
been granted.  There would be a good housing mix, including market affordable 
housing.  There would also be a range of parking provision on the site. There would 
be a number of connections to the surrounding area, including to the school.  There 
would be a range of benefits from the scheme including open space. 
 
The Chair invited the Committee to determine the application. 
 

Page 8



During debate on the application, the following points were made: 
 
(i) At the consideration of the outline application, there had been concern that 

there would only be one entrance and exit to the site but members were 
now happy that there would now be a second entrance.  Issues at the 
outline stage now appeared to be resolved. 
 

(ii) Condition 4 made reference to the access into the school grounds but who 
would maintain this access.  In response, the officer advised that it would 
be a matter for the school and landowner, but maintenance of the access 
could be included within the condition. 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Steven North and seconded by Councillor Andy 
Mercer that reserved matters permission be granted subject to the conditions set 
out in the report, Committee Update report and the modification of Condition 4 to 
include maintenance of the access to the school.    
 
On being put to the vote, the motion for approval was unanimously carried.   
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
That reserved matters permission be granted, subject to the conditions in the 
report, the Committee Update report and the modification of Condition 4. 

 
26 Close of Meeting  

 
The Chair thanked members, officers and the public for their attendance and 
closed the meeting. 

 
The meeting closed at 9.30pm. 

 
___________________________________ 

Chair 
 

 
__________________________________ 

Date 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



                                    
                                     
 
 
 
 
      North Northamptonshire Planning Committee (South)  

18 October 2023 
 

 
Scheme of Delegation 
This application is brought before the Planning Management Committee (South Area) because 
it falls outside of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. This is because it is of a departure from 
the current North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2016) and Rushden 
Neighbourhood Plan (2018) (although is allocated within the Emerging East Northamptonshire 
Part 2 Local Plan), has received more than 10 objections from members of the public and 
objections from Parish Councils. 
 
1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 APPROVE subject to delegated officers agreeing a final Early Years Education 

contribution and the prior completion of a Section 106 obligation relating to 
affordable housing, provision of open space, highway improvements, education, 
air quality, education sports contributions and subject to conditions to include 
those listed below with only minor alterations where necessary delegated to 
officers. 

  
1.2 In the event that the obligation referred to above has not been completed and the 

applicant is unwilling to agree to an extended period for determination, or on the 

Application 
Reference 

NE/22/00851/OUT 

Case Officer William Tysterman 

Location Land East of A6 And Roundabout At, Bedford Road, Rushden 

Development Outline: Erection of up to 450 dwellings, a community / retail / 
and or health facility, improvement works to the existing A6 / 
Bedford Road roundabout including provision of shared 
pedestrian / cycle access, parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space, and associated infrastructure (All 
matters reserved except access from the A6 / Bedford Road) 

Applicant Bellway Homes Limited 

Agent Marrons Planning - Mr Richard Cooke 

Ward Rushden South Ward 

Original Expiry Date 7 November 2022 

Agreed Extension of 
Time 

20 October 2023 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



grounds that the applicant is unwilling to complete the obligation necessary to 
make the development acceptable the development should be refused. 

 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1  This is a planning application for the erection of up to 450 dwellings, a community 

/ retail / and or health facility, improvement works to the existing A6 / Bedford 
Road roundabout including provision of shared pedestrian / cycle access, parking, 
landscaping, drainage features, open space, and associated infrastructure. The 
proposal is for the residential development of the site as an allocation in the 
emerging Local Plan Part 2 for East Northamptonshire. This application is in 
outline with 'access' the only matter to be considered in detail at this stage. The 
final layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are 'Reserved Matters' to be 
considered at a future date (should outline permission be granted). 

  
2.2 The following documents and plans have been submitted as part of the 

application, some of which were updated throughout the determination period:  
• Location Plan;  
• Parameters Plan 
• Topographical Plan 
• Illustrative Masterplan 
• Design and Access statement 
• Planning Statement 
• Statement of community involvement 
• Health Impact Assessment 
• Archaeology report 
• Contaminated Land Assessment 
• Utility Assessment 
• Ball Impact Assessment 
• Noise Assessment 
• Lighting assessment 
• Biodiversity net gain calculations 
• Travel Plan 
• Transport Assessment 
• Flood Risk Assessment 
• Soil Management Plan 
• Environmental Statement detailing the following sections 

• Introduction 
• EIA Approach and Methodology 
• Site and Surroundings 
• Proposed Development 
• Landscape and Visual  
• Biodiversity including 

o Badger report 
o Breeding Bird Report 
o Wintering Bird report 
o Information to inform Habitat Regulations Assessment 
o Bat survey 
o Great crested Newt report 

• Arboricultural report 
• Agricultural land 
• Water Environment and Drainage 
• Highways and Accessibility 
• Noise and Vibration 
• Air Quality 
• Summary and effects of mitigation 

Page 12



• Non Technical Summary of Environmental Statement 
  

3. Site Description 
 
3.1  The Site is approximately 23.70ha in size, adjacent to the south eastern edge of 

Rushden, east of the A6/ Bedford Road. To the north and east of the Site are 
further agricultural fields, with a golf range and course located to the south east, to 
the north of Bedford Road (A6). The land adjacent to the east of the Site was 
previously subject to a planning application for the use of a community facility, 
which included 4 rugby pitches. This has now been withdrawn.  

  
3.2 The Site is largely enclosed in character yet close to the existing residential edge 

of Rushden to the west, ribbon residential development to the south (Bedford 
Road), east (The Avenue) and north (Newton Road) as well as the heavily 
trafficked A6 transport corridor immediately west and south. The Site is located a 
short distance south of the allocated Rushden East Sustainable Urban Extension, 
which lies to the east of the A6 and north of Newton Road which is current subject 
of a pending planning application ref 20/01453/OUT. 

  
3.3 The site is in agricultural use with a ditch and established hedgerow with trees 

along the valley, running through the Site’s centre. The edge of Rushden Town is 
clearly beyond the A6 immediately adjacent to the western site perimeter and 
residential properties along Bedford Road (A6) immediately to the south are also 
visible. Rushden Primary Academy occupies a large, modern and visually 
dominant building to the west of the site and Rushden and Higham Rugby Club, 
with its high perimeter fence line, also forms local views to the south-west. 

  
3.4 The Site lies on the slopes of a localised valley, land rises to north-east, east and 

south east affording a perception of the site being reasonably well-contained 
overall. Landform slopes gently across the Site, rising to localised ridgelines in the 
north-east, at 90-95m AOD, and the east and south-east at 85-90m AOD. 

  
3.5 In terms of constraints, the Site is not covered by any statutory or non-statutory 

designations for landscape character and there are no Tree Preservation Orders 
(‘TPO’) covering any trees within the Site. The Site is not covered by any national 
statutory or non-statutory heritage designations. Rushden Conservation Area and 
listed buildings are located to the north west of the Site within Rushden, while a 
Scheduled Monument and Listed Building are located to the south east. The Site 
is not covered by any national statutory or non-statutory designations for ecology. 
The site is situated 3.3km to the south east of the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pit 
SPA / RAMSAR / SSSI. The Site is wholly located in Flood Zone 1, which means 
that it is at low risk of fluvial flooding. Public footpath UK9 crosses the Site, linking 
Rushden in the west to Higham Park in the east.  

 
4. Relevant Planning History 

 
4.1  None Relevant, although the site has been subject to pre application 
  
4.2 Adjacent to the site: 

20/01174/FUL - Erection of new rugby club house with four playing pitches and 
provision of new access road from existing roundabout, including creation of new 
pedestrian crossing and 3m wide shared footway and cycleway on adjacent 
highway (Resubmission of 19/01974/FUL) – Withdrawn 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



  
 
5. Consultation Responses 
 

     A full copy of all comments received can be found on the Council’s website here 
  
5.1  Rushden Town Council – No objections – comments summarised below: 

• Draft allocation within the emerging Part 2 Local Plan. 
• Policy CL7 of Rushden Neighbourhood Plan supports developments which 

provide new community facilities.  
• Recognise that the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group confirm that there will 

not be sufficient capacity in the local primary healthcare system 
• Concerns are raised over the description of development on this basis, as it 

appears there is a health need which should be met in line with Policy CL7 of 
the Neighbourhood Plan; and the Town Council's preference is a health facility 
be provided on the site. 

• Town Council are in favour of the applicant's intention to provide access to the 
new community building and four sports pitches proposed on adjoining land. 

• Sport England requested that financial contributions be made by the 
developer, in line with their Sports Facilities Calculator to meet likely demand 
for sports facilities. The Town Council request that any such contributions be 
directed toward the new Community facility and sports pitches which will 
provide dedicated facilities to meet a current deficit in sports provision across 
Rushden, in line with policy EN28 of the Part 2. 

• The Council's Part 2 Local Plan, and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan which 
informs it, provides flexibility on such matters when dealing with open space 
requirements, which are based on the recent KPP standards that are to be 
used in conjunction with other targeted strategies. 

• Much of the open space provision proposed on the development site is 
proposed for sustainable urban drainage purposes, and whilst such use can 
provide biodiversity and visual amenity benefits it will otherwise be unusable 
for future residents. 

• Consideration also needs to be given for potential noise mitigation measures 
in respect of the A6  

• The Town Council request that the planning authority keep them engaged on 
any S106 matters relating to open space and sports provision. 

• Subject to the above matters being agreed, and the planning authority being 
satisfied that the application will not prejudice the ability of the allocated site at 
Manor Road to be brought forward as development for up to 200 homes (as 
set out within the Rushden Neighbourhood Plan) in tandem with the proposed 
Community / Rugby Club development, then the Town Council is happy to 
support this application 'in-principle'.  

• The applicant is proposing a minimum of 30% affordable housing, which is in 
accordance with policy RNP2 of the Rushden Neighbourhood Plan. 

  
5.2 Wymington Parish Council: 

• Difficult to get in/out of the Wymington Lane/Bedford Road junction and building 
here will make it worse, the Parish Council would like to see North Northants 
Council working with the developers to install a roundabout at this position 

• Wymington village is already a well-used rat run for Rushden residents to get 
to Milton Keynes (Wymington/Podington/Bozeat and onto the A605). Both 
Rushden Road and the High Street suffer from speeding issues, and these 
dwellings are likely to continue to exacerbate the situation. The Parish Council 
would like to see funding for traffic calming measures  

 
 

  
Page 14

https://publicaccess.east-northamptonshire.gov.uk/online-applications/


5.3 Raunds Town Council 
• Supports improvements to the A6 roundabout but otherwise have no further 

comment. 
• Noted amended information 

  
5.4 Irthlingborough Parish Council - OBJECTION on the following grounds: - 

• With respect to Highways comments Irthlingborough Town Council would like 
to see the single carriageway extended to a dual carriageway. 

• The community facility area of 610 square metres is considered to be too small 
- it is felt that a minimum of 750 square metres should be allocated to D1 use. 

• Support Rushden Town Councils views 
  
5.5 North Northamptonshire Council – Environmental Health (Noise) – comments 

summarised below: 
• Further noise assessment needed prior to determination. It is likely that a 

noise barrier (fence/bund) will be required along the boundary with the A6 as a 
minimum. Noise at the façade of some dwellings cannot be mitigated unless 
they are set back from the A6 or protected by other means.  

• The assessment of noise at occupational phase indicates those dwellings 
close to the A6 on the western boundary will be exposed to unacceptably high 
façade noise levels. Greater than 60dB(A).  

• To protect the majority of people being moderately annoyed during the 
daytime the level should not exceed 50dBLAeq. The development should be 
designed to aspire to the lower level of 50 dBLAeq and no gardens shall 
exceed 55dBLAeq. 

 
Following the above, revised information was submitted and further comments are 
summarised below: 
• The technical note has focussed on noise in the gardens ignoring the very 

high façade levels, especially the dwellings proposed nearest to the A6 
Rushden Bypass and in the vicinity of the roundabout and site access.  

• Suggested mitigation in the noise assessment is as follows: 
o Reliance on a small distance buffer between houses and the A6.  
o The nearest dwelling is only around 25 metres from the edge of the A6. 
Noise at the façade of some dwellings cannot be mitigated unless they are set 
back some distance from the A6. 
o An appropriate site layout.  
o Appropriate building material.  
o Overreliance on the built form and glazing element with windows having to 
remain closed. 
o On plot garden fences.  
o This would not protect all the gardens from excessive noise levels. 

• The applicant has not explored any measures to mitigate traffic noise at 
source by the use of noise bunds and fences.  

 
Following the above, revised information was submitted and further comments are 
summarised below: 
• Based on the findings of noise Technical Note 2 there is no longer an objection. 
• Additional modelling of acoustic barriers alongside the A6 has been carried out 

by the acoustic consultant.  
• The height of any acoustic barrier will need to be at least 4 metres depending 

on the final layout of the site. This could be an acoustic fence, bund or 
combination of both. 

• Suggested conditions for detailed noise design at Reserved Matters stage 
 
 
 

Page 15



 
  
5.6 North Northamptonshire Council – Archaeology 

• The applicant has submitted a desk based assessment 
• The applicant should commission a field evaluation using fieldwalking (if 

conditions are suitable), geophysical survey and trial trenching, as the 
proposals have the potential to affect undesignated heritage assets.  

 
Following a further reconsultation, further comments were received which are 
summarised below: 
• Further to previous comments, no objections, subject to a condition. 

  
5.7 North Northamptonshire Council – Environmental Health (lighting) – comments 

summarised below: 
• Initially objected to the application due to the lack of information relating to the 

current and future potential impacts of light pollution from other sources. 
• The applicant should produce a lighting assessment for the site and include 

the current baseline lighting levels.  
 
Following a further reconsultation, further comments were received which are 
summarised in the report below. 

  
5.8 North Northamptonshire Council – Environmental Health (Contamination) – 

comments summarised below: 
• No objections, comments summarised within the main report, request a 

contamination condition. 
  
5.9 North Northamptonshire Council – Environmental Health (Air Quality) – comments 

summarised below: 
• No objections, comments summarised within the main report, subject to 

conditions. 
  
5.10 North Northamptonshire Council – Wildlife officer – comments summarised below: 

• Initially objected -  the biodiversity net gain metric calculations need to be 
submitted prior to determination, both for the council to review and as 
evidence for the public record. 

• A great crested newt licence will be required but the licensing route (i.e. 
standard or district) has yet to be determined and I'm satisfied that this can be 
resolved at reserved matters.  

• Stated a CEMP would be required either as a condition 
 
Following the submission of further information, the Wildlife officer has no 
objection, comments summarised below: 
• The net gain assessment demonstrates that the proposal would deliver 

approximately 25% biodiversity gain: this will need to be secured by condition 
• Suggest the soft landscaping plan condition should refer to the net gain 

assessment and recommend a Habitat Management Plan condition to ensure 
the net gain is delivered and maintained over the 30-year minimum period. 

  
5.11 North Northamptonshire Council – Housing Officer - No objections in principle, 

comments summarised within the report section below: 
• The application proposes 30% (135 dwellings) of these as affordable 

housing as required under Policy 30 of the North Northants JCS.  
• Increase in the need for 4 bed houses for rent from applicants on the 

Keyways housing register. This need is also recognised in the emerging 
Housing Economic Needs Assessment (HENA).  

Page 16



• The emerging HENA has also recommended the need for at least 10% of 
all homes to be built as accessible homes. 

• Among the affordable housing, the tenure mix should be 70 homes) for 
rent, 25% First Homes and 5% other low-cost home ownership 
(LCHO)/Intermediate housing. 

• Therefore, based on the above needs evidence and policy requirements, 
we would require the following indicative mix to be provided on this site. 

o Affordable rent 70% (94 homes) 
12 x 1 bed maisonettes 
4 x 1 x bed bungalows  
8 x 2 bed bungalows 
25 x 2 bed houses 
30 x 3 bed homes 
15 x 4 bed homes 

 
Low cost home ownership 30% (41 homes) 
First Homes (25%) (34 homes) 
14 x 2 bed houses 
20 x 3 bed houses 
 
Rent to Buy (preferred) or Shared Ownership (7 homes)  
3 x 2 bed houses 
4 x 3 bed houses 

• As previously stated, we would also expect the following:  
• One bedroom houses or maisonettes with individual entrances are required 

rather than flats with communal areas to prevent higher services charges and 
can produce management issues.  

• All properties should be built to National Space Standards. Policy 30 of JCS. 
• All affordable rented properties should be capped at the local housing 

allowance level including service charges. 
• Rent to Buy units are to be allocated to households through Keyways and the 

other LCHO properties are to be promoted in the first instance to local 
households who have indicated an interest in affordable home ownership. 

• Shared ownership homes (where provided) are to be advertised from the 
minimum share available. For homes funded through grant, this is 10% and 
for other homes this is 25%. We do not expect to see service charges on low 
cost home ownership properties. 

• Where there is affordable housing being provided for rent, 10% of those 
should meet the M4(3)b (fully wheelchair accessible) category. These can 
take the form of bungalows, ground floor flats or houses depending on overall 
mix and site constraints. 

• All Ground floor units must have level access showers (or wet rooms, where 
used to meet M4(3) accessibility requirement). Affordable bungalows must 
include a wet room to meet the accessibility needs of the likely occupants, 
which may be older persons or those with a disability. 

• We would expect there to be adequate curtilage parking for the affordable 
housing units. Tandem parking and parking courts are not encouraged. 
Private roads or designated parking areas are also not encouraged for the 
affordable housing as these can cause management issues and incur service 
charges which can affect the affordability of homes for tenants. 

• The Section 106 will require that we agree to the proposed registered 
provider. Registered Providers will also need to agree to a list of required 
standards set by North Northants Council in order to be approved.  

• Affordable housing should be blended into the scheme with no more than 15 
affordable homes in any one parcel 

• The provision of window blinds at least on the front elevations of all the 
affordable housing would be very welcome.  

Page 17



• Fully open plan living areas in family homes should be avoided. Where 
separate dining rooms are not provided, kitchen diners rather than lounge 
diners are preferred. 

• For market housing there should be a mix of 1-4 bedroom homes. However, 
we would advise against an over-emphasis on large properties which is 
contrary to Policy 30 of the JCS which places the emphasis on small and 
medium sized dwellings (1-3 bedrooms).  

• Overall, across both tenures there is a need for older person housing, which 
given this location would be best delivered as bungalows. Bungalows, both 
market and affordable, should include a proportion of wheelchair accessible 
housing and all should have level access showers.  

  
5.12 North Northamptonshire Council – Transport officer – comments summarised 

below and within report. 
 
Initially objected 
Transport Assessment. 
• The traffic flows detailed in Tables 1, 2, 4 and 6 have been compared to the 

flows reported in Appendix C and they have been calculated accurately. 
However, ATC data for Tables 3 and 6 (Bedford Road) is not included in 
Appendix C. The applicant will be required to share the missing traffic count 
data for Bedford Road. 

• The data contained in Appendix C does not correspond with the analysis 
presented in Section 3.4. The list of collisions in Appendix C includes 54 
collisions, not 44 quoted in Section 3.4 of the TA. 

• The applicant will be required to examine and plot all recorded collisions and 
examine the contributory factors for the fatal and serious collisions and 
whether any remedial measures are required. 

• While the future assessment scenarios are reasonable, we request the 
applicant to test 2022 base year scenario. Otherwise, the standalone junction 
models cannot be calibrated accurately. 

• The TA should consider the cumulative impacts of committed developments, 
which means development that is consented or allocated where there is a 
reasonable degree of certainty will proceed within the next 3 years. It is 
understood that the applicant used the NSTM outputs for this. However, the 
TA should include details of what other sites have been included in the future 
year’s scenarios.  

• Rushden East development is a concern. Although its impacts are not 
determined yet, the TA should show what assumptions have been made for it. 

• Having checked the geometry parameters against the layout provided in 
Drawing 22279-02d there are the following discrepancies: 
o The hard shoulder on should be excluded from the measurement of 
approach road half-width on Arm A (A6 North). 
o Both the TA and Drawing 22279-02d state that the site access road would 
be 6.75m wide. However, the Junctions 10 model assumes 3.75 metre 
approach road half-width. 
o The entry width of Arm C (A6 South) is overestimated. Drawing 22279-02d 
indicates two lanes at entry and hatched markings adjacent the splitter island. 
The markings should be excluded from the measurement. 
o The model assumes no pedestrians using the proposed toucan crossing. A 
reasonable number of pedestrians should be used based on the forecast 
number of pedestrian trips between Rushden and the development sites (trips 
to schools, leisure, journeys to work on foot, etc.) 

• With regards to the junction modelling of A6 / John Clark Way and Chowns 
Mill Roundabout, we disagree with this approach. The junctions were 
identified in the Scoping Note conversation that they should be assessed. As 
the number of movements is not insignificant and every little increase in flows 

Page 18



adds up, The applicant will be required to provide a standalone Junctions 10 
model / LinSig model of the junctions and geometry plans for review. 

• The Travel Plan is currently unapproved 
Access. 
• The 3-metre shared cycleway should be extended further than the rugby club 

access, to Maye Dicks Road. 
• The applicant will be required to provide plans of widening of the footway 

along the A5028 Bedford Road to upgrade it to a 3 metre shared 
footway/cycleway and clarify whether this is a part of the proposals. We also 
request the applicant to provide details of the footway adjacent to the A6 
Bedford Road shown in drawing 22279-02 Revision D. 

• The drawing includes a 2 metre footway adjacent to the eastern edge of the 
A6 to the south of the A6 /A5028 roundabout. This is labelled as a “potential 
new 2m footway to connect to existing”. The applicant should clarify whether 
the footway is a part of the proposed development and if this can be achieved. 

• The 2-metre footway to the south is an essential link, there also needs to be a 
crossing point within the new site access so pedestrians from the south can 
access the toucan crossing. 

• Once all comments regarding the access and improvements to the 
roundabout have been taken into account, the applicant will need to undertake 
a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit. The brief and auditor CVs should be sent to the 
LHA for approval prior to the commencement of the RSA1. 

• Given the number of units off a single point of access we will need a southern 
and north loop / alternative ways of getting an emergency vehicle through if 
the main carriageway was blocked. The spine road should measure 6.75m to 
enable emergency vehicles easier access. 

Internal Layout. 
• While the Internal layout does not form part of this application, please find the 

Standard Highway Layout Specification (August 2019) and NNC Adopted 
Parking Standards (September 2016) attached to be passed on to the 
applicant for more information. 

 
Following the submission of amended information, the following comments are 
summarised below 
Transport Assessment (DN/NS/22279-07b - June 2023)  

• The additional ATC data for Tables 3 and 6 (Bedford Road) of the 
Transport Assessment (July 2022) has now been provided. 

• The applicant has now provided clarification on the number of collisions 
listed in Appendix C of the Transport Assessment (July 2022). However, 
the applicant will be required to examine and plot all recorded collisions 
and examine the contributory factors for the fatal and serious collisions 
and whether any remedial measures are required and if so, what they are.  

• Please note that drawing no. 22279-02-3 as referenced on the Site Access 
Plan (Drawing no. 22279-06) does not appear to have been submitted as 
part of this consultation.  

Travel Plan (Ref: 22279-04e - October 2022)  
• Whilst the developer has reflected a 20% reduction in Table 3 this 

information hasn’t been updated in the action plan table which still only 
evidences a 10% reduction in car driver trips. At this time the Travel Plan 
remains unapproved, and we request the developer update this. Once this 
change has been made then it can be approved.  

Road Safety Audit  
• The Road Safety Audit (RSA) brief and Auditor CV’s have been reviewed 

and accepted by the Audit Team.  
• The Response Report has been reviewed by the Road Safety Audit Team 

and the designer’s response is accepted. However, before this can be 

Page 19



signed, the name on behalf of the Overseeing Organisation will need to be 
changed to Matthew Barratt, Traffic Engineering Team Leader.  

Public Transport.  
• The nearest bus stop is located 400 metres from the site access and could 

be up to double this distance from some areas of the site. The proposed 
development as whole, is further than 400 metres from public transport 
links and is not within a desirable walking distance. The current bus 
provision is more frequent than assumed within in the Transport 
Assessment and does not explain how the site will be served by buses. 
The bus stops opposite the golf course are currently not adequately 
equipped to serve an additional 450 dwellings. The applicant is required to 
propose measures to improve bus accessibility at the site.  

 
Following amended information, further comments are below: 
   
Transport Assessment (22279-07b - June 2023)  

• The access arrangements as indicated on drawing no. 22279-06 will need 
to be secured by a suitably worded condition, subject to a technical audit 
process and approval which is separate to the planning process.  

• The footway/cycleway improvements and toucan crossing as indicated on 
drawing no. 22279-02 Rev E and 22279-02-2 Rev E will need to be 
secured by a suitably worded condition, subject to a technical audit 
process and approval which is separate the planning process.  

Travel Plan (22279-04f – August 2023)  
• The latest revision of the travel plan has been reviewed, please note the 

following observations;  
o Regarding the target for sustainable travel, we would like to understand 
the rationale for the figures contained within the travel plan. We would like 
to understand how the figure for the public transport element of the trip 
generation was accounted for. How the rail and bus figures were arrived 
at. Additionally, what impact the frequency and days of operation have on 
the trip figure for buses.  

Road Safety Audit (22279-09 – May 2023  
• The Road Safety Audit (RSA) brief and Auditor CV’s have been reviewed 

and accepted by the Audit Team.  
• The Response Report has been reviewed by the Road Safety Audit Team 

and the designer’s response is accepted.  
Public Transport  

• The bus stop arrangements on the A6 would seem to be the only 
opportunity for the enhancement of the journey by bus. This would involve 
the purchase of bus shelters for inclusion in the bus shelter contract, 
(covering future revenue costs). These shelters would have RTI as part of 
the North Northamptonshire contract.  

 
S106 obligations are set out in the report below and within the proposed Heads of 
Terms. 
 
A condition was recommended for a construction management plan and an 
informative about a Public Right of Way 

  
5.13 North Northamptonshire Education – Comments summarised within the report 

below: 
No objections subject to contributions secured within the Section 106 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



  
5.14 
 

Lead Local Flood Authority – Comments summarised below: 
• No objections, comments summarised within the report below, suggested 

conditions include further surface water drainage details and drainage 
maintenance. 

  
5.15 Anglian Water – No objections, comments summarised within the report below. 

• Suggested conditions regarding surface water and foul water drainage and 
informatives.  

  
5.16 The Environment Agency – Comments summarised below: 

• No objections subject to a condition regarding foul water drainage. 
  
5.17 National Highways – No objections, comments summarised within the report below. 
  
5.18 NHS Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Group –  

• No objection subject to financial contributions secured within a Section 106, 
comments summarised within the report below: 

  
5.19 Nature Space – Comments summarised below: 

• No objections, subject to suggested conditions and the applicant applying for 
the relevant Great Crest Newt license route 

  
5.20 Natural England – Comments summarised below: 

• As submitted, the application could have potential significant effects on Upper 
Nene Valley Gravel Pits SPA and Ramsar. Natural England requires further 
information in order to determine the significance of these impacts and the 
scope for mitigation. The following information is required: 

o Appropriate mitigation strategy to inform a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan 
for the mitigation of silt, concrete and cement entering the watercourse. 
o Soil management plan for Grade 2 and 3a Best and Most Versatile 
Agricultural Land. 
 

Following the submission of further information, most of the points above have been 
resolved however Natural England have still requested a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan. – This will be addressed by officers below. 

  
5.21 Sports England – Comments summarised below. Initially object –  

• No ball strike risk assessment has been undertaken to establish if any 
mitigation would be required due to the proximity of the development to the 
adjacent golf facilities; and 

• No contributions towards indoor/outdoor sports facilities has been identified. 
• Sport England would also welcome confirmation as to whether the new rugby 

club site could be brought forward in advance of the proposed development. 
 
Following the submission of further information, Sports England has no objection, 
comments summarised below 
• Based on above and Sport England previous response no objection would be 

raised to the application subject to the following: 
• A satisfactory approach being identified securing the mitigation measures set 

out within the Ball Escape Report inclusive of details of the netting system, 
implementation timeframe; management and maintenance arrangements. 

• Off site contributions being secured towards indoor/outdoor sports facilities. 
 
Officer comment: this will be addressed in the report below 

  
Page 21



5.22 Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue and the OPFCC – 
Comments summarised below 
• No objections subject to financial contributions for Police and Fire Hydrants. 

  
5.23 Northamptonshire Police – Comments summarised below: 

• No objection to the planning application in principle.  
• Made the following initial observations/recommendations subject to the 

indicative detail supplied and based on general 'Secured by Design' principles: 
• Excessive permeability should be avoided. The balance needs to be struck 

between useful routes around and through the development, thus creating a 
pleasant environment where people feel safe and secure, and the provision of 
numerous paths duplicating each other and providing "escape routes"  

•  Pedestrian routes should, wherever possible, be well overlooked  and 
designed with good sight lines. 

• Residents parking should be in curtilage and convenient. Tandem parking 
should be avoided particularly where on street parking would cause safety 
issues or neighbour disputes as inconvenient parking facilities can lead to 
irresponsible parking and make access routes for emergency vehicles 
impossible. 

• A lighting plan should be submitted for all external unadopted communal 
areas. The overall lighting can give a low level of illumination, but the 
uniformity required is around 0.4 but a min of 0.25. 

• Boundaries of public open space should have clearly defined features to 
prevent unwanted access. 

• Any affordable Housing should be arranged in small clusters, 10-12 dwellings 
max, to help to ensure integration and community cohesion. 

• Any communal rear access alley ways should be avoided, these make 
properties more vulnerable to crime.  

• Refuge bin storage must be safe, secure and allow easy transportation. 
•  Full boundary treatment details will need to be submitted and approved by the 

LPA after prior consultation with the Police Crime Prevention Design Adviser 
and with adherence to the principles of secured by design. 

• All dwellings without garages should be supplied with cycle storage facilities. 
 
Following a further consultation, the original comments remained unchanged. 

  
5.24 Planning Casework Unit - Dept for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities 

• No comments to make on the Environmental Statement 
  
5.25 Bedford Borough Council – Comments summarised below 

• No objection, but noted the issue of Highways and separation from Rushden 
Town by the A6 

  
5.26 Campaign for Darker Skies – Comments summarised below: 

• In due course, CFDS suspects that details of the proposed lighting schemes 
for the footpaths and roadways will be submitted Under Section 38 works plus 
any Section 278 works that may be required a part of this development. 

  
5.27 National Gas 

• There are no National Gas Transmission assets affected in this area. 
  
5.28 Rushden primary School – No objection, comments summarised below: 

• Would like opportunity to discuss timescales and other matters regarding 
crossings over the A6 from the development site. 

 
Officer Comment: Officers would be happy to engage as part of any Reserved 
matters application. 

Page 22



  
5.29 Place Services (Urban Design Consultant) – No objection, but comments 

discussed in further detail within the report below 
  
5.30 British Horse Society – Objects, comments summarised below: 

• No mention of horse riding in travel plan/application, also a leisure activity 
• There are horse owners/livery yards/businesses and other horse owners 

located where plans are being considered for SUE development. 
• This development presents opportunity to create a link between bridleways 

UK17/UK7 and ‘Avenue Road’ by upgrading Footpath UK9 to a 
bridleway/multi-user route passing through the development increasing road 
safety for horse riders (also cyclists) highlighted in the Council’s latest Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan (RoWIP).  

• Horse riders already cross the A6 where it meets the Three Shires way. An 
additional potential crossing point to bridleway UK17, would be less 
hazardous as traffic slows for the roundabout reducing use of main entrance 

• Opportunity to create a circular riding route within the open green space 
• Health Impact Assessment -Equestrians ought to be included as Active Travel 

and should be considered as vulnerable road users 
• Big cities e.g. London still has riding schools and inner park areas where 

people can still ride horses.  
• Equestrian trade industry survey 2019 states the horse industry in 

Northamptonshire contributes £145million to the economy, most of which 
supports local businesses.  

• Horse riding is a healthy form of physical exercise. Horse riding is a female 
dominated sport (74%), man riders are middle aged and/or disabled or 
children and would struggle to walk long distances or cycle but can still ride  

• Many other counties such as Oxfordshire, Shropshire and Buckinghamshire 
are now also including horse riders in their transport policies and plans.  

  
5.31 The following consultees were consulted but no comments were made/received 

during the application: 
• Cadent Gas 
• RHF - Rushden And Higham Chamber Of Trade 
• British Pipeline association 
• NNC Waste Management 
• NNC (Community Development)  
• Ramblers Association 
• RSPB - Royal Society For The Protection Of Birds 
• North Northants Badger Group 
• NNC (Conservation Officer - TPO) 
• NNC (Growth Management) 
• NNC (Minerals And Waste) 
• NNC (Community Safety) 
• East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
• Western Power Distribution 
• Knotting And Souldrop Parish Council 
• Melchbourne And Yelden Parish Council 
• Newton Bromswold Parish Council 
• Chelveston Parish Council 
• Stanwick Parish Council 
• Principal Conservation Officer 
 
 
 

  
Page 23



5.32 Neighbours and Public Consultation. 
Over the course of the application determination period and the public 
consultations, 14 households have objected to the development (some multiple 
times) these are summarised below: 
• Impact on local services, NHS/educational services at capacity 
• Provision of "retail and or health facility" not enough 
• Should be provision for walkers and cyclists but also horse riders, should be 

included under the government Active Travel scheme, site adjoins an existing 
bridleway.  

• Loss of the open space area is local amenity for walkers and nature lovers, plus 
a habitat for wildlife. 

• Additional traffic will place an even greater strain on the A6 and local roads, 
especially at peak times, increasing journey times, noise, congestion, nuisance 
and pollution.  

• Localised flooding and drainage issues caused by the houses 
• Single pedestrian crossing at the end of a dangerous straight road means the 

vast majority of transport will be via car which doesn’t reduce in CO2.  
• Poor connections to existing facilities, new residents separated by the A6 
• The Travel Plan is flawed, does not mention the Rushden hopper buses, no 

provision for bus access at all on the proposed development, only bus stop is 
at the entrance. 

• It discusses Wellingborough Railway station only. Bedford railway station closer 
to this end of Rushden, this increases morning/evening traffic on the A6. 

• There is an existing footpath running across the centre of the development 
towards and across the A6; a footbridge could be provided to link with the 
existing footpath on the Rushden town side..  

• The location of this development will drive more traffic onto the A5028 to 
access amenities in town or across town to the Lakes.  

• Visual impact considering its scale and nature, be totally inappropriate.  
• Noise and sound mitigation without merit and are ineffective.  
• Woodland should not be allowed to be removed to allow this facility.    
• The site of the proposed scheme is within an area listed under Appendix 3 of 

the Ancient Monument Schedule under the Acts of 1913-1953.  
• This is a historic deer park and has great significant heritage value for Rushden.   

  
 
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations 
 
6.1  Statutory Duty 
  
 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
  
6.2  National Policy 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
  
6.3  North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2016) 
 • Policy 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  

• Policy 2 – Historic Environment  
• Policy 3 – Landscape Character  
• Policy 4 - Biodiversity & Geodiversity  
• Policy 5 - Water Environment, Resources & Flood Risk Management  
• Policy 7 - Community Services & Facilities  
• Policy 8 - North Northamptonshire Place Shaping Principles  
• Policy 9 – Sustainable Buildings  

Page 24



• Policy 10 – Provision of Infrastructure  
• Policy 11 - The Network of Urban & Rural Areas.  
• Policy 12 – Town Centres and Town Centre Uses.  
• Policy 15 – Well connected Towns, Villages and Neighbourhoods.  
• Policy 28 – Housing Requirement.  
• Policy 29 – Distribution of New Homes  
• Policy 30 – Housing Mix and Tenure (30% Affordable Housing within Growth Towns).  

  
6.4  Rushden Neighbourhood Plan (Made Version) (2018) 
 • H1 – Settlement Boundary  

• H2 – Location of new housing development  
• H4 – Market housing type and mix  
• EN1 – Design in Development  
• EN2 – Landscaping in development  
• EN5 – Funding public realm improvements  
• EN6 – Gateway sites (development proposals on the vicinity of)  
• T1 – Development generating a transport impact  
• R1 – Town Centre Uses  
• CL2 – Provision of new open space and amenity space.  
• CL7 – New Community facilities  

  
6.5 Emerging East Northamptonshire Part 2 Local Plan - Submission Draft March 2021  

• Policy EN1 – Spatial development strategy  
• Policy EN2 – Settlement boundary criteria – urban areas  
• Policy EN10: Enhancement and provision of open space  
• Policy EN11: Enhancement and provision of sport and recreation facilities  
• Policy EN12: Health and wellbeing  
• Policy EN13 - Design of Buildings/Extensions.  
• Policy EN22: Impact test thresholds for retail development.  
• Policy EN28: Land east of the A6/ Bedford Road, Rushden (allocation policy)  
• Policy EN29: Delivering wheelchair accessible housing  
• Policy EN30: Housing mix and tenure to meet local need.  
• Policy EN31: Older people's housing provision  
• Policy EN32: Self and custom build housing  

  
6.6 Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents (SPG/SPD): 
 • Trees and Landscape SPD, 2013 

• Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area SPD, 2016 
• Planning Out Crime in Northamptonshire (SPG), 2003 
• Developer Contributions SPD (2006)  
• Open Space SPD (2011)  
• North Northamptonshire Sustainable Design SPD (2009)  
• Biodiversity SPD (2016)  
• Open Space Standards and Playing Pitch Strategy by KKP Consultants  
• Domestic Waste Storage and Collection Supplementary Planning Document (2012).  
• Northamptonshire County Council Planning Obligations Framework and Guidance 

Document (2015) and S106 Technical Update Note (2021)  
 
 
 
 

  
 

Page 25



7. Evaluation 
 
7.1  Principle of Development 
  
7.1.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 

70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, require that applications for 
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This is echoed within Paragraph 
47 of the NPPF 2023. 

  
7.1.2 The development plan consists of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core 

Strategy (JSC) (adopted 2016), the saved policies of the East Northamptonshire 
District Local Plan (adopted 1996), and the Rushden Neighbourhood Plan (made 
2018). Material considerations include the National Planning Policy Framework 
2023 (NPPF) and the emerging East Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 
(Submission Plan – March 2021). 

  
7.1.3 Policy 28 of the JCS identifies a need for 8,400 homes in the district of the former  

East Northamptonshire within the Plan period (2011 – 2031). It states that Local 
Planning Authorities will work proactively with applicants to bring forward sites to 
meet these identified housing requirements in line with the spatial strategy set out 
in Policy 11. Policy 29 of the JCS states that “New housing will be 
accommodated in line with the Spatial Strategy (Table 1) with a strong focus at 
the Growth Towns as the most sustainable locations for development, followed 
by the Market Towns. 

  
7.1.4 Table 1 of the JCS identifies Rushden as a Market Town and its role is to provide 

a strong service role for the local community and the wider rural hinterland. Policy 
11 adds to this stating that “The Market Towns will provide a strong service role 
for their local communities and surrounding rural areas with growth in homes and 
jobs to support regeneration and local services, at a scale appropriate to the 
character and infrastructure of the town”.  

  
7.1.5 The proposal is for a residential led development, with supporting facilities and 

infrastructure including ‘potential’ community, retail and or health uses. The 
application site is located outside of the current built up area of the town of 
Rushden. The site is considered to be located within the countryside and 
therefore does not meet the requirements as set out in Policy 11 of the North 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2016) of which small scale infill 
development would normally be permitted within the rural area in the built up 
areas of a settlement where material harm to the character and appearance of 
the settlement would not occur.  

  
7.1.6 Policy H1 of the Rushden Neighbourhood Plan (2018) provides guidance on the 

settlement boundary of the town and states that outside of the settlement 
boundary, new housing will only be allowed on sites covered by Policy H2 (the 
site is not allocated in this policy) or within the Rushden East Sustainable Urban 
Extension, or as infill or redevelopment of sites on Bedford Road, Avenue Road 
and Newton Road where:  
i. the development closely follows the existing pattern of development (i.e. linear)  
ii. has a frontage on to the highway  
iii. Demonstrates a depth similar to adjoining residential curtilages  

  
7.1.7 Development in the open countryside is restricted to the limited and sporadic 

opportunities as provided for in other policies of the Development Plan. Policy 13 
of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2016) only allows for 
development in the open countryside where the building is of an exceptional 
quality / innovative design or where the dwelling is for a rural worker at or near 

Page 26



their place of work where a dwelling would allow the person in full time 
employment in agricultural, forestry or similar business to meet the essential 
need of the enterprise concerned. Therefore, the principle of the proposed 
development would be contrary to the current adopted policies within the 
development plan i.e. the JCS.  

  
7.1.8 However, the application site is an allocation as part of Policy EN28 of the 

proposed the East Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 following main 
modifications and additional modifications sets out the main policy requirements 
for the allocation land. 
Land to the east of the A6/Bedford Road, Rushden, is allocated for residential 
development together with associated supporting infrastructure, which should 
include a mix of ancillary retail, business or community uses to support the 
proposal. 

A design led masterplan is to be agreed by the local planning authority as part of 
the application process, which will address all relevant policy requirements. The 
key principles of the proposed development will deliver the following: 

a) It is expected that the proposed allocation will deliver around 450 
dwellings;  

b) A housing mix which includes provision for both specialist and older 
persons housing, and on-site affordable housing (meeting the target of 
30% of the total number of dwellings provided within a Growth Town); 

c) Vehicular access to be provided directly from the Bedford Road/ A6 
Bypass roundabout, with the proposals informed by a Transport 
Assessment subject to approval by the Highway Authority; 

d) To maximise opportunities to improve connectivity to, and enhance the 
quality of, the public rights of way network; in particular: 

• providing pedestrian and cycle connections to the surrounding 
urban area, and to adjacent sports and recreational facilities; 

• improving local bus connections serving the site; 

• delivering enhancements to the Rushden – Souldrop local green 
infrastructure corridor and net biodiversity gain; and 

• delivering facilities to assist the sustainability of the allocation, in 
particular by supporting the creation of a community hub to 
enhance the relocation of the sports facilities, to be located on the 
eastern edge of the site boundary. 

e) Appropriate mitigation measures, to avoid significant adverse impacts 
upon the integrity of the Upper Nene Gravel Pits Special Protection Area; 

f) Provision of a landmark feature at the main access point, adjacent to the 
A6 / Bedford Road roundabout; and 

g) Appropriate multi-functional structural landscaping to service the 
development, including sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and 
suitable features along the western boundary to provide the necessary 
mitigation for noise and air pollution arising from the A6 Bypass. 

  
7.1.9 In terms of other relevant Policies within the Part 2 Local Plan, Policy EN1 

(following main modifications) states: 
Rushden will be the focus for major development, as the designated Growth 
Town, concentrated upon the delivery of the Rushden East Sustainable Urban 
Extension (Policy EN33) and land to the east of the A6/Bedford Road  (Policy 
EN28). 

Page 27



  
7.1.10 Policy EN2 of the Part 2 Local Plan following main modifications states  

Development proposals will be generally supported where they meet the 
following  
requirements/criteria:  
(i) The site is allocated in the Local Plan or a made Neighbourhood Plan; or 
(ii) comprises infill development within a built-up area (as defined in the 
supporting text) or within a settlement boundary, where that is defined by  
a neighbourhood plan, and where the site is: 
(a) well-related to the principal built-form of the settlement (existing or  
committed) and is not protected for any other use; and 
(b) clearly distinct from the surrounding countryside, both physically and  
visually; and 
(c) bounded by existing or committed development on at least two sides,  
which should be adjoined by a highway and such that developing it  
would not extend the built form away from a highway to create a  
“backland” form of development. 
In addition, all development proposals must meet the following criteria: 
(iii) Development would not harm the settlement’s character, form, or the  
surrounding countryside, including the need to avoid comprising key  
views, heritage assets and their settings, respect the importance of open,  
greenspace areas within the built up form of the settlement and seek to  
conserve special landscape designations; and 
(iv) Development would not be disproportionate to the settlement's size, form  
and range of facilities available. 

  
7.1.11 It is a material consideration that the East Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, 

(following examination and main/additional modifications) proposes to allocate 
the land (Policy EN28) for development. Weight should be accorded to the draft 
allocation in the emerging Local Plan in accordance with the following paragraphs 
of the NPPF.  

  
7.1.12 48. Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging 

plans according to:  
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);  
b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the 
less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be 
given); and  
c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this 
Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)  

  
7.1.13 49. However, in the context of the Framework – and in particular the presumption 

in favour of sustainable development – arguments that an application is 
premature are unlikely to justify a refusal of planning permission other than in the 
limited circumstances where both:  
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would be 
so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-making process 
by predetermining decisions about the scale, location or phasing of new 
development that are central to an emerging plan; and  
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the 
development plan for the area.  

  
7.1.14 Considering the above NPPF paragraphs, the East Northamptonshire Local Plan 

Part 2 is at an advanced stage of the process prior to the adoption. The plan has 
been through examination and whilst it is not formally adopted, it has been found 
sound by the Planning Inspector. It is not considered that the development 

Page 28



proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would be so significant, that to 
grant permission would undermine the plan-making process. It should also be 
noted that this report and one of the recommendations is for a resolution to grant 
permission subject to conditions and a S106, not for an immediate determination 
of the application. 

7.1.15 It is clear from the proposed allocation that the Council wishes to see the land 
developed to deliver housing in the designated Growth Town of Rushden to meet 
the identified strategic housing needs for the former the East Northamptonshire 
area. The Plan has been through examination and there have been very few 
modifications to Policy EN28 other than minor administrative changes. The plan 
whilst not fully adopted, has been found to be sound and there are no unresolved 
objections in relation to this site. Whilst the policy does not carry full weight, it 
clearly carries substantial weight within the decision-making process. On this 
basis, the proposed development is supported by Officers in principle at the 
present time to ensure the Plan meets the minimum housing requirements as 
required within the Plan period up to 2031. Only a radical change in planning 
policy would impact this recommendation. 

  
7.1.16 Turning to the non-residential element of this proposal, Policy 7 of the JCS 

states: Development should support and enhance community services and 
facilities, where appropriate by: Providing on site where necessary or contributing 
towards accessible, new or enhanced community services and facilities to meet 
the needs arising from the development utilising, where possible, opportunities 
for the co-location of facilities or the use of existing suitable sites. 
 
Policy EN22 of the Part 2 Local Plan states: Proposals for retail development 
outside the primary shopping areas of Rushden exceeding 280m2 should be 
supported by an appropriate impact assessment. 

  
7.1.17 Currently the proposed use of the proposed commercial space has not been 

decided. In the event that a retail (Class E) planning use is proposed then a retail 
impact assessment would be required. This would be subject of a planning 
condition. It should be noted that the proposed commercial space whilst outside 
the current built up area of Rushden would not be located within the countryside if 
the whole development proposed comes forward, it would then be part of the 
future built up area of Rushden. 

  
7.2 Housing Mix 
  
7.2.1 Policy 30 - Housing Mix and Tenure: of the Joint Core Strategy states  

• Housing development should provide a mix of dwelling sizes and tenures 
to cater for current and forecast accommodation 

• The internal floor area of new dwellings must meet the National Space 
Standards as a minimum in order to provide residents with adequate 
space for basic furnishings, storage and activities. 

• New dwellings must meet Category 2 of the proposed National 
Accessibility Standards as a minimum and the local planning authority will 
negotiate for a proportion of Category 3 (wheel-chair accessible) housing 
based on evidence of local needs 

• Affordable Housing contributions for Growth Towns and Market Towns 
excluding Oundle should contribute 30% of total dwellings 

  
7.2.2 Within the Part 2 Draft Local Plan Policy EN29 – Delivering Wheelchair 

accessible Housing and Policy EN30: Housing mix and tenure to meet local 
need, details similar requirements. Policy EN31 (Older people’s housing 
provision) promotes 10% housing for older people  (supported by Policy H4 of the 
Rushden Neighbourhood Plan). 

Page 29



  
7.2.3 The application proposes 30% affordable housing as required under Policy 30 of 

the North Northants Joint Core Strategy. This would equate to 135 dwellings. The 
Council’s Housing officer has commented on the application and those comments 
are detailed within the Consultation section of this report above. The proposed 
affordable housing tenure split should be split into Affordable rent 70% (94 
homes), Low cost home ownership 30% (41 homes). Overall, the tenure mix 
should also include Shared ownership /First Homes (25%) (34 homes) however 
this will be dealt with at Reserved Matters stage. 

  
7.2.4 Given this is Outline stage only, the applicant has not provided details of housing 

mix and has instead advised that these details would be dealt with via future 
reserved matters applications. In this instance no site specific considerations or 
viability evidence have been submitted and the affordable housing offer is a 
policy compliant affordable housing provision. Therefore, whilst there are limited 
details regarding housing mix, the proposed level of affordable housing i.e. 30% 
is to be secured as part of a Section 106 agreement. 

  
 
 
 
7.3 

 
 
 
Transport 

  
7.3.1 North Northamptonshire Council is the Local Highway Authority (LHA) with 

responsibility for non-trunked highways. National Highways is the body 
responsible for the strategic road network. This application has impacts on both 
the local and strategic networks as the A45 is a trunk road. National Highways 
have raised no objection to the proposal.  
 
Paragraph 111 of the NPPF states: development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 

  
7.3.2 Policy 15 of the JCS – Well-Connected Towns, Villages and Neighbourhoods 

states that:  
“Connectivity will be strengthened within and around settlements by managing 
development and investment to:  
a) Improve access from the edge of towns to their centres by focusing activity 
and investment on the main radial routes and rebalancing design towards 
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport.  
c) Design development to give priority to sustainable means of transport, 
including measures to contribute towards meeting the modal shift targets in the 
Northamptonshire Transportation Plan”  
 
Policy T1 of the Rushden Neighbourhood plan states: Planning permission will 
only be granted if development would not result in a significant residual impact on 
any aspect of the transport network. 
Proposals will be assessed on their merits, taking account of advice from the 
Local Highway Authority and, where appropriate, Highways England. All 
proposals for new development will be encouraged to include infrastructure to 
facilitate the use of electric vehicles. Where viable, all new developments of 
greater than 10 dwellings or 1000m2 (non-residential) should incorporate 
infrastructure to facilitate the charging of electric vehicles. 

  
7.3.3 The Local Highway Authority has commented on the application, concerns 

regarding highway safety were also raised by residents within the public 
consultation. Whilst the Local Highway Authority originally objected to the 

Page 30



proposal as outlined in the consultation section above, following amendments 
and additional information, they now raise no objection to the proposal. 

  
7.3.4 The development site will be served off the A6/ Rushden Road roundabout. The 

A6 is a single carriageway each direction and subject to a national speed limit. 
The speed limit reduces to 40mph on approach to the A6/ Bedford Road 
roundabout. It routes in generally a north-south direction around Rushden 
connecting to the A45 to the north and then continuing to Bedford to the south. 
 
The A6/ Bedford Road roundabout has two lane approaches on the A6 north and 
south arms and a one lane approach on Bedford Road arm. Street lighting is 
located at the roundabout. Bedford Road to the west of the site is a single 
carriageway and subject to a 30mph speed limit. It generally routes in a north to 
south direction providing access into the town centre. The road is generally well 
lit with street lighting provided on both sides of the carriageway. The road is for 
local access only with HGVs prohibited from using the road. There is a shared 
footway/ cycleway along the eastern side of Bedford Road between the A6 and 
Barrington Road. 

  
7.3.5 Trip Rate Information Computer System (TRICS) data identifies that there will be 

an average of 241 two-way vehicle movements during the peak evening hours 
from the proposed development. The data further identifies that there will be 254 
two-way trips during the morning peak hour. The traffic generated would also be 
split between the two proposed access points. It confirms the development would 
generate modest vehicular movements during the morning and evening peak. 
Nearby junctions have been assessed and are forecast to operate within capacity 
during the morning and evening peaks. Vehicle movements would not have a 
severe impact on Highway safety. 

  
7.3.6 In terms of upgrading the Highway infrastructure to accommodate the 

development, the existing field gate on the eastern side of the roundabout would 
be improved. The arm will comprise of a 6.75m wide access road with two lane 
approach to the roundabout and a 3m footway/ cycleway on the northern side of 
the carriageway. There will be some flaring on the A6 northern and southern 
arms to increase capacity at the roundabout.  
 
A 3m footway/ cycleway will be provided on the northern side of the access road 
and around the A6/ Bedford Road roundabout and extended along the Bedford 
Road to connect into the existing footway provision on Bedford Road, which will 
in turn be improved to a footway/ cycleway within available public highway. It will 
cross the A6 via a signalised Toucan Crossing. Whilst this is an outline 
application, the parameters plan and illustrative masterplan have been updated to 
achieve an internal loop arrangement. The final design and details of the internal 
road layout will be determined at the Reserved Matters Stage. 

  
7.3.7 As stated above, the Local Highway Authority following amendments now have 

no objections to the proposal. The access arrangements as indicated on drawing 
no. 22279-06 and the footway/cycleway improvements and toucan crossing as 
indicated on drawing no. 22279-02 Rev E and 22279-02-2 Rev E within the 
Amended Transport note (submitted June 2023) are acceptable and will be 
secured by condition. The works subject to a technical audit process and 
approval which is separate to the planning process.  

  

7.3.8 The Travel Plan following amendments is considered to be acceptable and 
compliance with this document is also to be secured by condition. The Road 
Safety Audit (RSA) brief and Auditor CV’s have been reviewed and accepted by 

Page 31



the Audit Team. The Response Report has been reviewed by the Road Safety 
Audit Team and the designer’s response is accepted.  

  
7.3.9 Regarding improvements to Public Transport, the bus stop arrangements on the 

A6 are an opportunity for the enhancement of the journey by bus. This would 
involve the purchase of bus shelters for inclusion in the bus shelter contract, 
(covering future revenue costs). These shelters would have RTI as part of the 
North Northamptonshire contract. For existing bus stops located within 400 
metres the Local Highway Authority require improvements in the form of a shelter 
and raised kerbing, with a commuted sum for maintenance. In order to facilitate 
the improvements to the existing bus stops, the applicant will be required to enter 
into a Section 278 agreement. The applicant has agreed to this and would be 
secured as part of a S106 agreement.  
 
Other benefits and mitigation of the proposal would be: a one-month Megarider 
ticket for the local area, one per unit on first occupation, for a period of 6 months. 
It should be noted that there is no local bus service on Sundays. A contribution of 
£1,000 per dwelling will be required in order to provide enhancements to the 
existing service. This will also need to be secured via a Section 106 agreement.  
 
The walking routes to the bus stop should be away from the main road. A 
network of green routes should be available for walking and cycling and should 
provide access to the bus stops in a distinct manner, (not just the pavements). 
The addition of a route through the site in the event of land being developed to 
the north of the site would substantially improve the current offer. This would be 
dealt with as part of any reserved matters application. LHA officers have also 
recommended a condition for a construction management plan which is 
considered reasonable and necessary during the construction period. 

  
7.3.10 Public Right of Way 

The applicants propose to retain this Right of Way with no diversion proposed. 
Details of this will be required at the reserved matters stage. No objections have 
been raised at this stage by the Local Highway Authority with regards to the 
PROW, however an informative will be added to the decision notice.  

  
7.3.11 Overall subject to conditions and S106 contributions, the proposal is considered 

to have an acceptable impact in terms of Highway Safety. 
  
7.4 Design, layout and impact on the character of the area 

 
7.4.1 The application is submitted as an outline application with matters of appearance, 

scale and layout reserved for later consideration. However, an indicative 
masterplan layout has been submitted as part of the application as well as a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. It is important to ensure that these 
matters have the potential to be satisfactorily addressed at a later stage as it is 
not good practice to grant outline approval for something which cannot be 
brought forward at a later date. Hence, the indicative layout provided by the 
applicant has to be given some weight with regard to informing comments from 
consultees.  

  
7.4.2 Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions should 

support the creation of high quality buildings and places. Paragraph 130 states 
that “planning policies and decisions, should ensure that developments” amongst 
other things:  
• “will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development;  
• are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and effective 
landscaping; 

Page 32



• are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change…”  

  
7.4.3 For ease of reference, JCS Policy 3(a) (Landscape Character) states that 

development should:  
“conserve and, where possible, enhance the character and qualities of the local 
landscape through appropriate design and management”  

  
7.4.4 JCS Policy 8(d) (North Northamptonshire Place Shaping Principles) states that 

development should:  
“Create a distinctive local character by:  
I. Responding to the site’s immediate and wider context and local character to 
create new streets, spaces and buildings which draw on the best of that local 
character without stifling innovation;  
 
II. Responding to the local topography and the overall form, character and 
landscape setting of the settlement; and  
 
III. The creative use of the public realm through the use of measures such as 
incidental play spaces, bespoke street furniture and memorable features.”  

  
7.4.5 In addition, Neighbourhood Plan Policy EN1 (Design in Development) requires 

that all new developments be of a high quality design, and sets out further design 
criteria. Neighbourhood Plan policies also address landscaping in new 
development (Policy EN2) and the creation of safe and attractive public spaces 
(Policy EN4). 
 
Design Policies with the Part 2 Local Plan (following main modifications) are 
broadly consistent with the adopted policies above. 

  
7.4.6 Officers and the Council’s Urban Design consultants have reviewed the proposal 

and the submitted masterplan in detail. The proposed layout is generally 
considered logical in terms of bringing access off the existing A6 Bedford Road 
roundabout. Furthermore, officers considered it positive to see large areas of open 
space integrated both within the layout and at the site boundaries to provide a 
buffer and transition to the countryside. The proposed block structure is considered 
legible, spatially efficient and provides potential to create pedestrian permeability, 
definition of the street and well-overlooked open spaces. The consideration of a 
hierarchy of streets is also welcomed. 

  
7.4.7 It is noted that the existing settlement of Rushden is well contained by the A6 and 

therefore the Council’s Urban design advisors noted the A6 has the potential to 
become a barrier feature. Vehicle and pedestrian access are discussed separately 
in this report. Given the context potential future development within the area, with 
the emerging proposals for a sustainable urban extension to the north, the inclusion 
of future onward road connections in the northern part of the layout is important for 
detailed design stages. 

  
7.4.8 Furthermore, the development of the site also creates an opportunity to upgrade 

the A6 crossing point for Footpath UK9 which is proposed to be integrated within 
the layout, as the footpath is considered to provide good connectivity potential to 
encourage active travel to key destinations such as Rushden Primary Academy 
and Manor Park.  

  
7.4.9 The application includes the proposal for a community/retail and/or health facility 

this is welcome as an opportunity to provide value to the development. The 
proposed location is considered appropriate for a retail use given the ability to 

Page 33



receive external traffic from the A6, however, other uses such as a community or 
health facility would be considered more appropriate further within the site. 
Details of the proposed of the proposed community or commercial use are 
acceptable in principle at outline stage and further details about the proposed use 
would come forward at Reserved Matters stage. The Design and Access 
Statement submitted as part of the application has provided greater detail on the 
emerging proposals however these proposals would be considered following any 
outline planning permission. 

  
7.4.10 In summary, and based on the submitted plans and supporting information, the 

proposals have presented some positive indications of good design principles, 
including a detailed Design and Access Statement and an illustrative Masterplan, 
Development Framework, Parameters Plan and a Green Infrastructure plan 
which all indicate how the site could be developed. These are currently for 
indicative purposes only at this stage and will all need to be further developed 
through any detailed applications. From an urban design perspective, officers are 
satisfied the emerging outline proposals are considered appropriate subject to 
reasonable and necessary conditions for materials, landscaping outlined below.  

  
7.5 Landscaping and trees 
  
7.5.1 Within Section 5 of a submitted Environmental Statement, a Landscape and 

Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been carried out for the proposed 
development by FPCR Environment and Design Ltd (FPCR). Concerns about 
landscaping, loss of open space etc were also raised by residents within the 
public consultation. The submitted LVIA states that while the proposed 
development would inevitably result in some effects upon the local landscape and 
visual resource, few extremely localised effects will be significant in the longer 
term with the majority ultimately being mitigated to bring forward an acceptable 
residential development for Rushden with a range of amenities, including a local 
centre, recreation, and biodiversity opportunities.  
 

  
7.5.2 Existing landscape features of mature trees, scrub and hedgerows are proposed 

to be retained, as far as practicable, reinforced, and enhanced to strengthen the 
character of the site. Green Infrastructure would be implemented to include new 
perimeter landscape planting, proposing a green edge to the development and 
additional containment from the wider countryside to the north and east. Planting 
would also be introduced along green corridors within the scheme, creating 
development parcels, connected with each other as well as areas of open space 
including the large recreational areas at the heart of the development and in the 
north which encompass equipped children’s play and SuDS features.  

  
7.5.3 The retained hedgerow, drainage features and PRoW running through the site 

would form a link. New tree planting would be introduced along the primary road, 
as well as more minor roads where practicable throughout the proposed 
development, and within the public open space. Existing and new landscaping 
would help to break up the built development roofscape and soften the overall 
appearance of the new buildings, as well as increased visual and physical 
connectivity to the established site vegetation. Additionally, the proposed 
development recognises the recommendations for open space provision within 
North Northamptonshire and provides 9.94ha of Green Infrastructure. 

  
7.5.4 The proposed development would be fairly well related to the existing settlement 

edge of Rushden through its considered layout. While the scheme would change 
the character of the site, it is considered that it would not be out of context with 
the nature of the local landscape, being within an area influenced by its urban 
surroundings, most notably the edge of Rushden and the A6. No landscape 

Page 34



quality designations cover the site or lie within close proximity and there is 
minimal visibility with the Rushden Conservation Area. 

  
7.5.5 In both landscape and visual terms, the proposed development would be well 

contained by localised landform combined with layers of field boundary and 
roadside vegetation together with existing built development. The scheme will 
result in a loss of green fields and a permanent effect upon the local landscape 
and visual resource however these will be localised and therefore limited in 
extent. Being located at the edge of Rushden town, the majority of views of the 
proposed development would be in the context of the existing urban area with the 
new housing seen as part of the overall settlement.  While there will be some 
adverse residual visual effects that are assessed as being significant, the 
receptors affected are limited to users of PRoW ‘UK9’ and are extremely limited 
and localised only with the majority of available views contained to when passing 
through the site or close to its east/ west boundaries.  

  
7.5.6 Whilst this application is submitted as an outline, some key principles have been 

proposed to ensure that the development does not result in a detrimental visual 
impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area. Overall, it is 
considered that a well designed scheme could be accommodated on the site 
without resulting in a detrimental visual impact on the character and appearance 
of the surrounding area. Further detailed landscaping matters would be submitted 
as part of future reserved matters applications and conditions are recommended 
below.  

  
7.5.7 Trees 

The applicant submitted a Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
(AIA). There are no trees covered by TPOs within the Site. The survey records 
the tree cover present and assesses its arboricultural value. The report identifies 
arboricultural constraints and opportunities to inform development design. 
Conclusions are summarised below: 
• No significantly mature trees were recorded in the Site. The trees present 

were mostly young to semi-mature. They provide some limited structural 
diversity, but the trees have been identified as being of no more than Local 
importance. 

• Dense scrub dominated by bramble was present along the south western 
boundary and within the very southern corner of the Site. 

• None of the hedgerows met the criteria to be classified as ‘Important’ under 
the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 

• A large proportion of tree cover can be retained and incorporated into the 
landscaping scheme, with the trees retained subject to sound Arboricultural 
management as informed by British Standards 

New tree planting should include native and ornamental tree species. Native 
species should be specified to contribute towards net biodiversity gain 

  
7.5.8 The AIA concludes that subject to the implementation of the advice contained 

within the AIA the proposed development is acceptable from an arboricultural 
perspective. The loss of trees and hedgerow can be readily mitigated and the 
retained trees can be adequately protected during construction activities to 
sustain their health and longevity. New tree and hedgerow planting would deliver 
a net gain in tree and shrub species diversity and canopy cover at the site. An 
Arboricultural Method Statement and finalised Tree Protection Plan would be 
required. This can be secured by condition and submitted later as part of a 
reserved matters application. 

  
 
 
 

Page 35



7.6 Heritage Assets 
  
7.6.1 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires the Local Planning Authority to pay special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings and their setting. Section 72(1) of the same act 
imposes a requirement that special attention should be paid to the desirability 
that the character or appearance of the conservation area should be preserved or 
enhanced. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF 2023 states when considering the impact 
of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial 
harm to its significance. 

7.6.2 Whilst there are a number of heritage assets including Rushden Conservation 
Area and listed buildings within the town of Rushden itself, the site is located far 
enough away from the Conservation Area and Listed Buildings not to result in 
harm to its character or setting. Therefore the development has a neutral impact 
on heritage assets. The Council’s heritage officer because of this did not 
comment on the application.  

  
7.7 Open Space 
  
7.7.1 

Open 
Space 
Typology 

Accessibility 
Standards 
(Table 7) 

Level of 
Provision to 
support new 
development 
(ha per 1,000 
population) 

(Table 8) 

Land East of 
Rushden Max 
Requirement 
(1,080 – 2.4 
*450 homes) 

How Land East of 
Rushden 

Requirement Met 

Natural and 
Semi 
Natural 

1,200m 
(15min walk 
time) 

1.38ha 1.49ha 

Amenity 
Greenspace 

400m (5 min 
walk time) 0.58ha 0.63ha 

Met though:  
9.94ha on site 

provision 

Parks and 
Gardens 

1,200m 
(15min walk 
time) 

1.12ha 1.21ha None proposed 

Children 
and 
Younger 
People 

800m (10 min 
walk time) 

0.04ha 
minimum 

0.04ha 
minimum 

Met through:  
0.13ha on site 

provision: 
1 x LEAP of 
600sqm; & 

1x LEAP of 700sqm 

Allotments 
1,200m 
(15min walk 
time) 

0.38ha 0.41ha None proposed 

  
7.7.2 Whilst the final layout would be determined at Reserved Matters, the applicant 

has proposed open space in the table above. However, the submitted parameters 
plan, for which approval has been sought, includes 9.94ha of ‘Green 
Infrastructure’.  This includes proposed public open space, retained and 
proposed vegetation, hydrology and drainage features. The 9.94ha provision far 
exceeds the open space requirement for a development of this scale which is 
3.78ha. The specific typologies can be determined at reserved matters stage 
having regard to the ‘Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace’ (SANG) 
requirements, albeit the site is outside the 3km Zone of Influence of the Upper 
Nene Valley Gravel Pits PSA / Ramsar site / SSSI (discussed in the Ecology 
section below); the Council’s open space requirements at that time; and the open 

Page 36



space being proposed as part of the nearby Rushden East SUE 
development.  Any shortfalls in specific typologies would need to be considered 
in light of provision nearby and any over provision of other typologies on site. 
 

  
7.7.3 Sport England commented on the proposal. The site abuts 2 golfing facilities 

(Rushden Golf Range and John White Golf Course). The adjacent rugby club 
application site has been withdrawn as outlined above. In relation to the golfing 
facilities, initially the application provided no evidence that the indicative 
masterplan has been informed by a ball strike assessment, which would assess 
the risks from stray golf ball impacting people and property of the proposed 
development. However following additional information a Ball Strike assessment 
was submitted. 

  
7.7.4 Sport England noted that the applicant’s consultant identifies measures to 

mitigate the risk of errant balls entering the development site such as bunding 
and 6m high ball stop fencing within the applicants landownership. It is 
considered that a condition should be added that as part of any reserved matters 
application, further details of mitigation measures shall be demonstrated by the 
applicant as part of the future masterplan.  

  
7.7.5 The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 1,107 based on 

2.46 occupancy per dwellings. This additional population will generate additional 
demand for sports facilities. If this demand is not adequately met then it may 
place additional pressure on existing sports facilities, thereby creating 
deficiencies in facility provision. In accordance with the NPPF, Sport England 
seeks to ensure that the development meets any new sports facility needs arising 
as a result of the development. 

  
7.7.6 Sport England's Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) can provide an indication of 

the likely demand that will be generated by a development for certain facility 
types. The SFC indicates that a population of 1,107 in this local authority area will 
generate a demand for: 
Pools: 11.94 sqm of pool space costing £234,516 
Halls: 0.31 courts costing £212,506      
Artificial Grass Pitches: 0.03 pitches costing £32,236 for 3G or £29,320 if sand. 

  
7.7.7 In addition/separately to the above Sport England accepted that the need for this 

scale of investment would fall away if it were shown that existing sports facilities 
were of sufficient quantity and quality to be able to absorb this new growth. The 
development's need to invest in local sporting infrastructure can be met in two 
ways (or a combination of both); 
o Through the provision of sports facilities within their development; or 
o through investment to increase the capacity of the local sporting 
infrastructure. 

  
7.7.8 At present the development proposals includes a new community facility which 

could accommodate a community hall, however details of the proposed 
commercial space have not been decided and would come forward as part of a 
Reserved Matters application. However, if a sports court is not incorporated 
within the site then an offsite contribution should be secured alongside pool and 
artificial grass pitch provision to meet the increased demand. 

  
7.7.9 To consider the impact of this projected increase in demand for built sporting 

facilities, consideration needs to be given to how existing provision is currently 
used. The development will also increase the demand for playing pitches and the 
indicative masterplan displays no onsite sporting provision. As the East 

Page 37



Northamptonshire's Playing Pitch Strategy identifies existing and future shortfalls 
in football, rugby and cricket then an offsite contribution should be sought.  

  
7.7.10 However, whilst the proposal does not result in the loss of any sports facilities, 

there is a requirement for the proposal to contribute towards existing facilities 
which are viable. Rushden Town Council has been contacted to provide details of 
any additional sports facilities which would justify a contribution towards the 
improvement of them as a result of the proposal. The Town Council responded 
by stating there were some project ideas to potentially come forward in the future 
but nothing viable currently (following the withdrawal of the adjacent rugby club 
application). Therefore without specific projects for sports pitch contributions to 
go to, officers cannot reasonably request further offsite contributions for sports 
pitches beyond the contributions set out in Para 7.7.6. 

  
7.7.11 Notwithstanding this the above, Open space contributions and Sports England 

contributions for Pools and Halls and an artificial pitch to invest into existing 
facilities will be secured as part of a S106 agreement. A final layout would be 
agreed as part of a Reserved Matters application. The proposal is therefore 
considered acceptable in this regard. 

  
7.8 Residential amenity 
  
7.8.1 Officers need to be satisfied at this stage that the site is capable of 

accommodating the amount of development proposed without having a 
detrimental impact on neighbour’s amenity, and that satisfactory standards of 
internal and external living environments and outdoor areas can be provided for 
future occupiers. As discussed above it is considered the site is able to 
accommodate up to 450 residential units and a commercial/community unit. In 
terms of built development, the reserved matters application(s) will fully assess 
the impacts of matters such as overlooking, overshadowing and loss of privacy. It 
is however accepted that the quantum of development sought could be 
accommodated by the application site without significant harm to residential 
amenity, by virtue of the separation distances to neighbouring properties and 
boundary planting.  

  
7.8.2 As the site is located adjacent to the A6 and due to the scale of development 

proposed, the application is accompanied by an Air Quality (AQ) Assessment 
which has been reviewed by Environmental Health officers. The report states that  
the developer intends to provide mitigation measures in line with the guidance by 
the provision of one Electric Vehicle (EV) charging point per residential dwelling 
with dedicated parking, provision of secure cycle storage facilities, construction of 
new pedestrian routes and cycleways within the site, to link into existing local 
networks, provision of a Travel Plan to encourage sustainable modes of travel 
and discourage private combustion engine vehicle use and maintain / introduce 
green infrastructure to absorb pollutants. At the time of the report the proposed 
development's energy strategy was yet to be finalised, however it is suggested 
that it will include the use of non-emitting, Ground Source Heat Pumps (GSHPs) 
for heating and hot water generation, for approximately half of the proposed 
residential units. Given this is an outline application, it is considered reasonable 
and necessary for the above measures to be secured by condition.  

  
7.8.3 Environmental Health officers also agree with the report findings that the 

occupation of the proposed development is not anticipated to cause an overall 
significant adverse effect on local air quality. Nonetheless, the EMAQN Air Quality 
and Emissions Mitigation guidance1 requires all large classified developments to 
offset their emissions through a package of mitigation measures to commensurate 
the cost of the development's air quality related 'damages'. Emissions damage cost 
calculation, calculated using Defra's air quality appraisal toolkit  totals £126,054. 

Page 38



This is considered this is reasonable and necessary to be secured as part of a 
S106 agreement. 

  
7.8.4 It is proposed that during construction the developer will adopt the recommended 

mitigation measures as the guidance of the IAQM and GLA state in order to 
mitigate dust nuisance. Subject to the above and further measures to be 
considered at detailed design reserved matters stage there are no objections 
regarding Air Quality. 

  
7.8.5 Lighting 

Environmental Health officers have reviewed the application regarding lighting 
and initially raised concerns due to a lack of information. Rushden Golf Range is 
a source of lighting, the planning application (20/01174/FUL) consisting of four 
rugby pitches and a training pitch has been withdrawn. The Rushden Golf Range 
operates a set of floodlit bays that are facing towards the development site and 
are within 200 metres of the nearest potential receptor (as per the illustrative 
masterplan - CSA/4914/108).  

  
7.8.6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023 states;  

o (187) Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and 
community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports 
clubs). Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable 
restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after they were 
established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility 
could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes 
of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or 'agent of change') should be required to 
provide suitable mitigation before the development has been completed. 

  
7.8.7 Without assessing the impacts of the lighting from the existing driving range it 

cannot be concluded that there will not be an adverse impact on any new 
receptors within the application site. This could result in 'unreasonable 
restrictions' being placed on the driving range initially which is clearly at odds with 
the NPPF. Furthermore, at this stage it has not been clearly demonstrated that 
the proposed development can integrate effectively with the existing and 
proposed facilities. The NPPF clearly places responsibility on the applicant (or 
'agent of change') who must ensure that the development can integrate into the 
pre-existing community and associated facilities. 

  
7.8.8 Following the above, a lighting impact assessment was submitted during the 

determination period. This report assesses the impacts of the existing light from 
the driving range on potential receptors and the impacts of light from the 
application site on nearby receptors.  

  
7.8.9 Despite the information that has been presented in the above report 

Environmental Health officers still had concerns. The report acknowledges that 
‘for the properties directly opposite the golf range there will be some glare from 
the lights.’ Tree planting is the only mitigation offered. There are issues with tree 
planting that mean that it is not an effective form of mitigation. For example, the 
trees that will be planted will likely be deciduous meaning the leaves will drop 
during the winter months. The months that the report acknowledges will be the 
most problematic. It is unlikely that evergreen trees would be planted as the tree 
belt but even if they were there are issues around maintenance that would make 
this solution difficult to maintain in the long term. Monitoring locations 28 and 29 
both have lighting levels above the 5-lux pre-curfew levels contained in the ILP 
GN01/21 which shows the light from the driving range will be problematic. 
However, these levels do not factor in the impacts of dazzle and glare on the 
proposed residential receptors.  

Page 39



  
7.8.10 It should be noted that guidance from DEFRA states; ‘If… a sports club premises 

is served with an abatement notice and they’ve used the best practicable means 
to stop or reduce the light nuisance, they may be able to use this as one of the 
following: grounds for appeal against the abatement notice or a defence, if 
prosecuted for not complying with the abatement notice.’ It is, therefore, of 
significant importance to ensure that the existing light installations do not make the 
proposed location for development a living environment that would be unsuitable 
due to light pollution or obtrusive light because the defence of best practicable 
means could be used by the pre-existing golf premises. 

  
7.8.11 Furthermore, the potential for the proposed development to be adversely affected 

by obtrusive light, light pollution, dazzle and glare remains. At this stage 
Environmental Health officers are not confident that mitigation measures offered 
ensure that the existing light installations will not adversely impact the proposed 
development or that internal and external areas of the proposed dwellings would 
be supplied with a satisfactory living environment.  

  
7.8.12 However whilst it is clear that there are concerns about how the existing lighting 

will interact with the proposed development and there is still some work to be done 
on this, with the space afforded on the site this is an issue that may be dealt with 
at reserved matters stage and once an up to date masterplan is submitted. It is 
considered reasonable and necessary to add conditions below for further details 
as part of any Reserved Matters application. 

  
7.8.13 Noise 

As the site is located adjacent to the A6 road and given the scale of the 
development proposed, the application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment 
which has been reviewed by Environmental Health officers.  

  
7.8.14 With regard to 'adverse impacts' the NPPF refers to the 'Noise Policy Statement 

for England' (NPSE), which defines three categories, as follows: 
'NOEL - No Observed Effect Level 

• This is the level below which no effect can be detected. In simple terms, 
below this level, there is no detectable effect on health and quality of life 
due to the noise. 

LOAEL - Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level 
• This is the level above which adverse effects on health and quality of life 

can be detected. 
SOAEL - Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level 

• This is the level above which significant adverse effects on health and 
quality of life occur'. 

  
7.8.15 The first aim of the NPSE states that significant adverse effects on health and 

quality of life should be avoided. The second aim refers to the situation where the 
impact lies somewhere between LOAEL and SOAEL, and it requires that all 
reasonable steps are taken to mitigate and minimise the adverse effects of noise. 
However, the requirement to mitigate and minimise the adverse effects of noise 
does not mean that such adverse effects cannot occur.  

  
7.8.16 The Planning Practice Guidance provides further detail about how the effect 

levels can be recognised. It is identified that above the NOEL, noise becomes 
noticeable, however it has no adverse effect as it does not cause any change in 
behaviour or attitude. Once noise crosses the LOAEL threshold it begins to have 
an adverse effect and consideration needs to be given to mitigating and 
minimising those effects, taking account of the economic and social benefits 
being derived from the activity causing the noise. Increasing noise exposure 

Page 40



further might cause the SOAEL threshold to be crossed. If the exposure is above 
this level the planning process should be used to avoid the effect occurring by 
use of appropriate mitigation such as by altering the design and layout. 

  
7.8.17 The Noise Policy Statement for England refers to the World Health Organisation 

(WHO) when discussing noise impacts. The WHO Guidelines for Community 
Noise 1999 suggest guideline values for internal noise exposure which take into 
consideration the identified health effects and are set, based on the lowest effect 
levels for general populations. Guideline values for annoyance which relate to 
external noise exposure are set at 50 or 55 dB(A), representing day time levels 
below which a majority of the adult population will be protected from becoming 
moderately or seriously annoyed respectively. The following guideline values are 
suggested by WHO: 

• 35 dB LAeq (16 hour) during the day time in noise sensitive rooms 
• 30 dB LAeq (8 hour) during the night time in bedrooms 
• 45 dB LAmax (fast) during the night time in bedrooms 
• 50 dB LAeq (16 hour) to protect majority of population from becoming 

moderately annoyed 
• 55 dB LAeq (16 hour) to protect majority of population from becoming 

seriously annoyed 
  
7.8.18 The British Standard 8233 "Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 

buildings" 2014 bases its advice on the WHO Guidelines and draws further upon 
the guideline values with regards to internal and external noise levels. For 
internal noise, the British Standard 8233 sets out: "Where development is 
considered necessary or desirable, despite external noise levels above WHO 
guidelines, the internal target levels may be relaxed by up to 5 dB and 
reasonable internal conditions still achieved".  

  
7.8.19 With regards to external noise, the BS8233, 2014 sets out: "For traditional external 

areas that are used for amenity space such as gardens and patios, it is desirable 
that the external noise level does not exceed 50 dB LAeq, with an upper guidance 
value of 55 dB LAeq, which would be acceptable in noisier environments such as 
inner cities. However considering the site is next to a major transport route, it could 
be considered a nosier environment. It is also recognised that these guideline 
values are not achievable in all circumstances where development might be 
desirable. In higher noise areas, such as city centres or urban areas adjoining the 
strategic transport network, a compromise between elevated noise levels and other 
factors, such as the convenience of living in these locations or making efficient use 
of land resources to ensure development needs can be met, might be warranted. 
In such a situation, development should be designed to achieve the lowest 
practicable levels in these external amenity spaces, but should not be prohibited". 

  
7.8.20 When the application was submitted, concerns were raised by Environmental 

Health officers regarding Noise. An initial assessment of noise and vibration was 
submitted in support of the planning application (within Chapter 10 of the 
Environmental Statement). It was quite clear from the noise assessment and 
other documents submitted in support of this planning application that the impact 
of traffic noise, on the development, was not given due consideration at outline 
stage. In section 10.5.2 of Chapter 10 of the assessment mitigation, it stated 
'Details of the specific measures will be informed by further noise assessment 
undertaken at Reserved Matters stage, once the final layout is confirmed.'. 
However Environmental Health officers disagreed with this approach. The design 
and layout of the development should follow sound acoustic design principles as 
promoted by Pro-PG:2017 - Planning and Noise (Pro-PG), which provides 
practise guidance with respect to new residential development exposed to 
transport noise. 

Page 41



  
7.8.21 Initially the assessment of noise at occupational phase indicated those dwellings 

close to the A6 on the western boundary will be exposed to unacceptably high 
façade noise levels. Greater than 60dB(A). This was not acceptable without 
mitigation as residents would not be able to have windows open without being 
adversely impacted by traffic noise. Following the submission of further 
information and discussions with Environmental Health and the applicant’s noise 
consultants Environmental Health removed their objection from the scheme. 

  
7.8.22 Additional modelling of acoustic barriers alongside the A6 was carried out by the 

acoustic consultant based on the illustrative masterplan for the site. The 
modelling looked at the effect of varying heights of acoustic barriers at 2.5, 3 and 
4 metres high. The two barriers modelled are strategically placed alongside those 
dwellings closest to the A6. These are in the northern part of the site and a 
section approaching the roundabout with the Bedford Road. A more continuous 
barrier along the full length of the western boundary was modelled but offered no 
additional protection than the pair of barriers. Modelling was undertaken for 
ground and first floor heights. This is taken as 1.5 and 4 metres above ground 
level respectively.  

  
7.8.23 Sound level difference contour plans which demonstrate the predicted reduction in 

noise levels provided by the two barriers. To visually demonstrate the noise 
reduction provided by the barriers, compared to no barriers in place, outputs from 
the modelling have been provided showing the predicted noise levels across the 
site with the barriers in place. The conclusions of the most recent Technical Note 
state that barriers will need to be at least 4 metres in height to provide any material 
benefit at first floor level. Only a small to moderate benefit is provided at ground 
floor level from barriers of 2.5 and 3 metres in height. Therefore, the height of any 
acoustic barrier will need to be at least 4 metres depending on the final layout of 
the site. This could be an acoustic fence, bund or combination of both. With the 
installation of the acoustic barriers, in conjunction with good acoustic design, 
Environmental Health officers considered noise should not give rise to significant 
adverse impacts on health and the quality of life. 

  
7.8.24 The submitted information demonstrates that the site is capable of 

accommodating a development where external private amenity areas would be 
below the maximum 55db threshold. Environmental Health have therefore 
recommended a condition to ensure any reserved or full application shall be 
accompanied by an acoustic report completed by a competent person detailing 
mitigation measures and how the layout and design will ensure that all dwellings 
and amenity areas meet with government guidelines as determined by noise 
levels in the World Health Organisation Guidelines for Community Noise and 
British Standard 8233 including details on alternative ventilation. 

  
7.8.25 At this stage it has been identified that a mix of mitigation measures including a 

potential barrier as well as good acoustic design could be used to ensure internal 
and external noise levels meet guideline values at the site.  At the detailed design 
stage consideration will need to be given to both internal and external noise 
levels as well as overheating where the noise environment means that windows 
would need to be kept closed for suitable internal noise levels to be achieved and 
alternative ventilation required. 

  
7.8.26 Due to the size of the proposed development and the proximity of current 

residents to the site, the Environmental Health officer has recommended that 
construction times and deliveries during the construction and 
demolition/clearance phases are restricted in line with HDC guidance to the 
predominantly business hours and Saturday mornings. They have also advised 
that prior to any work commencing on site a Construction Management Plan 

Page 42



(CMP) shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) regarding mitigation measures for the control of pollution 
(including, but not limited to noise, dust and lighting etc.) during the construction 
and demolition/clearance phases. These conditions are considered reasonable 
and necessary and meet the statutory tests.  

  
7.9 Archaeology 
  
7.9.1 The Council’s Archaeology officer has commented on the proposal. The applicant 

has submitted a desk based assessment which indicates that there is potential 
for prehistoric and Roman sites to be present within the application area. Given 
the number of sites of these periods in the vicinity the Archaeology officer agrees 
with this conclusion. In particular evaluations to the north and southeast have 
identified a number of sites, and cropmarks recorded in the surrounding 
landscape suggest that more are present than are currently confirmed by 
fieldwork. 

  
7.9.2 At the time of the pre-app consultation the archaeology officer advised, that the 

applicant should commission a field evaluation using fieldwalking (if conditions are 
suitable), geophysical survey and trial trenching, as the proposals have the 
potential to affect undesignated heritage assets. The illustrative masterplan does 
show areas of open space and these can be utilised to preserve any areas of 
complex archaeological remains if necessary, but the information which an 
evaluation would provide is needed in order to discuss this along with any other 
mitigation measures which may be needed. The evaluation could provide sufficient 
information to identify if any areas of national significance were present within the 
development area that would form a constraint on development. 

  
7.9.3 However on further review of the application, it has been agreed that in light of 

the geophysics results, the evaluation trenching can be carried out by condition, 
followed by any mitigation works which may be needed. This will require a pre-
commencement condition as the trenching and mitigation will need to be carried 
out ahead of construction. Subject to this condition which meets the 6 statutory 
tests, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the aforementioned 
policies. 

  
7.10 Flood risk and Drainage 
  
7.10.1 Policy 5 of the Joint Core Strategy 2016 states:  

Development should contribute towards reducing the risk of flooding and to the  
protection and improvement of the quality of the water environment. This will be 
achieved through the following criteria:  
a) Development should, wherever possible, be avoided in high and medium flood  
risk areas through the application of a sequential approach considering all forms 
of flooding for the identification of sites and also the layout of development within 
site boundaries;  
b) Development should meet a minimum 1% (1 in 100) annual probability 
standard of flood protection with allowances for climate change unless local 
studies indicate a higher annual probability, both in relation to development and 
the measures required to reduce the impact of any additional run off generated 
by that development to demonstrate that there is no increased risk of flooding to 
existing, surrounding properties; 
c) Development should be designed from the outset to incorporate Sustainable  
Drainage Systems wherever practicable, to reduce flood risk, improve water 
quality and promote environmental benefits; 
d) Where appropriate, development should, subject to viability and feasibility, 
contribute to flood risk management in North Northamptonshire;  

Page 43



e) Following any identified mitigation, development that would lead to 
deterioration or may compromise the ability of a water body or underlying 
groundwater to meet good status standards in the Anglian River Basin 
Management Plan (required by the Water Framework Directive) is unlikely to be 
permitted; 
f) Development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
adequate and appropriate water supply and wastewater infrastructure is available 
(or will be prior to occupation). 
 

7.10.2 Drainage concerns were raised by residents within the public consultation. The 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), and Anglian Water have reviewed the 
application and offered no objections. The LLFA consider that after reviewing the 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), and in accordance with publicly available 
mapping, the proposed development is identified to be located wholly within 
Flood Zone 1 with a high risk of surface water flooding. The pluvial flood extents 
are considered to be associated with an ordinary watercourse which runs 
throughout the development Site.  

  
7.10.3 The proposed development would attenuate surface water within two basins and 

a swale before discharging to an existing ordinary watercourse which bisects the 
Site. The development has been split into two drainage catchments (north and 
south) based on the Site topography, with an estimated impermeable area of 
60% within the developable areas, including an additional 10% for urban creep. 
The applicant has provided MicroDrainage Source Control Calculations using 
FEH data to calculate the storage volumes of the attenuation basins needed for 
the northern and southern sub-catchments of the development. The calculations 
show the surface water flows to be controlled by a complex discharge control 
which reflect the greenfield (Qbar) runoff rate from the Site to provide long term 
storage for all runoff volume greater than the greenfield volume. Where the 
applicant has stated 'original' discharge rate within the report, it is assumed that 
this means the pre-development discharge rate. The northern sub-catchment 
discharges at the pre-development discharge  1 in 100 year runoff rate at 70.7l/s 
whilst the southern sub-catchment discharges at the pre-development discharge  
1 in 100 year runoff rate at 94.6l/s. It should be noted that the applicant will need 
to obtain an ordinary watercourse consent agreement with the LLFA at a later 
design stage. 

  
7.10.4 The development is underlain by Sandstone, Siltstone and Mudstone with 

superficial deposits of Diamicton. The FRA states that the potential for surface 
water to discharge via the Site from infiltration is considered to be low. The LLFA 
request that infiltration is undertaken at the next design stage in accordance with 
BRE Digest 365 design guidance to confirm the potential use of infiltration testing 
at the development Site.  

  
7.10.5 An indicative maintenance schedule for the proposed attenuation basins and swale 

on-Site has been provided within the submitted FRA. The applicant has stated that 
a private management company is expected to be used to maintain the sustainable 
drainage features on-Site with piped networks to be adopted by Anglian Water, 
subject to the detailed design phase. Evidence has been submitted which 
demonstrates that due consideration has been given to over ground surface water 
flow routes for an exceedance or system failure event. This plan should be revised 
at the detailed design stage once the masterplan has been fixed. 

  
7.10.6 Anglian Water have made a number of comments on the application regarding 

Anglian Water assets. Other comments relating to Surface Water drainage 
involve ensuring the LLFA are consulted (which is discussed above). A condition 
for foul water drainage was recommended as well as a number of informatives. 

Page 44



The Environment Agency (EA) was also consulted on the proposal and raised no 
objection subject to a foul water drainage condition. 

  
7.10.7 Subject to reasonable and necessary conditions regarding surface and foul water 

drainage recommended by LLFA the EA and Anglian Water, the proposal is in 
accordance with the aforementioned policies. 

  
7.11 Contamination 
  
7.11.1 Paragraph 183 of the NPPF is clear in that planning decisions should ensure the 

site is suitable for its proposed use taking into account ground conditions and any 
risks from contamination. Further to this any environmental report submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority should be mindful of Paragraph 183c) of the NPPF 
which seeks to ensure that site investigation information is prepared by a 
competent person.  Paragraph 184 of the NPPF stats that where a site affected 
by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing  safe 
development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

  
7.11.2 The Council’s Environmental Health officer commented on the proposal. A Phase 

I desk based study with walkover survey has been submitted in support of this 
planning application. There is no known historic land use other than agriculture 
that may pose a risk of contamination being present.  The applicant’s 
environmental consultant has noted the historic brickworks to the west, on the 
other side of the A6, however does not fully document the extent of the landfill 
site associated with this. The Council’s Environmental Health officer considers 
the landfill may extend under the A6 to a point on the boundary with the 
application area. There is a known risk of ground gas, carbon dioxide and 
methane, associated with the landfill site. 

  
7.11.3 Notwithstanding the above further investigation is recommended to be carried 

out. This includes an investigation and assessment of the risks from ground gas. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has recommended that a condition is 
imposed to secure site investigation for potential contamination and remediation 
where required. Therefore any issue of contamination can be dealt with prior to 
the commencement of development. Subject to the imposition of this condition, 
the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. 

  
7.12 Ecology 
  
7.12.1 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. This includes by 
minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by 
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 
future pressures.  

  
7.12.2 Policy 4 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the JCS states: 

A net gain in biodiversity will be sought and features of geological interest will be 
protected and enhanced through: 
• Protecting existing biodiversity and geodiversity assets 
• Enhancing ecological networks by managing development and investment 
• Supporting, through developer contributions or development design, the 

protection and recovery of priority habitats and species linked to national and 
local targets. Such measures could include the retention of, and provision of 
areas of open green space, and hard and soft landscaping to address habitat 
and visitor management. 

• Developments that are likely to have an adverse impact, either alone or in-
combination, on the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area 

Page 45



or other European Designated Sites must satisfy the requirements of the 
Habitats Regulations, determining site specific impacts and avoiding or 
mitigating against impacts where identified. Mitigation may involve providing 
or contributing towards a combination of the following measures: 
i. Access and visitor management measures within the SPA; 
ii. Improvement of existing greenspace and recreational routes; 
iii. Provision of alternative natural greenspace and recreational routes; 
iv. Monitoring of the impacts of new development on European designated 
sites to inform the necessary mitigation requirements and future refinement of 
any mitigation measures. 

 
These requirements are echoed through the Part 2 Local Plan. 

  
7.12.3 The application is accompanied by Chapter 6 of Environmental statement 

assessing Biodiversity to review the existing baseline ecology of the site and the 
impact and effects resulting from the proposed development on Land east of A6 / 
Bedford Road, Rushden. The submitted surveys are outlined within the first 
section of this report.  

  
7.12.4 The application site is within an ecologically sensitive area due to its proximity to 

the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area (SPA), SSSI, Ramsar 
site (3.3km) and its associated Local Wildlife Sites and linked habitats. It is 
therefore of vital importance that the proposal adequately assesses the potential 
effects and avoids harmful impacts. Ecological concerns were also raised by 
residents within the public consultation. 

  
7.12.5 A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) was submitted which assessed the 

potential effect on the designated features of the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits 
(UNVGP) Special Protection Area (SPA), Ramsar and Site of Special Scientific 
Interest(SSSI) as required in Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats & 
Species Regulation 2017 (the Habitat Regulations). The Local Planning Authority 
before deciding to undertake, or give any consent, permission or other 
authorisation for, a plan or project which - (a) is likely to have a significant effect 
on a European site or a European offshore marine site (either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects), and (b) is not directly connected with or 
necessary to the management of that site, must make an appropriate 
assessment of the implications for that site in view of that site’s conservation 
objectives. 

  
7.12.6 Although the proposed development is outside the 3km Zone of Influence 

included in the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, green infrastructure 
is proposed in order to provide suitable mitigation to avoid the potential impacts 
of increased recreation on the UNVGP. The provision of green infrastructure and 
natural green space is an accepted method of reducing or avoiding potential 
effects from increased recreational pressure. Where such measures are strictly 
required, it is generally accepted that the green infrastructure should be designed 
to meet the principles outlined for Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces 
(SANGs). 

  
7.12.7 Whilst the application of the full SANGs requirements is not strictly necessary for 

this site, applying the 2.50-person occupation rate for a 450-house residential 
scheme would require 9ha of accessible Green Infrastructure. This area of 
accessible Green Infrastructure can be exceeded within the site as demonstrated 
in the Parameters Plan. This would be confirmed at Reserved Matters stage. To 
maximise the benefit of the open space to minimise potential daily recreational 
use of the designated site, the Green Infrastructure package would be designed 
to provide areas of natural green space with species rich grassland, areas of 
native species woodland / scrub planting and wetland areas. A network of 

Page 46



informal footpaths would be provided through the Green Infrastructure. These 
footpaths would link to existing public rights of way (PROW) surrounding the site 
and a new northern link will allow access to the Green Infrastructure package 
provided by the Rushden East SUE. 

  
7.12.8 Impacts of the proposals upon the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits 

SPA/Ramsar/SSSI are considered and all potential impact pathways were scoped 
out with the exception of the potential for the site to provide Functionally Linked 
Land (FLL) to the designated site (i.e. whether the site provides foraging habitats 
for protected wintering bird species such as golden plover) and potential for 
recreational disturbance from increased visitor pressure on the designated sites. 
Extensive survey effort indicates that there is no evidence to suggest the site 
provides FLL. 

  
7.12.9 The development applications 20/01453/OUT and 20/01160/OUT are all in close 

proximity to the site and therefore may influence the same populations of bids, 
bats and amphibians that use the site. They are however expected to provide 
measures to mitigate for their proposed potential effects and conclude no residual 
ecological effects on species assemblages (except skylark and yellowhammer, 
as above). Therefore, no cumulative effect on other ecological receptors is 
anticipated from these applications. 

  
7.12.1
0 

Overall the proposed development would have a Negligible effect on the integrity 
of the designated sites. No other statutory or non-statutory sites of nature 
conservation interest would be affected by the proposals. The total area of green 
infrastructure based on the amended layout totals 9.94ha and its overall design is 
as previously demonstrated, so meets many requirements of Suitable Alternative 
Natural Green Spaces (SANGs) to reduce or avoid potential effects from 
increased recreational pressure on the UNVGP SPA. Whilst this site is not 
required to adhere to all the standard SANG requirements, the green 
infrastructure proposed exceeds the minimum size needed according to the 
Natural England standard calculation for SANGs and can provide viable and 
appealing alternative resources for regular / daily recreation such as dog walking, 
therefore protecting the UNVGP from additional visitor pressure. This minor 
change in the proposed green infrastructure does not alter the scheme’s ability to 
deliver >10% net biodiversity gain. 

  
7.12.1
1 

The Council’s Ecology officer was consulted on the proposal and following the 
submission of additional information raises no objections to the proposal. The 
Ecology officer agrees with the recommendations of the specialist protected 
species reports (listed above). The net gain assessment demonstrates that the 
proposal would deliver approximately 25% biodiversity gain: this will need to be 
secured by condition. The Ecology officer also suggests the soft landscaping plan 
condition should refer to the net gain assessment and recommends a Habitat 
Management Plan condition to ensure the net gain is delivered and maintained 
over the 30-year minimum period in the legislation. 

  
7.12.1
2 

Natural England have commented on the application. There were initial concerns 
that the application could have potential significant effects on Upper Nene Valley 
Gravel Pits SPA and Ramsar. Natural England requested as Soil Management 
plan for Grade 2 and 3a Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land, and a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), the former of which was 
provided and has found to be acceptable. On reconsultation with Natural England 
it was confirmed that a CEMP could be dealt with by way of a pre 
commencement condition. Subject to this, Natural England has no objection to 
the application. 

  

Page 47



7.12.1
3 

The Council’s Ecological consultant for Great Crested Newts – Nature Space has 
commented on the proposal. The Council’s Consultants agree with the provided 
ecological information and that a Licence should be obtained for this 
development. This is primarily due to the great crested newt records in the 
surrounding area as well as the waterbodies present within 500m of the site and 
within the dispersal distance of great crested newts.  

  
7.12.1
4 

From assessing the proposal and the information that has been provided the 
following options are available to the developer. In line with the guidance from 
Natural England (Great crested newts: District Level Licensing for development 
projects, Natural England, March 2021), there is a reasonable likelihood that 
great crested newts will be impacted by the development proposals and 
therefore, the applicant must obtain a licence by one of the following routes: 
• Nature Space District Licence route which is held by North Northamptonshire 

Council.  
• Natural England European Protected Species Licence route.  

  
7.12.1
5 

Subject to the conditions mentioned above, it is considered the proposal would 
have an acceptable impact on Ecology and would be in accordance with the 
aforementioned policies. 

  
7.13 Education 
  
7.13.1 The Council’s Education officer has reviewed the proposal based on the principal 

guidance in the adopted 'Creating Sustainable Communities - Planning 
Obligations Framework and Guidance Document (2015) (as amended)', which 
follows the tests of paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). Education capacity concerns were also raised by residents within the 
public consultation.  Based on an average dwelling mix, it is expected that the 
proposed development will generate a pupil yield of approximately 72 Nursery / 
Pre-school pupils, 113 Primary School pupils, 86 Secondary and Sixth Form 
pupils and 5 pupils requiring Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) 
provision, based on our current adopted pupil generation multipliers. 

  
7.13.2 Early Years Services 

North Northamptonshire Council has a statutory responsibility to provide Early 
Years services (e.g. pre-school, play-group, and/or nursery provision) for children 
aged two, three or four. The 'sufficiency of capacity' evidence base for Early 
Years provision is currently being updated and it is therefore not possible to 
determine what the current capacity is and likely impact of this development on 
demand for places. 
 
Education officers will provide an update on this position, if there is a lack of 
capacity identified for Early Years, a s106 contribution of £1,255,950 would be 
required, based on an average 3-bed dwelling mix, however it is recommended 
that any final figure is delegated to officers before any S106 is agreed and 
planning permission is granted. 

  
7.13.3 Primary Education 

The majority of primary schools operating at or above full capacity - including the 
two closest schools to the proposed development site (Rushden Primary 
Academy and South End Infants & Juniors). However a small number of schools 
in the wider Rushden area operating below their full capacity and with a greater 
proportion of surplus places available. Current forecasts produced by the 
Council's school place planning team, which consider latest birth rate and 3-year 
trend data, indicate that whilst demand in some areas is expected to remain high, 
there is expected to be a reduction overall in the number of children requiring 
primary education in the Rushden area in the short-medium term. This is 

Page 48



therefore expected to lead to a greater number of surplus places over and above 
those currently available, and it is probable that there will be sufficient capacity in 
the local area overall to meet the demand that this development would generate. 
As such, and based on current forecast data available, the Council will not 
require a S106 Contribution from the development towards provision of additional 
primary education infrastructure. 

  
7.13.4 Secondary Education 

With regards to Secondary Education, capacity across the Rushden area is 
limited, with both The Ferrers School and Rushden Academy seeing increased 
take up of places across all ages and continued high demand for places. Both 
schools are expecting to be operating at or above the Department for Education's 
recommended capacity thresholds with several year groups at or above full 
capacity, based on birth rate and three-year trend data alone. This position will be 
further exacerbated as a result of planned for housing development coming 
forward in the vicinity. 
 
A S106 contribution towards provision of additional Secondary Education 
capacity and facilities is therefore required in order to adequately mitigate the 
impact of the proposed development and to ensure that children residing in the 
properties can be accommodated in a local school. The current Department for 
Education cost multipliers for Secondary Education are: 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed 
Cost per Unit £0 £1,201 £4,563 £5,763 £10,806 
 
A S106 contribution towards Secondary Education of £2,053,350 will be 
required, based on an average dwelling mix; this figure will be reassessed once 
the mix of dwellings to be delivered on the site is confirmed through the planning 
process. 

  
7.13.5 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

The Council has seen a marked increase in the number of pupils across the area 
requiring Special Educational Needs and disabilities (SEND) facilities and 
services since 2010, with the total number of pupils with Education, Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP) increasing by 33.5% in the five years to 2021. As a result, 
SEND capacity in North Northamptonshire is extremely limited, with the area 
seeing a lack of capacity particularly across primary age ranges and an identified 
deficit in the number of places currently available. With high levels of demand for 
specialist and mainstream SEND facilities across all age ranges forecast to 
continue based on current trend and birth rate data alone, the impact of additional 
housing development is expected to exacerbate this position. As a result of this 
forecast growth in demand, the Council is progressing plans to extend and 
improve SEND facilities and services across the North Northamptonshire area, 
including at East Northamptonshire, through proposed extensions at existing 
provision whilst also exploring opportunities for delivery of new SEND facilities to 
meet the forecast demand. 
 
It will therefore be necessary for a S106 contribution to be secured from this 
development to contribute proportionately towards the cost of providing such 
additional facilities, which will serve the development. The current adopted pupil 
cost multipliers for extended SEND facilities is included below: 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed 
Cost per Unit £0 £0 £657 £657 £657 
Based on an average dwelling mix across the development, a S106 contribution 
of £342,900 will be required towards provision of additional SEND facilities and 
capacity in North Northamptonshire 

  

Page 49



7.13.6 The Council’s Education officer also commented the proposed development is 
situated on the outskirts of an existing urban area, the site is clearly separated from 
Rushden by the A6, which appears to present a substantial barrier to promoting 
safe walking routes to schools. As discussed in the transport section of this report, 
the applicant has proposed to address this by installing a signalised crossing at the 
roundabout on the A6 / Bedford Road junction, however it is expected that there 
will continue to be a reliance on private vehicular travel for pupils to attend their 
local school. Whilst this is not an ideal aspect of the proposal, this is not a reason 
to refuse the application in its own right. 

  
7.13.7 Libraries 

North Northamptonshire Council is the Library authority for the area in which the 
application site is situated. Where a new development will generate additional 
need and library space requirement, the library service requires contributions 
towards the costs of providing new, extended and/or improved library facilities to 
support the delivery of growth. This may include contributions towards maintained 
library facilities and services, as well as community-managed libraries where 
applicable. 
 
This development is expected to impact on the current level of library provision as 
the new residents moving into the developments utilise existing facilities. The 
Library service has adopted the National Library Tariff formula produced by the 
Museums Libraries and Archives Council (MLA). This includes: 
• A minimum standard of 30 sq. metres of new library space per 1,000 

Population. 
• A construction and initial equipment cost on a per sq. metre basis (adjusted to 

reflect Northamptonshire building costs), based on BCIS building costs for 
public libraries. 

  
7.13.8 In order to establish a proportionate cost towards the new works, the Library 

service utilises cost multipliers as per our adopted guidance. 
Local planning and library authorities are recommended to adopt a minimum tariff 
of £90 per person in new housing. This is adjusted for Northamptonshire to £88 
per person, based on BCIS building costs. Further information on these 
calculations can be found in the adopted Creating Sustainable Communities - 
Planning Obligations Framework and Guidance Document (2015). 
 
The following outlines the cost per dwelling type based on the expected numbers 
of residents for each type of unit: 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed 
Cost per unit £109 £176 £239 £270 
 
A Libraries Contribution of £107,550 is therefore required, to contribute towards 
the improvement, enhancement or expansion of Library facilities to serve the 
development which would be secured as part of a Section 106 agreement. 

  
7.14 Health Impact 
  
7.14.1 POLICY 10 – PROVISION OF INFRASTRUCTURE of the Joint Core Strategy 

states development must be supported by the timely delivery of infrastructure, 
services and facilities necessary to meet the needs arising from the development 
and to support the development of North Northamptonshire. 

  
7.14.2 Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Group have commented on the 

application. The CCG have confirmed there would not be sufficient capacity in the 
local primary health care system to absorb the anticipated increase in demand 
created by the proposed development. This concern was also raised by residents 
within the public consultation. Practices in the local area are already at the limit of 

Page 50



their capacity and the increase in population could push practices to the point that 
they are no longer able to accept new patients. If this were to be the case it could 
result in the population brought to the area by the new housing development 
experiencing difficulties accessing primary care health services. Therefore the 
CCG and NHSE are seeking a financial contribution towards infrastructure 
support to ensure the new population has access to good quality primary health 
care services. 

  
7.14.3 The Practice (s) in closest proximity to the proposed development is/are 

Harborough Field Surgery therefore it is reasonable to assume this/these 
Practice (s) will be most affected by the increase in population and will need to 
develop existing premises to accommodate the new growth. Based on the 
number of dwellings proposed the figure requested is £228,782.07. It is 
considered reasonable and necessary for this contribution to be secured as part 
of a Section 106 agreements. 

  
7.15 Sustainability 
  
7.15.1 Policy 9 of the JCS 2016 states:  

Development should incorporate measures to ensure high standards of resource 
and energy efficiency and reduction in carbon emissions. All residential 
development should incorporate measures to limit use to no more than 105 
litres/person/day and external water use of no more than 5 litres/person/day or 
alternative national standard applying to areas of water stress. 

  
7.15.2 As part of any reserved matters application, an Energy Statement shall 

demonstrate that the design of the scheme will take into account the need to 
minimise the use of resources. A condition is recommended to ensure water use 
is limited to that specified by JCS Policy 9. 

  
7.16 Loss of Agricultural land 
  
7.16.1 Concern has been raised about the loss of the agricultural land (Grade 2/3) on 

this site. Whilst this is a valid concern, the loss of the agricultural land is 
outweighed by the need for housing in Rushden and the positives of the 
development. As discussed within the principle section of this report, the site is 
allocated for development and this issue is not considered significant enough for 
refusal. 

  
7.17 Crime Prevention 
  
 Northamptonshire Police do not object to the principle of developing this site but 

have suggested some design guidance which should be followed when an 
application is submitted seeking approval of the reserved matters. It will be up to 
the applicant to demonstrate at that stage that crime will not be an issue 
associated with the development. Northamptonshire Police would be consulted 
again at the later stage in the planning application process, but the applicant is 
advised to address the comments of Northamptonshire Police in any future 
planning application.  

  
7.18 Waste 
  
7.18.1 Any application seeking approval of the reserved matters would need to 

demonstrate that a waste collection vehicle can travel around the site as well as 
bin collection points for shared drives. Any plans would need to identify the extent 
of the adopted highway so that a full assessment can be made. This is not a 
matter for consideration at this stage.  

  
Page 51



7.19 Fire Hydrants 
  
7.19.1 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service require the provision of fire hydrants, 

this can be secured through the Section 106 or a planning condition. 
  
7.20 Environmental Impact Assessment 
  
7.20.1 According to the Regulations and the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), 

‘Screening’ is the procedure used to determine if a proposed development is 
likely to have significant effects on the environment.  
It is for the Local Planning Authority to determine whether a development is of a 
type listed in Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The PPG sets out the 
criteria and thresholds representing ‘exclusion thresholds’ in Schedule 2 of the 
Regulations, below which an Environmental Impact Assessment does not need to 
be considered (subject to the proposal not being in a ‘sensitive area’). It also 
provides indicative criteria and thresholds to help to determine whether significant 
effects are likely.  
Under Schedule 2 the proposal is considered to comprise an Urban Development 
Project (development type 10b in the PPG Annex). Schedule 2 sets out the 
assessment criteria for these types of development as follows:  
(i) includes more than 1 hectare of urban development which is not 
dwellinghouse development; or  
 (ii) The development includes more than 150 dwellings; or  
 (iii) The overall area of the development exceeds 5 hectares.  

  
7.20.2 A formal request for an EIA Screening Opinion was submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority on the 31st March 2021 to determine whether the proposals 
were deemed to constitute ‘EIA development’ and therefore, whether an ES was 
required to be submitted as part of the planning application. Officers issued a 
formal EIA Screening Opinion on 22nd June 2021, stating that the proposals 
were deemed to constitute EIA development. 

  
7.20.3 A formal request for an EIA Scoping Opinion was submitted to officers on 7th July 

2021 to determine the matters to be assessed through the EIA and the 
information to be included in the ES. A Scoping Opinion was sent to the 
applicants on 15th September 2021. The application was submitted with an ES 
and has been amended throughout the determination period. The application has 
been advertised accordingly. 

 
8. Other Matters 
 
8.1  Concerns were raised within the Public consultation regarding a lack of mention of 

uses for equestrian riders. The final layout of the site is not determined at outline 
stage so further details could consider this issue at reserved matters stage. This 
development would also not people doing equestrian activities or attending riding 
schools. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



9. Heads of Terms 
  

9.1 The following are the agreed heads of terms to be included in the Section 106 
legal agreement which would be required should planning permission be granted. 
 
Developer Contributions  
Affordable Housing  30% of the dwellings on site to be affordable housing.  

Older Persons housing 10% of housing for older people 

Custom Build Plots  5% of the plots should be made available on site as 
serviced custom build plots.  
These serviced plots should be offered for sale for 
custom (or self) build for a minimum of 6 months, after 
which these may be released for general market 
housing as part of the consented scheme 

Open Space  A total of 9.94ha to be provided on site, including 
0.13ha on site provision: 
1 x LEAP of 600sqm; & 
1x LEAP of 700sqm for children’s play space. The S106 
Agreement would need to make provision for 
maintenance of open space, whether that be by way of 
a management company, or a financial contribution in 
the event that the open space is transferred to the Town 
Council. 

Highways • Section 278 agreement for existing bus stops 
located within 400 metres we will require 
improvements in the form of a shelter and raised 
kerbing, with a commuted sum for maintenance.  

• 4-week or one-month Megarider ticket for the local 
area, one per unit on first occupation, for a period of 
6 months. 

• A contribution of £1,000 per dwelling will be required 
in order to provide enhancements to the existing 
service – up to £450,000.  

Education Early Years  
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed 
Cost per Unit £0 £1,744 £2,791 £3,314 £2,616 
If there is a lack of capacity identified for Early Years, a 
S106 contribution of £1,255,950 would be required, 
based on an average 3-bed dwelling mix. 
 
The final Early Years education figure is to be delegated 
to officers prior to the determination of the application. 
 
Primary School 
None 
 
Secondary School 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed 
Cost per Unit £0 £1,201 £4,563 £5,763 £10,806 
 
A S106 contribution towards Secondary Education of 
£2,053,350 will be required, based on an average 
dwelling mix; this figure will be reassessed once 
the mix of dwellings to be delivered on the site is 
confirmed through the planning process. 
 

Page 53



Libraries 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed 
Cost per unit £109 £176 £239 £270 
 
A Libraries Contribution of £107,550 is therefore 
required, to contribute towards the improvement, 
enhancement or expansion of Library facilities to serve 
the development. 
 
Special Educational Need and Disabilities (SEND) 
Size of Dwelling 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5+ bed 
Cost per Unit £0 £0 £657 £657 £657 
 
Based on an average dwelling mix across the 
development, a S106 contribution of 
£342,900 will be required towards provision of 
additional SEND facilities and capacity in North 
Northamptonshire.  

Sports Contributions Pools: 11.94 sqm of pool space costing £234,516 
Halls: 0.31 courts costing £212,506      
Artificial Grass Pitches: 0.03 pitches costing £32,236 for 
3G or £29,320 if sand 

Air Quality £126,054 
Healthcare  £228,782.07 

  
 
10.  Planning Balance and Conclusion  
 
10.1.1 This proposal would result in development outside of the built-up area of the 

settlement and would conflict with Policy 11 of the North Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy (2016), Policy H1 and H2 of the Rushden Neighbourhood Plan 
(2018). However the site is allocated as part of Policy EN28 of the new Part 2 
Local Plan which is at an advanced stage of the process prior to the adoption. 
The plan has been through examination and whilst it is not formally adopted, it 
has been found sound by the Planning Inspector. It is not considered that the 
development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would be so 
significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-making process.  
 
S.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (PCPA) 2004 and the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (section 70(2)) require that, in dealing with 
planning applications, the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to 
any other material considerations.  Para. 47 of the NPPF is clear that the 
Framework can override Development Plan policies which are not consistent with 
provisions of the NPPF and this is a material consideration in the determination of 
the application.  

  
10.1.2 In terms of sustainability, regarding the social dimension, the site appears to have 

no physical constraints and is deliverable. It would also increase the supply of 
housing. There is a local and district wide identified need for both private and 
affordable housing. Whilst the Council can demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing land, the provision of market housing on the application site 
would amount to a moderate benefit in terms of providing a greater flexibility to 
the supply of housing. The benefit of 30% affordable housing weighs in favour of 
the proposal. The proposal would also generate the potential for employment 
from the 1500m2 commercial space as well as above policy compliant levels of 
open space and education, health and sports contributions. 

Page 54



  
10.1.3 In terms of the environmental dimension of sustainable development, the 

proposal offers potential for additional planting and habitat enhancements and 
would achieve a net gain through open space onsite as well as air quality 
mitigation. The application site constitutes a sustainable location for the scale of 
development proposed in respect of access to local employment opportunities, 
services and facilities within the town of Rushden. 

  
10.1.4 In terms of the economic dimension of sustainable development, the proposal 

would contribute towards economic growth, including job creation - during the 
construction phase and in the longer term through the additional population 
assisting the local economy through spending on local services/facilities. There 
will also be Council Tax receipts arising from the development. There would also 
be contributions to local transport infrastructure. The loss of this parcel of 
agricultural land is outweighed by the positive economic benefits of this 
development, in this location.  

  
10.1.5 Having fully assessed all three dimensions of sustainable development; 

economic, social and environmental within this report it is concluded that the 
development of this site will: 
- provide a supply of affordable and market housing to meet current and future 
generations; 
- have an acceptable impact on residential amenity 
- Have an acceptable impact upon highway safety 
- promote healthy, active lifestyle through green space provision;  
- maximise the available opportunities for use of public transport, walking and 
cycling; 
- minimise pollution;  
- manage flood risk and drainage effectively; 
- have no harm on archaeological interest which is also helped by the community 
benefits, particularly the provision of affordable housing;  
- have no significant adverse impacts on features of landscape or ecological 
value; 
- provide infrastructure to meet the needs generated by the development. 

 
The proposal would contribute to the economic, environmental and other social 
dimensions of sustainability. It is clear from the proposed allocation that the 
Council wishes to see the land developed to deliver housing in the designated 
Growth Town of Rushden to meet the identified strategic housing needs for the 
former the East Northamptonshire area. The plan whilst not fully adopted, has 
been found to be sound and there are no unresolved objections in relation to this 
site. Whilst the policy does not carry full weight, it clearly carries substantial 
weight within the decision-making process. On this basis, the proposed 
development is supported by Officers in principle at the present time to ensure 
the Plan meets the minimum housing requirements as required within the Plan 
period up to 2031. Overall, this is a significant material consideration and 
therefore it is recommended that permission should be granted.  

 
 
11. Recommendation 
 

a.  RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE subject to delegated officers agreeing a final Early Years Education 
contribution and the prior completion of a Section 106 obligation relating to 
affordable housing, provision of open space, highway improvements, education, 
air quality, education sports contributions and subject to conditions to include 

Page 55



those listed below with only minor alterations where necessary delegated to 
officers. 
 
In the event that the obligation referred to above has not been completed and the 
applicant is unwilling to agree to an extended period for determination, or on the 
grounds that the applicant is unwilling to complete the obligation necessary to 
make the development acceptable the development should be refused. 
 

 
12. Conditions  

 
1.  Reserved Matters details 

The first application for approval of the details of the Layout, Appearance, 
Scale and Landscaping of the site, (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") 
shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any 
development is commenced.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details 
approved. 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in 
detail and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended. 

  
2.  Reserved Matters time limit  

The first application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to 
the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date 
of this permission.  
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in 
detail and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended. 

  
3.  Implementation time limit  

The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than the expiration of 
two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.  
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in 
detail and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended.  

  
4.  Maximum units  

The residential elements of the development shall not exceed 450 units (C3 
Use Class).  
Reason: To define the scope of this planning permission.  

  
5.  Development in accordance – plans:  

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
Drawing Nos:  
• Site Location Plan CSA/4914/111 Rev A received 4th July 2022 
• Parameters Plan CSA/4914/107 Rev H received 2nd June 2023 
REASON: To accord with the terms of the application, for the avoidance of 
doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

  
6.  Commercial space 

Alongside any relevant reserved matters submission, details of the proposed 
indicative 1500m2 community / retail / and or health facility hereby permitted 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
retained as such thereafter. 

Page 56



Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To define the scope of this planning permission. 

  
7.  Building Regulations 

Alongside any relevant reserved matters submission, details of (indicatively) 
5% of affordable dwellings to be built to category M4(3)(2)(a) wheelchair 
adaptable standard and/or M4(3)(2)(b) wheelchair accessible shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
conjunction with the Housing Enabling Officer. The works shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details and such provision shall be 
maintained for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To help meet current and future needs for housing for people with 
disabilities. 

  
8.  Materials 

Alongside any relevant reserved matters submission, details of the materials 
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and grouping of 
materials. 

  
9.  Landscaping 

As part of any reserved matters, full details of: 
i. Hard landscape works, to include but not be limited to, full details of 
boundary treatments (including the position, height, design, material) to be 
erected and paved surfaces (including manufacturer, type colour and size).  
ii. Soft landscape works, to include planting plans, written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plan and grass 
establishment), schedules of plants noting species, plant sizes, proposed 
numbers and densities, tree pit details (where appropriate) including (but not 
limited to) locations, soil volume, cross sections and dimensions. 
iii. Full details of landscape maintenance regimes after completion of works.  
iv. An implementation programme for the landscape works.  
v. A timetable for the implementation have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out in 
full in accordance with the approved details. Any trees or plants planted in 
connection with the approved soft landscape details which within a period of 5 
years from planting die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased, shall be replaced in the  
next planting season with others of the same size and species as those 
originally planted. 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
appearance of the locality and to preserve and enhance nature conservation 
interests 

  
 

10.  Construction Method statement  
Prior to commencement of development a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for agreement 
in writing, after which any site clearance and construction shall be carried out 
in accordance with the agreed Construction Management Plan. The CTMP 
should include (but not be limited to):  
• Details of the proposed construction access to the site. The gate must be 

set back sufficiently to allow the largest delivery vehicle to stop clear of 
the highway.  

Page 57



• Tracking is required to demonstrate access into / out of the site and 
sufficient set back of the gates. This is to be conducted with the largest 
construction vehicle that will be accessing the site.  

• Details of routing to / from the site  
• Details of hours of operation and delivery times  
• Details of wheel washing and other measures to prevent the discharge of 

dust and other materials onto the public highway is needed. This is likely 
to include a wheel washing facility. Furthermore, road sweeping will be 
necessary if there is any debris deposited onto the highway (not just 
periods of wet weather) or notification is given from the local authorities.  

• Detailed plan showing the location of on-site stores and facilities including 
the site compound, contractor & visitor parking and turning as well as 
un/loading point, turning and queuing for HGVs.  

REASON: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety together with the 
amenity of the area. 

  
11.  Levels 

The details to be submitted for approval in writing by the local planning 
authority in accordance with condition 1 above shall include drawings 
showing the slab levels and finished floor levels of the dwellings in relation to 
the existing and proposed ground levels of the site, the ground levels of the 
surrounding land and the slab and finished floor levels of the surrounding 
properties as well as identifying the proposed ridge height levels and the ridge 
heights of all neighbouring properties. The development shall thereafter be 
constructed in accordance with the details so approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development in relation to neighbouring land and buildings and the street 
scene.  

 
 

 

12.  Tree protection 
No building operations, site preparation or the delivery of materials to the site 
shall commence until a tree protection strategy, including a tree protection 
plan and arboricultural method statement (in accordance with the BS 
5837:2012 standard), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The protection measures recommended in the 
approved tree protection strategy shall be implemented prior to the 
commencement of building operations, site preparation or delivery materials 
and remain in position until the practical completion of the 
development. REASON: To safeguard the existing trees on site 

  
13.  Archaeology 

No development shall take place until details of an implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The written scheme will include the 
following components, completion of each of which will trigger the phased 
discharging of the condition: 
(i) Approval of a Written Scheme of Investigation; 
(ii) Fieldwork in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation; 
(iii) Completion of a Post-Excavation Assessment report and approval of an 
approved 
Updated Project Design: to be submitted within six months of the completion 
of fieldwork 
(iv) Completion of analysis, preparation of site archive ready for deposition at 
a store 

Page 58



(Northamptonshire ARC) approved by the Planning Authority, production of 
an archive report, and submission of a publication report: to be completed 
within two years of the completion of fieldwork. 
Reason: to protect archaeological heritage assets. 

  
14.  Drainage 

Prior to the commencement of development, details of the surface water 
drainage scheme for the Site, based on the approved Flood Risk Assessment 
- Ref: 2100930-02B, Ardent Consulting Engineers, (May 2022) and Flood 
Risk Addendum Report – Ref 2100930-07, Ardent Consulting Engineers 
(March 2023) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall subsequently be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details before the development is completed.  
The scheme shall include: 
1. Details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, 
dimensions and so on) of all elements of the proposed surface water drainage 
system, to include pipes, inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets and attenuation 
structures (if required). 
2. Details of the drainage systems are to be accompanied by full and 
appropriately cross-referenced supporting surface water drainage 
calculations. Surface water drainage calculations should also include an 
assessment of a surcharged outfall. 
3. Cross-sections of the control chambers (including site specific levels 
mAOD) and manufacturers' hydraulic curves should be submitted for all 
vortex flow control and other flow control devices. 
4. Full details of the proposed surface water outfall location, where this 
crosses third party land details should be provided confirming the 
acceptability of this with landowner.  
5. Operation and maintenance details, including the details of the party 
responsible for the ongoing maintenance and operation of the proposed 
SuDS should be made available. 
6. Survey details confirming the level detail of the receiving watercourse 
outfall, including bank and bed level.  
REASON: To ensure satisfactory and sustainable drainage within the site. 

  
15.  Drainage Maintenance 

Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed scheme for the 
maintenance and upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage 
system proposed on the site shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Any maintenance plan that is approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority shall be carried out in full thereafter. This 
scheme shall include details of any drainage elements that will require 
replacement within the lifetime of the proposed development.  
Details are required of which organisation or body will be the main 
maintaining body where the area is multifunctional (e.g. open space play 
areas containing SuDS) with evidence that the organisation/body has agreed 
to such adoption. 
The scheme shall include:  
1. a maintenance schedule setting out which assets need to be 
maintained, at what intervals and what method is to be used. 
2. A site plan including access points, maintenance access easements 
and outfalls. 
3. Maintenance operational areas to be identified and shown on the 
plans, to ensure there is room to gain access to the asset, maintain it with 
appropriate plant and then handle any arisings generated from the site.  
4. Details of the expected design life of all assets with a schedule of 
when replacement assets may be required. 
Reason  

Page 59



To ensure that the drainage systems associated with the development will be 
adopted and maintained appropriately in perpetuity of the development, to 
reduce the potential risk of flooding due to failure of the proposed drainage 
system. 
Reason: To comply with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems, the National Planning Policy Framework 

  
16.  Drainage verification report 

No Occupation shall take place until a Verification Report for the installed 
surface water drainage system for the site based on the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment - Ref: 2100930-02B, Ardent Consulting Engineers, (May 2022) 
and Flood Risk Addendum Report – Ref 2100930-07, Ardent Consulting 
Engineers (March 2023) has been submitted in writing by a suitably qualified 
independent drainage engineer and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
The details shall include:  
a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved 
principles  
b) Any As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos  
c) Results of any Performance testing undertaken as a part of the application 
process (if required / necessary)  
d) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for 
Discharges etc.  
e) CCTV confirmation that the system is free from defects, damage and 
foreign objects.  
Reason To ensure the installed Surface Water Drainage System is 
satisfactory and in accordance with the approved reports for the development 
site.  

  
17.  Foul Water Drainage 

Prior to the construction above damp proof course, a scheme for on-site foul 
water drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate to the 
public network, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
Reason To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding 

  
18.  Contamination 

The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of a 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in 
respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the LPA. This strategy will include the following 
components, unless the LPA dispenses with any such requirements in writing: 

1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
o all previous uses 
o potential contaminants associated with those uses 
o a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 
receptors 
o potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site 

 
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a 

detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off-site. 

 
This must be conducted in accordance with the Environment Agency's 'Land 
Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)' (or any procedures revoking or 
replacing those procedures). 

Page 60



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm  
 
Agreement of remedial scheme (options appraisal) 
3.            Based on the risk assessment referred to in 2 an options appraisal 
and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. No development shall take place until the 
LPA has given its written approval of the scheme. 
 
This must be conducted in accordance with the Environment Agency's  
'Land Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)' (or any procedures revoking 
or replacing those procedures). 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm  
 
Carrying out of remedial works 
4.            Remediation of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved remedial option. No deviation shall be made from the approved 
scheme without the express written agreement of the LPA. The LPA must be 
given two weeks written notification of the date of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works. 
 
Verification 
5.            Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the 
approval in writing of the LPA 
 
Unexpected contamination 
6.            If, during development, contamination not previously identified is 
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the LPA) shall be carried out until a remediation 
strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: (common to all of the above) To ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
In accordance with Policy 11 of the NPPF and Policies 6 & 8 of the North 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 

  
19.  Hours of work 

No  construction work (including deliveries to or from the site) that causes 
noise to be audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site 
outside the hours of 0800 and 1800 Mondays to Fridays and 0800 and 1300 
on Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays unless 
otherwise agreed with the local planning authority.  
Reason: To ensure the protection of the local amenity throughout construction 
works 

  
20.  No burning 

There shall be no burning of any material during construction, demolition or 
site preparation works. 
Reason: To minimise the threat of pollution and disturbance to local amenity. 

  
Page 61



21.  Noise 
Any reserved matters application submitted pursuant to Condition 1 shall be  
accompanied by a Noise Mitigation Scheme, produced by a competent 
person, to demonstrate that the layout, design and mitigation measures 
(including any alternative means of ventilation or noise barriers) will ensure 
that noise levels do not exceed the levels set out in Table 4 of BS 8233:2014 
in habitable rooms of dwellings proposed within that reserved matters 
application. In addition to the above, the Noise Mitigation Scheme shall 
demonstrate that noise levels in bedrooms in dwellings will not exceed 45 dB 
LAmax,F more than 10 times a night. The Noise Mitigation Scheme shall also 
demonstrate that exceedances of 55 dB LAeq,16 are not predicted in private 
garden areas in accordance with World Health Organisation Guidelines for 
Community Noise and British Standard 8233. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the Noise Mitigation Scheme and no dwelling 
shall be occupied until the mitigation measures associated with that dwelling, 
as identified in the Noise Mitigation Scheme, have been installed. Any site 
wide noise mitigation measures shall thereafter be retained in perpetuity. 
Reason: To protect the amenity of future residents 

  
22.  Fire Hydrants 

No development shall take place until a scheme and timetable detailing the 
provision of fire hydrants, their associated infrastructure and timetable for 
their implementation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The fire hydrants and associated infrastructure shall 
thereafter be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and 
timetable.  
Reason: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site 
for the local fire service to tackle any property fire.  

  
23.  Habitat Management Plan 

No development shall take place on any part of the site until a Habitat 
Management Plan (HMP) for the site has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the HMP shall contain 
the following;  
  
a) Description and evaluation of the features to be managed; 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that may influence 
management; 
c) Aims, objectives of management which will (without limitation) include 
the provision biodiversity net gain within the Site; 
d) Description of the management operations necessary to achieving 
aims and objectives; 
e) Prescriptions for management actions; 
f) Preparation of a works schedule, including annual works schedule; 
g) Details of the monitoring needed to measure the effectiveness of 
management; 
h) Details of the timetable for each element of the monitoring 
programme; and 
i) Details of the persons responsible for the implementation and 
monitoring; 
j) mechanisms of adaptive management to account for necessary 
changes in work schedule to achieve the required targets; 
k) Identify reporting years with biodiversity reconciliation calculations at 
each stage. 
   
The HMP shall also include details of the management body(ies) responsible 
for its delivery. 
 

Page 62



The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the HMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. 
 
The approved HMP shall be strictly adhered to and implemented in full for its 
duration. 
Reason: To ensure the proposal would achieve a net gain in biodiversity and 
would be in accordance with Paragraph 174 of the NPPF 

  
24.  CEMP 

No development shall take place (including, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: 
Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following. 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as 
a set of method statements). 
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features. 
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 
or similarly competent person. 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
Reason: To prevent harm to wildlife mammals and protect existing 
biodiversity. 

  
25.  Ecology recommendations 

The development hereby approved shall be implemented strictly in 
accordance with the recommendations/measures stated in the supporting 
documents Appendix 6.1 – Badger Report, by FCPR May 2022, Appendix 6.2 
– Breeding Bird Survey Report by FCPR March 2022, Appendix 6.3 -Winter 
Bird/SPA Survey Report, by FCPR April 2022, Appendix 6.5: Bat Survey 
Report by FCPR October 2021, Appendix 6.6: Great Crested Newt Report, 
FPCR, August 2021), all received by the Local Planning Authority 4 July 
2022. 
Reason: To minimise the impacts of development on biodiversity, in 
accordance with Policy, paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF, Circular 
06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.”  

  
 

26.  GCN 
No works shall commence unless the local planning authority has been 
provided with a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55 
of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2019 authorising 
the specified activity/development to go ahead; or, Written confirmation from 
Natural England to the effect that they do not consider that the specified 
activity/development will require a licence. 
Reason: In the interest of protected species. 

  
Page 63



27.  Ball Strike 
As part of any Reserved Matters application, details of the mitigation to be 
provided adjacent to the existing golf range to the south of the site in order to 
prevent errant balls from entering the site; and a programme for its 
implementation and maintenance and management shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
retained as such thereafter. 
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupants 

  
28.  Sustainability 

No occupation of dwellings shall take place until details have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which demonstrate 
the following sustainability measures for the new buildings:  
a) Electric vehicle charging points (at least one per dwelling);  
b) Measures to limit water use to no more than 105 litres / person / day / and 
external water use of no more than 5 litres / person / day.  
Development shall only take place in accordance with the approved details 
and all measures shall be available for use upon first occupation of each 
respective property.  
Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to mitigate the impacts upon air 
quality in the vicinity.  

  
29.  Refuse 

Prior to any occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the 
storage and disposal of refuse/waste shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved storage and disposal of refuse/waste details 
and shall be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
REASON: To safeguard the appearance of the property and the amenities of 
the area. 

  
30.  Lighting 

Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the 
provision of a scheme for lighting the public and private areas of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with these approved details in accordance with an 
implementation plan to be agreed. Details shall include location, design, 
height and lux, uniformity level and a management and maintenance 
schedule to be retained in perpetuity.  
Reason: In the interests of amenity and crime prevention and biodiversity.  

  
31.  Screening of lights 

As part of any reserved matters application, details of mitigation measures for 
dwellings to be screened from dazzle, glare or light pollution from the means 
of illumination that originates from the neighbouring golf facility shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
retained as such thereafter. 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and reducing pollution in 
accordance with Policy 8 of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031. 

  
32.  Post completion testing 

Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, details and results of 
light testing to demonstrate that the mitigation proposed is effective in 

Page 64



preventing any dazzle, glare of light pollution on any dwellings shall be 
submitted, in writing, to the local planning authority. 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and reducing pollution in 
accordance with Policy 8 of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031. 

  
33.  Cycle Parking 

No building/dwelling/part of the development shall be occupied until cycle 
parking facilities have been provided in accordance with detailed drawings to 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, such 
drawings to show the position, design, materials and finishes thereof.  
REASON: To accord with this Council's policy to discourage the use of the 
car wherever possible. 

  
34.  Travel Plan 

The measures set out within the approved Travel Plan rev G received by the 
Local Planning Authority on 19 September 2023 shall be implemented. 
REASON: To ensure safe access to and from the site to prevent an adverse 
impact on highway safety 

  
35.  Highway details 

No development shall be commenced until full engineering, street lighting and 
constructional details of the access arrangement in accordance with drawing 
no 22279-06 within the Transport Note Rev B by DTA Transport Planning 
Consultants have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The development shall, thereafter, be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details, and the works completed prior to first 
occupation of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority. 
REASON: In the interest of highway safety; to ensure a satisfactory 
appearance to the highways infrastructure serving the approved 
development; and to safeguard the visual amenities of the locality and users 
of the highway. 

  
36.  Highway improvements 

No development shall be commenced until the footway/cycleway 
improvements and toucan crossing details as indicated on drawing no. 
22279-02 Rev E and 22279-02-2 Rev E within the Transport Note Rev B by 
DTA Transport Planning Consultants have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall, thereafter, be 
constructed in accordance with the approved details, and the works 
completed prior to first occupation of the development, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority. 
REASON: In the interest of highway safety; to ensure a satisfactory 
appearance to the highways infrastructure serving the approved 
development; and to safeguard the visual amenities of the locality and users 
of the highway. 

 
 
13. Informatives 
 
 

 
INFORMATIVE – Any Planning Permission will be accompanied by a Section 106 
Planning Agreement. 

  
1.  INFORMATIVE - The use of trees as a mitigation measure is not considered 

adequate. It is advised that the applicant considers the layout of the site as a 
means to reduce the impact of obtrusive light. For example, the orientation of 
properties and the number of windows on facades facing the sports premises. 

Page 65



This will be reflected in the indicative masterplan and should consider both 
properties that face the lights directly as well as those to the side.  

  
2.  INFORMATIVE - Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under 

S106 of the Water Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian 
Water, under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development 
Services Team 0345 606 6087. 

  
3.  INFORMATIVE - Protection of existing assets –  

A public sewer is shown on record plans within the land identified for the proposed 
development. It appears that development proposals will affect existing public 
sewers. It is recommended that the applicant contacts Anglian 
Water Development Services Team for further advice on this matter. Building over 
existing public sewers will not be permitted (without agreement) from Anglian 
Water.  

  
4.  INFORMATIVE - Building near to a public sewer - No building will be permitted 

within the statutory easement width of 3 metres from the pipeline without 
agreement from Anglian Water. Please contact Development Services Team on 
0345 606 6087.  

  
5.  INFORMATIVE: The developer should note that the site drainage details 

submitted have not been approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer 
wishes to have the sewers included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian 
Water (under Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact 
our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest opportunity. 
Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in accordance 
with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, as supplemented by Anglian 
Water's requirements. 
 

  
6.  Informative - Desktop analysis has suggested that the proposed development will 

lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding downstream. We therefore highly 
recommend that you engage with Anglian Water at your earliest convenience to 
develop in consultation with us a feasible drainage strategy. 
 
If you have not done so already, we recommend that you submit a Pre planning 
enquiry with our Pre-Development team. This can be completed online at our 
website http://www.anglianwater.co.uk/developers/pre-development.aspx Once 
submitted, we will work with you in developing a feasible mitigation solution. 

  
7.  Informative: Please ensure that the applicant is made fully aware of their 

responsibilities in respect of Public Footpath No. UK9 and Bridleway No. UK17 
both of which run in close proximity to the proposed. With respect to construction 
works to be carried out in close proximity to and using Public Rights of Way as 
access, please note the following standard requirements; o The routes must be 
kept clear, unobstructed, safe for users, and no structures or material placed on 
the right of way at all times, it is an offence to obstruct the highway under Section 
137 HA 1980.  
o There must be no interference or damage to the surface of the right of way as a 
result of the construction. Any damage to the surface of the path must be made 
good by the applicant, specifications for any repair or surfacing work must be 
approved by this office, under Section 131 HA1980.  
o If as a result of the development, the Right of Way needs to be closed, where a 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Order would become necessary. An Application 
form for such an order is available from Northamptonshire County Council 
website, a fee is payable for this service and a period of six weeks’ notice period 
is required. 

Page 66

http://www.anglianwater.co.uk/developers/pre-development.aspx


 
Any new path furniture (e.g. gates preferred over stile) needs to be approved in 
advanced with the Access development Officer, standard examples can be 
provided.  
o Please do not rely on the position of features on site for an accurate position of 
the public rights of way. This must be taken only from the Definitive Map and 
Statement 2016.  

  
 
 
 
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 69

Appendix 



This page is intentionally left blank



                                    
 
 
 
 

North Northamptonshire Planning Committee (South) 
 18 October 2023 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Site Plan 
 
Scheme of Delegation 
 
This application is brought to committee because it falls outside of the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation due to the Town Council’s recommendation being different to 
the Officer recommendation.  
 
1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions and the 

completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement by 20 October 2023 (or other 
date to be agreed. 

  
1.2 That should the Section 106 Legal Agreement not be completed by 20 

October 2023 (or other date to be agreed) that it be delegated to the Director 
of Place and Economy to REFUSE planning permission. 

 
 
 

Application 
Reference 
 

20/00745/FUL 

Case Officer Sunny Bains 
Location 
 

Land North Of Raunds Fronting Brick Kiln Road North 
Street Brooks Road And Midland Road, Raunds, 
Northamptonshire 

Development 
 

The erection of a 76-bedroom care home (C2) with 
associated amenity areas, 8 care home staff apartments, 
access road and car parking spaces 

Applicant 
 

Mr David Hicks - Country Court Care 

Agent Mr Matt Hubbard - The Planning Hub 
Ward Raunds Saxon 
Overall Expiry 
Date 

20 October 2023 

Agreed Extension 
of Time 

20 October 2023 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



2. The Proposal 
 
2.1  This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a care 

home (C2 Use) and an apartment block for staffing accommodation, as well 
as associated amenity space, access road and car parking.  

  
2.2 The care home would be sited near the front boundary of the site close to 

Brick Kiln Road whilst the apartment block would be located behind the care 
home towards the rear corner of the boundary (north-east).  

  
2.3 The care home would be two and half storeys high with accommodation in 

the roof space and amenity facilities on all three floors (including staffing and 
medical facilities). The care home would consist of seventy-six bedrooms 
with each room having its own ensuite.  

  
2.4 The apartment block would be two-storeys high and consist of eight one-

bedroom flats.  
  
2.5 Vehicular and pedestrian access to the site would be via the access road 

that adjoins Brick Kiln Road and leads to the wider Northdale Park strategic 
site. 

  
3. Site Description 
 
3.1  The application site is situated on the periphery of the built settlement of 

Raunds and is located to the north of Brick Kiln Road, within the strategic 
site known as ‘Northdale Park’  

  
3.2 Northdale Park was granted permission in 2011 for residential dwellings, 

residential care facilities, business storage and distribution, new vehicular 
and pedestrian access and associated road infrastructure, public open 
space and landscaping.  Phases of the permission are currently being 
constructed, with residential dwellings being closest to the application site.  

  
3.3 The site measures 0.7 hectares and is currently undeveloped scrubland. The 

southern boundary of the site formerly consisted of mature trees which were 
designated with a group tree preservation order (0276) but due to highway 
and flooding issues they were felled. Beyond the former belt of TPO trees 
and Brick Kiln Road, is the built-up area of Raunds.   

  
3.4 The site lies within flood zone 1 (low risk) and within 2 kilometres of the 

Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area (SPA).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 72



4. Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1  14/01082/REM – Reserved matters: For appearance, landscaping, layout 

and scale pursuant to 12/01889/VAR, pursuant to 09/01626/OUT: Outline 
application: Proposed Sustainable urban addition to Raunds comprising 
residential (Use Class C3); residential care facilities (Use Class C2); 
business (Use Class B1); storage and distribution (Use Class B8); new 
vehicular and pedestrian access and associated road infrastructure, public 
open space, landscaping (including flood alleviation measures), and 
conversion of existing buildings to provide residential (Use Class C3) and/or 
community facilities (Use Class D1) (All matters reserved except for access) 
dated 23.08.2010 – Approved – 17.10.14 

  
4.2 09/01626/OUT– Outline application: Proposed Sustainable urban addition to 

Raunds comprising residential (Use Class C3); residential care facilities 
(Use Class C2); business (Use Class B1); storage and distribution (Use 
Class B8); new vehicular and pedestrian access and associated road 
infrastructure, public open space, landscaping (including flood alleviation 
measures), and conversion of existing buildings to provide residential (Use 
Class C3) and/or community facilities (Use Class D1) (All matters reserved 
except for access) – Refused – 23.08.10. Appeal Decision Allowed 

 
5. Consultation Responses 
 

    A full copy of all comments received can be found on the Council’s website 
here 

 
5.1  Raunds Town Council 
  
 Raunds Town Council continue to recognise the potential need to provide 

additional care homes. They continue to object on the basis that the latest 
document does not appear to have fully addressed their or other consultees 
previous objections and concerns. In addition, Raunds town medical 
facilities are currently over stretched, and the homeowner may need to make 
its own provision for minor medical care. 
 
Concerns from the previous Town Council’s comments:  
 
Highways –  

• The design speed of 20mph is not accepted.  
• Parking falls below Northamptonshire Parking Standard guidelines. 
• The applicant will need to demonstrate junction visibility splays of 

2.4m x 43m in accordance with the enforceable 30mph speed limit  
• The tracking of the refuse vehicle entering, turning around and exiting 

the site is not acceptable as the body appears to swing over the 
footways. This would be a significant safety concern and needs to be 
revised. 

 
Crime – The submitted documentation does not identify what measures have 
been considered/implemented to mitigate against possible crime. 
 

Page 73

https://publicaccess.east-northamptonshire.gov.uk/online-applications/


Medical Provision – The CCG can confirm that there is not currently capacity 
in the local primary healthcare system to absorb the likely increase in 
demand. 

  
5.2  Neighbours / Responses to Publicity 
  
 Three number of letters have been received. The issues raised are 

summarised below: 
 

• No access to a public highway, the Northdale Park access is not 
currently adopted.  

• Increase in traffic would cause congestion.  
• The access into Northdale Park is substandard and is not adequate 

to accommodate for the proposal. 
• Insufficient parking spaces provided.  
• Access onto Brick Kiln Roads is poorly lit and dangerous for children.  
• The frequent flooding would be worse with the proposal.  

  
5.3  Waste Management Team 
  
 With regard to the above planning application this would be a commercial 

collection, they may not engage our services. 
 
The two bin stores indicated are not accessible as the Refuse Collection 
Vehicle should not enter the site and manoeuvre through the parking areas 
as mixing pedestrians and Refuse Trucks is not good practice. Similarly, the 
bin stores are both next to parking spaces and would require the crew to 
unnecessarily walk heavy, large euro bins over some distance. It would only 
take only one car parked to block the southern Bin access. 
 
Bin stores need to be as close to the highway as possible so they can easily 
be accessed by the crew. 

  
5.4 Archaeological Team 
  
 In August 2020 the County Archaeological Advisor commented on the 

application and stated that the site should be subject to an open area 
excavation; the land around it had at that point recently been excavated. The 
brief for the excavation was by that time already out of date and a revised 
version is therefore needed. On this basis a standard condition for 
archaeological work is recommended to secure the excavation and report. 
 
The proposed development will have a detrimental effect upon surviving sub-
surface archaeological remains. Such effects do not represent an over-riding 
constraint to development provided that adequate provision is made for the 
investigation and recording of any remains so affected. In order to secure 
this please attach a suitable condition for a programme of archaeological 
work as recommended above and in line with NPPF paragraph 205 to any 
permission granted in respect of this application. 
 
 

  

Page 74



5.5 Principal Ecological Officer 
  
 The updated ecological survey report has been reviewed and I am satisfied 

that biodiversity impacts should be minimal provided a range of 
precautionary methods of working are followed. It is note that the site is 
within a red zone for great crested newt, however in this case I would agree 
with the ecological assessment that due to the habitats on site - in particular 
given the recent construction in the surrounding area - GCNs are unlikely to 
be present. I would therefore recommend: 
 

• A suite of method statements/precautionary methods of working, as 
recommended in the Ecological Impact Assessment report, should be 
included in the site CEMP. These should address bats (including a 
method statement for soft felling trees), great crested newts, breeding 
birds and badger. In this case I do not think a dedicated CEMP for 
biodiversity is warranted, however the method statements must be 
available to those working on site. 
 

• The soft landscaping plan should be conditioned and should consider 
the recommendations made in the EcIA report. An updated 
landscaping plan has not been provided, so the original (dwg (10)004 
rev P00) is the most current proposal. It indicates widespread use of 
ash, which is specifically mentioned in the EcIA report as not suitable 
due to ash dieback disease and the inability to secure disease-free 
stock. In my view the landscaping needs a much more considered 
approach which I think would be best done through condition. 

 
• The scale of the buildings and brick construction offer the potential for 

a wide range of nesting opportunities for biodiversity enhancement. I 
would recommend that a scheme of integral bat, swift and sparrow 
bricks be conditioned; once mortared in they will not need any 
maintenance. The scheme should be designed by the applicant's 
ecologists to ensure the bricks are installed in appropriate locations. 

  
5.6 Highways  
  
 Highways has the following observations, comments and recommendations: 

 
Having looked at the information provided by the applicant and at the 
Raunds SUE, In this instance, given the quantum of development and that 
an existing bus service is to be improved to as part of the Raunds SUE we 
would not be able to justify the improvements to the nearby bus stops. 
 
As previously mentioned, and agreed by the Agent we would still seek the 
below bus ticket provision, to be secured by a Section 106 agreement. 

 
o A 4-week or one month Megarider ticket for the local area, one per 

new employee for a period of 6 months. 
 
Please note that the number of parking spaces shown is marginally below 
what is required by NNC adopted standards. However, having reviewed the 
evidence provided once more, we can in this particular instance accept the 
parking provision provided. 

Page 75



  
5.7 Natural England 
  
 The proposal is within the zone of influence of the Upper Nene Valley Gravel 

Pits Special Protection Area (SPA), and therefore is expected to contribute 
to recreational disturbance impacts to the bird populations for which the SPA 
has been notified. 
 
Mitigation for these impacts is available via a financial contribution towards 
a strategic mitigation project, set out within the Upper Nene Valley Gravel 
Pits Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document. 

  
5.8 Environmental Protection 
  
 The applicant has removed the proposed nursery from the application which 

has eliminated any potential issues of noise which were of concern to 
Environmental Protection. We have looked at the newly submitted 
information and confirm that there are no obvious environmental issues but 
should you be minded to grant the permission please add the suggested 
conditions to the permission (i.e. noise, construction work operational times, 
no burning, dust mitigation, prevention of mud onto the highway and 
lighting). 

  
5.9 Environment Agency 
  
 The Environment Agency has no objection to the proposed development, as 

submitted.  
  
5.10 Northamptonshire Police Community Safety 
  
 Subsequent to my previous email responses of 27th July 2020 & 10th May 

2021 I now submit the following recommendations/observations in order to 
ensure Secured by Design principles are implemented to an acceptable and 
risk commensurate level. Some of the issues raised may have been 
addressed but others need to be further clarified particularly now a revised 
scheme has been submitted. 
 

• Boundary Treatment: More specific detail is required on the Site Plan 
drawing to identify both site perimeter fencing and those secure areas 
within the site that warrant additional fencing to both prevent 
vulnerable residents wandering off site and unauthorised persons 
gaining access. 
 

• Could the proposed CCTV system be agreed to be condition on any 
subsequent approval to be agreed and installed prior to occupation. 
To ensure critical vulnerable areas are monitored. 

 
• There needs to be agreed a secure covered cycle store for the staff 

apartment block. In the DAS 6.6 it states a staff secure cycle store is 
provided this is not evident on the site plan. 

 

Page 76



• Door and Window Security: In addition to the specification referred to 
in the Crime Prevention Statement all doors and windows must be to 
Building Regs AD 'Q' for the accommodation block and all external 
doors to care home certified to BS PASS 24:2016, designated fire 
doors must be dual certified. External bedroom doors should like fire 
exit doors be without external furniture. 

 
• Within the DAS 6.4 it states an additional pedestrian access to the 

west of the Care Home this does not appear to be on the site plan. 
  

 
 
 

5.11 Anglian Water  
  
 ASSETS 

 
There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption 
agreement within or close to the development boundary that may affect the 
layout of the site. Anglian Water would ask that the following text be included 
within your Notice should permission be granted. 
 
Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets 
subject to an adoption agreement. 
 
Therefore, the site layout should take this into account and accommodate 
those assets within either prospectively adoptable highways or public open 
space. If this is not practicable then the sewers will need to be diverted at 
the developers cost under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in 
the case of apparatus under an adoption agreement, liaise with the owners 
of the apparatus. It should be noted that the diversion works should normally 
be completed before development can commence. 
 
WASTEWATER SERVICES 
 
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Raunds 
Water Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows 
 
Used Water Network 
This response has been based on the following submitted documents: Flood 
Risk Assessment The sewerage system at present has available capacity 
for these flows. If the developer wishes to connect to our sewerage network 
they should serve notice under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
We will then advise them of the most suitable point of connection.  
 
Surface Water Disposal 
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a sustainable 
drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as the last option. 
Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste Disposal for England 
includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with infiltration on site as the 
preferred disposal option, followed by discharge to watercourse and then 
connection to a sewer. 
 

Page 77



The surface water strategy/flood risk assessment submitted with the 
planning application relevant to Anglian Water is acceptable. We request 
that the agreed strategy is reflected in the planning approval   

  
5.12 The Lead Local Flood Authority 
  
 We would advise that there is sufficient information available to comment on 

the acceptability of the proposed surface water drainage scheme for the 
proposed development  
 
We would advise that if the suggested surface water planning conditions are 
included as set out, the impacts of surface water drainage will have been 
adequately addressed at this stage. Without these conditions, the proposed 
development on this site may pose an unacceptable risk of surface water 
flooding. 

  
5.13 Nene Clinical Commissioning Group / NHS England 
  
 The CCG can confirm there will not be sufficient capacity in the local primary 

healthcare system to absorb the anticipated increase in demand created by 
the proposed development for the creation of 76 bedroom care home at Land 
North of Raunds Fronting Brick Kiln North Street Brooks Road and Midland 
Road, Raunds, Northamptonshire. Practices in the local area are already at 
the limit of their capacity and the increase in population could push practices 
to the point that they are no longer able to accept new patients. If this were 
to be the case it could result in the population brought to the area by the new 
housing development experiencing difficulties accessing primary care health 
services. Therefore, the CCG and NHSE & I are seeking a financial 
contribution towards infrastructure support to ensure the new population has 
access to good quality primary health care services. 
 
Financial Contribution requested £15,900.72 

  
5.14 Northamptonshire Key Services 
  
 I am responding on behalf of Northamptonshire County Council key services 

(Broadband) and on behalf of Northamptonshire Fire & Rescue Service 
(NFRS) on which this development would have an impact. Other County 
Council service areas may respond separately. 
 
This response follows the principal guidance in the County Council's adopted 
Planning Obligations Framework and Guidance Document (2015), which 
follows the tests of paragraph 56 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) and is therefore relevant to this planning application. 
 
From the information received regarding this application, it is understood that 
the development would comprise construction a 76-bed care home (C2), and 
8 care homes staff apartments. It is expected that the development will 
provide gross new internal floorspace totalling 4,945sqm. 
 
These figures have been used to guide this response. 
Fire Hydrants & Sprinklers New developments and associated infrastructure 
within Northamptonshire equates to an increase in visitors as well as traffic 

Page 78



movements. This will inevitably lead to an increase in the spread of fire risk, 
which places additional demands on Fire and Rescue Service resources to 
ensure safe places are maintained, consistent with national Government 
expectations and guidance. 
 
Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service sets out its criteria for 
responding to incidents within its Standards of Operational Response 
(SOR). The standards outline how the Service will respond to different 
incident types which fall within its statutory responsibilities under the Fire 
and Rescue Services Act 2004. 
 
New developments generate a requirement for additional fire hydrants and 
sprinkler systems in order for fires, should they occur, to be managed. 
 
An assessment of the site will need to be undertaken by the Water Officer of 
Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service in order to establish the precise 
requirement. It is expected however that this development may require a 
minimum of 2x fire hydrants to be provided and installed. The capital cost of 
each hydrant (including its installation) is £892 per hydrant, the cost of which 
is expected to be met by the developer in full (Totalling £1,784). 
 
Any hydrants and/or sprinkler systems, if required, should be installed at the 
same time as the rest of the water infrastructure and prior to any 
dwellings/commercial building being occupied. This is to ensure adequate 
water infrastructure provision is made on site for the fire service to tackle any 
property fire. 
 
The final location of any fire hydrants and/or sprinkler systems for the new 
development must be agreed in consultation with the Northamptonshire Fire 
and Rescue Service Water Officer prior to installation and secured through 
a planning condition. 
 
Informative: With reference to Condition above, the developer will be 
expected to meet the full costs of supplying and installing the fire hydrant, 
sprinkler system and associated infrastructure. 
 
Broadband 
 
The vision for the county to be at the leading edge of the global digital 
economy. To meet this challenge, we've set an ambitious target of 40% full 
fibre connectivity across the county by December 2023. To deliver on this, it 
is essential that new developments (both housing and commercial) are 
served by high quality full fibre networks. Access to the speeds, 1 gbps or 
faster, delivered by this technology will bring a multitude of opportunities, 
savings and benefits. It also adds value to the development and is a major 
selling point for potential residents and occupiers. 
 
In order for the commercial communications market to be able to deploy to 
these new build areas, measures must be introduced at the earliest 
opportunity. This will provide the required specification to enable full fibre 
connectivity for all new developments. To help developers, some fibre based 
broadband network providers such as Openreach and Virgin Media have 
dedicated online portals which provide assessment tools and technical help. 

Page 79



There are also a variety of other suppliers operating in the area such as: 
Gigaclear, CityFibre and Glide.  

  
5.15 Senior Tree and Landscape Officer  
  
 I’m happy with the revisions and the updated tree information which now 

matches the adjacent application. The trees at the front of Brick Kiln Road 
have already been removed under NE/22/00223/CND, so there is no need 
for tree protection or any other tree works conditions. This should result in a 
decent scheme when matured into an attractive and interesting landscape 
and gardens for residents, visitors and passers-by to enjoy.  
 
We just need to cover this with condition for landscaping. 

  
5.16 Comments not received from the following consultees:  

 
• Ramblers Association 
• Tourist Development Officer 
• Commissioning and Performance Team 
• Cadent Gas 
• Senior Economic Development Officer 
• Western Power Distribution 
• Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service 
• Housing Strategy Team 
• Community Development Officer 

 
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations 
 
6.1  Statutory Duty 
 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.   

  
6.2  National Policy 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 National Design Guide (NDG) (2019) 
  
6.3  North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2016) 
 Policy 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

Policy 2 - Historic Environment 
Policy 3 - Landscape Character 
Policy 4 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy 5 - Water Environment, Resources and Flood Risk Management 
Policy 6 - Development on Brownfield Land and Land Affected by 
Contamination 
Policy 7 - Community Services and Facilities 
Policy 8 - North Northamptonshire Place Shaping Principles 
Policy 9 - Sustainable Buildings and Allowable Solutions 
Policy 10 - Provision of Infrastructure 
Policy 11 - The Network of Urban and Rural Areas 
Policy 15 - Well Connected Towns, Villages and Neighbourhoods 

Page 80



Policy 16 - Connecting the Network of Settlements 
Policy 17 - North Northamptonshire’s Strategic Connections 
Policy 19 - The Delivery of Green Infrastructure 
Policy 22 - Delivering Economic Prosperity 
Policy 23 - Distribution of New Jobs  

  
6.4  East Northamptonshire District Local Plan (1996) 
 None applicable. 
  
6.5  Raunds Neighbourhood Plan (RNP) (2017) 
 Policy R1 – Ensuring an Appropriate Range of Sizes and Types of Houses 

Policy R2 – Promoting Good Design 
Policy R3 – Flexibility and Adaptability in New Housing Design 
Policy R4 – Car Parking in New Housing Development 
Policy R8 – Protecting Existing Community and Recreational Facilities and 
Buildings 
Policy R10 – Traffic and Transport in Raunds 
Policy R14 – Supporting New Employment Development 
Policy R16 – Built and Natural Environment  
Policy R17 – Greening the Town 
Policy R19 – Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area (SPA) 
Policy R20 – Movement and Connectivity 

  
6.6 East Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2) 
 Policy EN1 – Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy EN2 – Settlement Boundary Criteria (Urban Areas) 
Policy EN12 – Health and Wellbeing   
Policy EN13 – Design of Buildings / Extensions 
Policy EN14 – Designated Heritage Assets 
Policy EN15 – Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
Policy EN30 – Housing Mix and Tenure to Meet Local Need 
Policy EN31 – Older People’s Housing Provision 

  
6.7 Other Relevant Documents 
 Northamptonshire County Council - Local Highway Authority Standing 

Advice for Local Planning Authorities (2016) 
Northamptonshire County Council - Local Highway Authority Parking 
Standards (2016) 
Northamptonshire Country Council – Planning Out Crime Supplementary 
Planning Document (2003) 
Joint Planning Unit – Design Supplementary Planning Document (2009) 
East Northamptonshire Council - Domestic Waste Storage and Collection 
Supplementary Planning Document (2012) 
East Northamptonshire Council - Trees and Landscape Supplementary 
Planning Document (2013) 
Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Document (2016) 
East Northamptonshire Council - Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection 
Area Supplementary Planning Document (2016) 
 
 
 
 

 
Page 81



7. Evaluation 
 

    The key issues for consideration are: 
• Principle of Development 
• Character, Layout and Appearance 
• Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
• Highway Matters 
• Environmental Matters 
• Flood Risk and Drainage 
• Natural Environment 
• Archaeology 
• Waste Management 
• Planning Obligations 

 
 

7.1  Principle of Development 
  
7.1.1  The principal of development has been established and is acceptable via 

the extant planning permission 09/01626/OUT and 14/01082/REM. 
  
7.2  Character, Layout and Appearance 
  
7.2.1 The outline application (09/01626/OUT) introduced the notion of a care 

home development with ancillary staffing accommodation on the strategic 
allocation site (Northdale Park). The masterplan accompanying the outline 
application (below) indicatively illustrated the care home and staffing 
accommodation near Brick Kiln Road.  
     

Page 82



 

 
 

  
7.2.2 Subsequent to the outline permission, the masterplan fed into the ‘design 

code document’ that accompanied the reserved matters application 
(14/01082/REM) and set the siting (as well as design parameters) of the 
proposed development on the application site.  

  
7.2.3 It is noted from the Case Officer’s report for the reserved matters application 

(14/01082/REM) that: 
 

‘The design of the care home is subject to further detailed 
consideration as the developer does not have an end user’  

  
7.2.4 The aim of the design code document is therefore not to be a prescriptive 

document that sets out the full details of what the proposed development 
should adhere to but provides flexibility of what the proposed development 
could achieve onsite within the set paraments, ensuring that the premise of 
the development is delivered without hindering the functionality and usability 
of the end user.    

  
7.2.5 The design code, steered by the outline permission, indicates the care home 

to comprise of 68-beds with 19 staffing apartments and parking for 19 
Page 83



vehicles. The illustration (below) within the design code shows a centralised 
courtyard layout with some parking spaces within the courtyard and the rest 
on the northern perimeter of the site. The indicative building south of the 
site, facing Brick Kiln Road, being the care home and the building north of 
the site, facing into the strategic site, being the staffing accommodation.  

 

 
  
7.2.6 A number of key attributes can be derived from the design code for the 

proposed development, as follows: 
 

• Positively address the junction of Brick Kiln Road / North Street, with 
a prominent 3 storey landmark corner (indicated blue on the above 
plan) framing the view to Northdale Common and acting as a gateway 
to the site.  
 

• Spaces helping to form a welcoming and landscaped entrance to the 
care home. 
 

• Accessible pedestrian access to the care home. 
 

• A typically maximum ridge height 10.2 metres above ground level.  
 

• Predominantly 2 to 2.5 storey with an element of three storey 
positioned to form a landmark and gateway into the site.  
 

• The building elements and external materials used within the facades 
and on the roof should respond to the site context of Raunds. Their 
proportion, detail and materiality should reflect the locality and also 

Page 84



serve as a reference palette of materials for future design 
development.  
 

• The existing trees within the open space should be retained.  
  
7.2.8 The aspiration of the design code (as well as that of Officers) are noted 

within the design and access statement, which states:   
 

‘Through discussions with the Planning Development Manager 
during the compilation of this application it was established that the 
Council would wish to see a fresh, full planning application for the 
proposed development of the residential care facilities within this 
defined part of the sustainable urban extension, which follows the 
design lead from the details approved under the original reserved 
matters application, and which takes on board the advice contained 
within the approved ‘Design Code Document’ accordingly’. 

  
7.2.9 The proposed scheme (below) would provide a combined residential 

accommodation of 84 units (76 units for the care home and 8 units for the 
staffing block) which compared to the outline permission of 87 units would 
be a reduction of three units. The proposal would be achieved through a 
design that would have a greater open layout than the indicative block layout 
depicted within the design code document, whereby the reduction in scale 
of the apartment block has created space for a slight increase in depth for 
the care home building and the parking court which divides the two proposed 
buildings and increased the provision of landscaping.   

Page 85



 

 
  
7.2.10 The proposal would incorporates aspects of the key attributes mentioned 

within the design code in terms of the landmark corner of the building 
(positioned near the junction of Brick Kiln Road and North Street) being 
three-storey high which would be positively noticeable and act as a gateway 
into the wider sustainable urban extension (SUE).   

  
7.2.11 The proposed buildings would be predominantly 2.5 storey high, with 

accommodation within the roof space and would be a maximum ridge height 
of 11 metres (slightly higher than that expressed within the design code 
document of 10.2 metres). Due to the land levels sloping away from Brick 
Kiln Road and into the SUE, the apartment block would be on lower ground 
than the care home. A land level condition can be imposed to ensure the 
ground level of the site does not impact the overall height of the development 
or appear overbearing from neighbouring properties and the street scene.  

  
7.2.12 Whilst, no specific material details have been provided, the elevation and 

3D Plans as well as the design and access statement illustrate the palette 
materials of the proposed buildings being two toned, for example a light 
stone and dark grey brick colour.     

  
7.2.12 The building elements and the illustrative colour palette of the external 

materials would provide a unique character to the proposed buildings in the 
context of its setting, which is considered to respect the local character as 

Page 86



well as serve as an enhancement feature for future design developments, 
thereby enhancing the local character. A condition can be imposed for 
material details should permission be permitted.  

  
7.2.13 The greenspaces around the perimeter of the site and in between the 

proposed buildings as well as near the entrance of the care home, would 
help to form a welcoming and landscaped entrance into the proposed 
scheme. In addition, the layout of the site provides for well-connected 
pedestrian routes enabling ease of pedestrian access to the care home from 
the public realms via the pedestrian footpaths.  These aspects contribute to 
the local character and the visual appeal of the proposed scheme.  

  
7.2.14 The existing TPO’d trees along the front boundary have been removed due 

to matters outside of the applicant’s control, however as part of the 
landscaping scheme replacement trees would be planted amongst other 
landscape features. Details of this is discussed further in the ‘natural 
environment’ section of this report (below).  

  
7.2.15 Overall, the design of the proposed development has incorporated key 

attributes of the design code document approved under the original outline 
application and thereby it is considered that the proposed scheme would 
respect as well as enhance the local character. Therefore, the proposed 
development complies with Policy 8(d) of the JCS, Policy EN13 of the LLP2, 
Policy R2 of the RNP and Paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 

  
7.3  Impact on Residential Amenity 
  
7.3.1  The proposed development would be surrounded by residential 

development. To the north and east of the application site would be the 
residential dwellings approved as part of the sustainable urban extension 
(SUE). The south of the application site would be the existing built form of 
Raunds and to the west would be the recently approved residential scheme 
(NE/21/00379/FUL) for 35 affordable dwellings.  

  
7.3.2 The application site would be enclosed on three sides by access roads 

which would separate the site from the residential dwellings and create an 
adequate relationship and distance. In addition, given the orientation of the 
built form as well as the scale and mass of the proposed buildings, it is not 
considered to form an overbearing or dominant development. Likewise, it is 
not considered to cause harm in terms of overshadowing and overlooking.   

  
7.3.3 It is noted from the floor plans that the ground, first and second floor of the 

care home would consist of social functional rooms as well as utility areas. 
Environmental Protection has no concerns with the proposal overall in terms 
of noise impact but has recommended imposing a noise condition to control 
noise levels of fixed plant and equipment to ensure they do not cause noise 
nuisance. This condition as well as the other recommended conditions 
(construction hours of work, burning of materials, dust mitigation, prevention 
of mud onto the highway and lighting) can be imposed should permission 
be granted.  

  
7.3.4 Internally, the layout and amenity spaces are considered to be satisfactory 

for the care home and the staffing accommodation.  
Page 87



  
7.3.5 A crime impact assessment has been submitted with this application. The 

comments of Northamptonshire Police are noted, and the matters raised can 
be mitigated via conditions should permission be granted.  

  
7.3.6 Overall, it is considered that the proposed scheme would not cause adverse 

harm to the amenity of the neighbouring properties or that of the future 
occupants. Therefore, the proposed development would comply with Policy 
8(e) of the JCS, Policy EN13 of the LLP2, Policy R2 of the RNP and 
Paragraph 130 of the NPPF 

  
7.4  Highway Matters 
  
7.4.1  The proposed scheme would utilise the approved access that serves the 

SUE, at the junction of Brick Kiln Road and North Street. This would allow 
for pedestrian and vehicular access into the site.  

  
7.4.2  Highways initial comments were as follows:  

 
• Please note that the parking supplied falls below NNC adopted 

parking standards. The applicant will need provide evidence of other 
similar sites to support and justify the current proposed parking. 
 

• The LHA would query the lack of any pedestrian crossings for staff or 
visitors wishing to more safely cross Brick Kiln Road to reach the 
existing bus stops. 
 

• A designated space will be required for deliveries so the vehicle in 
question does not cause any obstructions to other vehicle users.  
 

• For sites that provide employment, we will require the following; 
 

o The nearest bus stops are located on Brick Kiln Road 
approximately 200 metres away from the site. Improvements 
to these stops will be required in the form of a shelter for staff. 
 

o A 4-week or one month Megarider ticket for the local area, one 
per new employee for a period of 6 months. 

  
7.4.3  In light of Highways comments, the applicant submitted a Transport Impact 

Assessment which included tracking plans. The Transport Impact 
Assessment concluded the following: 

  
 Parking Provision  
  
7.4.4 ‘The proposed development would provide a total of 39 car parking 

spaces across the site, including a dedicated ambulance/delivery 
vehicle space near the main entrance of the care home (space 
number 30) and 9 spaces allocated to the apartments. Section 5.3 of 
the submitted Transport Statement outlined that based on the local 
adopted parking standards the development should provide a 
minimum of 43 parking spaces. The proposed provision is therefore 
4 spaces short of the minimum requirements. 

Page 88



 
To justify this slight shortfall, Section 5.3 of the Transport Statement 
provided details of the approved parking provision to serve the 68-
bedroom care home and 19 close-care apartments at the site 
(approved as part of the wider Raunds Sustainable Urban Extension 
Development). The approved development provided a total of 22 
parking spaces, equating to approximately 1 parking space per 4-
bedrooms within the development for use by staff and visitors. The 
Transport Statement concluded that the parking for the proposed 
care home therefore reflected the approved provision granted as part 
of the existing planning permission at the site. 
 
To further justify the proposed level of parking, the Transport 
Statement included a TRICS based parking accumulation 
assessment which identified a maximum parking demand of 27 
vehicles between 1300 and 1400 hours. Importantly, the LHA has not 
queried this methodology which clearly outlines that the provision of 
39 parking spaces across the proposed development would 
comfortably be able to accommodate the maximum expected parking 
demand. 
 
Notwithstanding, the LHA has requested “evidence of other similar 
sites to support and justify the current proposed parking”. To address 
this point, research has been conducted to identify other care homes 
within Northamptonshire that have received Planning Permission that 
also justified lower levels of parking. 
 
Land off Huntingdon and Market Road, Thrapston, Northamptonshire 
(planning application reference: 19/01392/OUT). The proposals 
included the development of a 67-bedroom care home with a total 
parking provision of 31 spaces, including 2 disabled spaces that 
would be operated by Country Court Care who will also operate the 
proposed scheme. Based on the parking standards the scheme 
should have provided 41 spaces in total (to reflect up to 19 staff on-
site at any one time). To justify this shortfall it was concluded that 
parking levels should be calculated based on the expected demand 
which is influenced by opportunities to travel to the site by sustainable 
modes, the site’s location to local amenities and the type/scale of the 
development. The application also provided details of a TRICS 
parking accumulation assessment to provide further evidence to 
justify a shortfall in parking provision.’ 

  
 Delivery Vehicle Space 
  
7.4.5 The proposed development would provide a dedicated 

ambulance/delivery vehicle space near the main entrance of the care 
home. It would operate as a dual-purpose space and be managed in 
a way to ensure that the potential conflict between ambulances and 
delivery vehicles is minimised. 
 
It is important to note that visits by ambulances would be irregular 
and for emergencies only, most visits by Medical Professionals would 
be pre-arranged and likely travel to the site by car and not require 

Page 89



access to this space. Furthermore, any deliveries to the site would be 
managed by care home staff and if there was to be a pre-arranged 
ambulance visit, the delivery would be scheduled for another time. 
Similarly, visits by delivery vehicles would occur for a very short 
period of time and if an ambulance was to arrive during this time, in 
reality, the delivery driver would simply move out of the way. 
 
To demonstrate the suitability of the ambulance/delivery vehicle 
space, Drawing Number F20007/03 shows how both an ambulance 
and delivery vehicle could reverse into this space, be positioned away 
from the main parking area as they load/unload from the rear and 
then exit the site in a forward gear. 

  
 Bus Stop Improvements, Megarider Tickets and Pedestrian Crossing 
  
7.4.6 ‘Overarching national guidance within the NPPF provides clear 

criteria regarding planning conditions and obligations. This is outlined 
specifically in Paragraphs 56 and 57 presented below: 
 
“Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the 
development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in 
all other respects.” (Paragraph 536) 
 
“Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the 
following tests: 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
b) directly related to the development, and 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.” 
(Paragraph 57) 
 
Considering the above guidance, the improvements requested by the 
LHA are unexpected, especially when considering that the site is part 
of the wider Raunds Sustainable Urban Extension Development 
which includes a significant residential scheme of over 310 houses, 
as well as 1,859sqm of office/light industrial use and 140sqm of 
community facilities (approved through planning application 
reference 09/01626/OUT). No details on the exact number of 
pedestrians and public transport users were provided as part of this 
development, but it would undeniably have a much more significant 
impact on the number of pedestrians and public transport users 
accessing the wider site by both residents of the dwellings and staff 
at the commercial units. 
 
When this is compared against the proposed development, the 
Transport Statement concluded that the care home could generate 
up to 32 additional daily movements by pedestrians and have up to 
18 members of staff on-site at any one time. Due to this, it is clear 
that the proposed development would generate a negligible increase 
in the existing/future demand for access by pedestrians and public 
transport users. Therefore, it must be questioned whether the 
requested improvements are “fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and kind to the development” and why they are not already being 

Page 90



implemented as part of the approved residential and commercial 
schemes within the wider Raunds Sustainable Urban Extension 
Development. 
Therefore, in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF, it is 
considered that the improvements requested are not “precise,” 
“reasonable,” “necessary” or “directly related to the development”. 
Furthermore, it is important to note that any improvements are 
required to be proportionally related to the impact of the development 
itself and not any pre-existing aspirations for improvement. Due to 
this, we would strongly contend that the LHA’s 
requests for off-site improvements are reconsidered and should not 
be provided as part of this development. 
 
In terms of the bus tickets for staff of the care home, this request does 
not seem unreasonable and will be considered by the applicant. It is 
important to note that Country Court Care operate several care 
homes throughout the country and has its own strategy of 
encouraging staff to travel by non-car modes. Therefore, this type of 
arrangement may already be something that they would implement 
at the development’. 

  
7.4.7 In light of the supporting transport information, Highways stated the below 

comments:  
 

‘Bus Stop Improvements 
• looking at the information provided by the applicant and at the 

Raunds SUE, In this instance, given the quantum of 
development and that an existing bus service is to be 
improved to as part of the Raunds SUE we would not be able 
to justify the improvements to the nearby bus stops. 
 

• A 4-week or one-month Megarider ticket for the local area, one 
per new employee for a period of 6 months. 

 
Car Parking Provision 

• Please note that the number of parking spaces shown is 
marginally below what is required by NNC adopted standards. 
However, having reviewed the evidence provided once more, 
we can in this particular instance accept the parking provision 
provided’. 

  
7.4.8 The comments of the local representations are noted as follows: 

 
• No access to a public highway, the Northdale Park access is not 

currently adopted. 
  

• Increase in traffic would cause congestion.  
 

• The access into Northdale Park is substandard and is not adequate 
enough to accommodate for the proposal. 
 

• Insufficient parking spaces provided.  

Page 91



 
• Access onto Brick Kiln Roads is poorly lit and dangerous for 

children. 
  
7.4.9 Whilst, the Northdale Park access has currently not been adopted by 

Highways, the delays in the adopting the road have been caused for reasons 
outside of the developer’s control, however, the Case Officer is aware that 
the developer is working with Highways to overcome the matters and for the 
road to be adopted. Notwithstanding this, under the SUE permission 
(09/01626/OUT and 14/01082/REM) the Northdale Park access will be an 
adoptable road which links to the current public roads (Brick Kiln Road and 
North Street). The access of the proposed scheme links into the Northdale 
Park access which Highways has not expressed any concerns to or objected 
to the scheme, and thus a reason for refusal on this ground would not be 
substantiated.  

  
7.4.10 Likewise, Highways does not consider that the proposal would result in 

congesting the existing road network or result in highway safety harm to 
road users. The Northdale Park access was approved under the outline 
application (09/01626/OUT) and was considered by Highways and the 
Planning Inspector to be acceptable for the proposal and the wider SUE and 
for it to not cause danger to children due to lighting. Parking has been 
addressed in the above paragraphs and thus it is considered to be 
acceptable. As such, the concerns of the local representations would not 
substantiate a reason for refusal.   

  
7.4.11 Overall, the proposed scheme is not considered to cause adverse harm to 

highway users or the road network cumulatively and thus complies with 
Policy 8(b) of the JCS and Policy R10 of the NP. 

  
7.5 Flood Risk and Drainage 
  
7.5.1 The application site is located within flood zone 1 which is a low risk area of 

fluvial flooding. Notwithstanding this, Brick Kiln Road and North Street 
(including the area along the front boundary of the site) has suffered from 
surface water flooding. This has been caused due to the culvert near the 
front site boundary being damaged and blocked by the roots of the TPO 
trees which prevented the surface water from being drained away 
effectively.  This is outside the control of the applicant as it is within 
Highways land, so it is a matter which Highways and the Council’s Senior 
Tree and Landscape Officer have been dealing with.  

  
7.5.2 The resolution to the matter has involved removing the TPO trees and 

reconstructing the culvert which should alleviate the surface water flooding.   
  
7.5.3 The flood risk and drainage strategy submitted with this application notes 

that the foul water would be discharged to the Anglian Water’s network and 
the surface water via a sustainable drainage solution which would drain into 
the newly constructed culvert. Prior to the surface water discharging into the 
culvert, the water would collate into an underground crate where the 
discharge rate would achieve a gravity connection flow of 2 litres per second 
before discharging into the culvert. The land level around the care home 
would need to be raised by 150 millimetres (as denoted on the retention wall 

Page 92



plan – 2020-8412-51B) to enable a gravity connection for the surface water. 
A land level condition can be imposed to ensure that the raising of the 
ground levels does not cause detrimental impact on the local character and 
surrounding amenity.  

  
7.5.4 Anglian Water has confirmed that they have foul drainage near the site and 

Raunds Water Recycling Centre would serve the development which has 
capacity to deal with the foul water flows of the proposed scheme. The 
sewage network also has capacity to deal with the flows of the proposed 
scheme. As such, Anglian Water has no objection to the proposed 
development.   

  
7.5.5 Likewise, the Environment Agency and the Lead Local Flood Authority 

consider that the proposal would not cause flood risk elsewhere or 
exacerbate existing flooding issues or put future occupiers at risk of flooding 
and thus they have no objection to the proposed scheme. The Lead Local 
Flood Authority have suggested pre-commencement conditions which can 
be imposed should permission be granted.  

  
7.5.6 As such, the proposed development complies with Policy 10 of the JCS and 

Paragraph 167 of the NPPF.   
  
7.6 Natural Environment 
  
7.6.1 Landscaping of the proposed scheme is one of the important elements of 

the ‘design code document’ and formed a key attribute to ensure it formed 
a welcoming feature to the care home which involved the retention of the 
group of TPO trees. However, as mentioned within the ‘Flood Risk and 
Drainage’ subsection above, the TPO trees were removed as part of 
planning approval NE/22/00223/CDN, as they were causing issues with the 
drainage and highway infrastructure. These matters are outside of the 
control of the applicant and the proposed scheme. 

  
7.6.2 A landscaping scheme has been submitted with this application which takes 

into account the landscaping scheme approved under NE/22/00223/CND 
for the replacement TPO trees as well as the comments of the Senior Tree 
and Landscape Officer. This has resulted in a landscaping scheme that the 
Senior Tree and Landscape Officer states:  
 

‘In a decent scheme when matured into an attractive and interesting 
landscape and gardens for residents, visitors and passers-by to 
enjoy’. 

  
7.6.3 An ecological report has been submitted with this application which the 

Principal Ecological Officer is satisfied with and considers that the 
biodiversity impact should be minimal subject to the suggested biodiversity 
conditions. These conditions can be imposed should permission be granted.  
 
 
 
 
  

  
Page 93



7.6.4 The comments of Natural England are noted regarding the site being within 
two kilometres of the Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area 
(SPA). A financial contribution in line with the SPA mitigation strategy would 
be expected in order to alleviate the impact of the proposed scheme on the 
SPA. The applicant has agreed to financial contribution via the S106 
process as detailed in the ‘Planning Obligation’ subsection of this report 
(below).    

  
7.6.5 Overall, the proposed development would not cause adverse harm to the 

natural environment and instead would provide an enhanced landscape 
character to the local area. As such, the proposed development complies 
with Policy 4 of the JCS, Policy R16 of the NP and Paragraph 174 of the 
NPPF. 

  
7.7 Archaeology  
  
7.7.1 The application site lies within an area of archaeological interest and the 

Archaeological Team states that the proposed development would have an 
impact on the surviving sub-surface archaeological remains. Albeit, through 
the imposition of the suggested archaeological condition, the impact would 
be mitigated. The pre-commencement condition can be imposed should 
permission be granted.  

  
7.7.2 As such, the proposed development complies with Policy 2 of the JCS, 

Policy EN14 of the LPP2, Policy R2 of the NP and Paragraph 205 of the 
NPPF.  

  
7.8 Waste Management 
  
7.8.1 The site plan illustrates two locations for the bin stores, one near the north-

west corner of the site and the other near the corner of the apartment 
building. It is noted from the Waste Management comments that the waste 
bins would be collected by a commercial waste provider rather than the 
Council’s refuse team.  

  
7.8.2 The observations of the Waste Management Officer are noted and whilst it 

would be preferred to have the waste collection point near the public 
highway, the transport assessment demonstrates that a refuse vehicle could 
safely and reasonably  operate within the site to collect the waste bins. Also, 
Highways nor the Waste Management Officer have objected to the 
proposed scheme.   

  
7.8.3 Therefore, a reason for refusal on waste grounds would not be substantiated 

and the proposal would comply with Policy 8(b) and (e) of the JCS and 
paragraph 130 of the NPPF.  

  
7.9 Planning Obligations 
  
7.9.1 In line with paragraphs 55 and 57 of the NPPF the below planning 

obligations have been requested. 
  
7.9.2 Upper Nene Valley Gravel Pits Special Protection Area - £30,544.08. The 

applicant has agreed to pay this. 
Page 94



  
7.9.3 Northamptonshire CCGs / NHS has requested a financial contribution of 

£15,900.72 towards infrastructure support to ensure the new population has 
access to primary health care services. The applicant has agreed to pay 
this. 

  
7.9.4 Highways has requested a four week or one month Megarider ticket for the 

local area, one per new employee for a period of 6 months. The applicant 
has agreed to pay this. 

  
7.9.5 The S106 contributions requested are reasonable in accordance with 

Paragraph 55 and 57 of the NPPF and the applicant has agreed to the 
contributions. A S106 agreement is currently being prepared between the 
Council’s and applicant’s solicitors.   

 
8. Other Matters 

 
8.1  Representations: The concerns raised by objectors and the Town Council 

have been considered and addressed within the above sections to which it 
is either considered that the proposed development would not result in 
significant harm or that the concerns can be mitigated by via a condition / 
planning obligation. 

  
8.2  Equality: It is not considered that the proposal raises any concerns in relation 

to the Equality Act (2010). 
  
8.3  Health Impact Assessment: Paragraph 91 of the NFFP states planning 

policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 
communities and, specifically, criterion c) of this seeks to enable and support 
healthy lifestyles, for example, through the provision of safe and accessible 
green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, 
allotments and layouts which encourage walking and cycling. It is considered 
that the proposal subject to this application will enable many of these aims 
to be achieved and therefore it is considered acceptable on health impact 
grounds. In addition, a contribution is sought towards healthcare services. 

  
8.4  Sustainable Measures: Policy 9 of the JCS seeks for proposal to incorporate 

measures to ensure high standards of resource and energy efficiency and 
reduction in carbon emissions, including water use efficiency. A condition 
can be imposed for these details.  

  
8.5  Pre-Commencement Conditions: The Applicant has agreed to the pre-

commencement conditions noted within  the ‘Conditions’ section of the report 
(below).  

 
9. Conclusion / Planning Balance 

 
9.1  The application site is designated for a care home development including an 

apartment block for care staff under the permitted sustainable urban 
extension (SUE) known as Northdale Park. 
 
 

  
Page 95



9.2  The proposed development is considered to create a sense of place while 
respecting and enhancing the local character. The design of the proposed 
development incorporates the key attributes within the ‘design code 
document’ as well as incorporating its own design characteristics which has 
resulted in the effective use of the site. 

  
9.3  The applicant has worked with the Council and provided a number of 

supporting documents to deliver a scheme that is considered to not have an 
impact in terms of neighbouring and future amenity, highways, flood risk and 
drainage, natural environment, historical environment, waste management 
and local infrastructure. 

  
9.4  In addition, the proposal would provide economic, environmental and social 

benefits through primarily the provision of delivering the need for assisted 
living accommodation, construction of the proposed development and 
integration of the future occupants / staff into the local area as well as 
biodiversity enhancements. 

  
9.5 It is therefore considered that the proposed development complies with local 

and national policies and subsequently, it is recommended that planning 
permission be granted subject to conditions and satisfactory S106 
Agreement. 

 
10. Recommendation 

 
10.1  That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions and the 

completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement by 20 October 2023 (or other 
date to be agreed. 

  
10.2  That should the Section 106 Legal Agreement not be completed by 20 

October 2023 (or other date to be agreed) that it be delegated to the Director 
of Place and Economy to REFUSE planning permission. 

 
11. Conditions 

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

3 years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

  
2 Prior to the development above slab level of development hereby permitted, 

details of the external finishes of the proposed buildings shall have been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority and the 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason:  To achieve a satisfactory elevational appearance for the 
development. 
 
 

  

Page 96



3 Prior to commencement of development hereby permitted, details of existing 
ground levels (in relation to an existing datum point), proposed finished floor 
levels and floor slab levels, and cross sections, of the development including 
the neighbouring properties, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not be carried out 
other than in strict accordance with the levels shown on the approved 
drawing(s).   
 
Reason: To protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers 
and local character. 

  
4 The staff apartment block hereby approved shall be used only in association 

with, and ancillary to, the care home hereby permitted, and shall not be 
occupied, leased or rented to anyone that is not employed by the care home. 
 
Reason: The apartment block has been permitted for this purpose only and 
any other use would require proper consideration under local and national 
policies.  

  
5 The development hereby permitted shall be used for assisted living 

accommodation and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in 
Class C of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 2005 or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order). 
 
Reason: In granting this permission the Council has had regard to the special 
circumstances of this case and considers that unrestricted use within Class 
C2 would require proper consideration under local and national policies 
given the local amenity.  

  
6 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, design 

details of the waste storage area shall be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and maintained and retained in 
perpetuity. The details shall include (but not limited to) elevations plans, 
product details and security measures.  
 
Reason: To prevent the unsightly storage of refuse containers and in the 
interests of amenity. 

  
7 No development shall take place within the area of archaeological interest 

until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with 
a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This written scheme 
will include the following components, completion of each of which will trigger 
the phased discharging of the condition: 
 
(i) Approval of a Written Scheme of Investigation; 
(ii) Fieldwork in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation; 
(iii) Completion of a Post-Excavation Assessment report and approval of an 
approved Updated Project Design: to be submitted within six months of the 

Page 97



completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the 
Planning Authority; 
(iv) Completion of analysis, preparation of site archive ready for deposition 
at a store (Northamptonshire ARC) approved by the Planning Authority, 
production of an archive report, and submission of a publication report: to be 
completed within two years of the completion of fieldwork, unless otherwise 
agreed in advance with the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly 
examined and recorded and the results made available, in accordance with 
NPPF Paragraph 205. 

  
8 No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, 

vegetation clearance) until a construction environmental management plan 
(CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following. 
 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
 
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”. 
 
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided 
as a set of method statements). 
 
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features. 
 
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works. 
 
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
 
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works 
(ECoW) or similarly competent person. 
 
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: in the interest of biodiversity. 

  
9 Prior to the development above slab level of the development hereby 

permitted, details of biodiversity enhancement features including location 
and product detail shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and maintained and retained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity. 

  

Page 98



10 Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the access and 
parking court as per the site plan (0347 001 A) shall be completed and the 
ambulance / delivery parking space shall be demarcated and used for this 
purpose only. Thereafter, it will be maintained and retained in perpetuity.  
 
Reason: To ensure adequate and proper parking provision and access. 

  
11 The rating level of noise emitted from any proposed fixed plant (including 

ventilation, refrigeration, ground source heat pump and air conditioning) and 
equipment to be installed on the site (determined using the guidance of BS 
4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial 
sound or any amendments or modifications) shall be at least 5dB below the 
existing measured background noise level LA90,T at the nearest sensitive 
development.  
 
Reason:  To protect the residential amenity of the locality 

  
12 No demolition or construction work (including deliveries to or from the site) 

shall take place on the site outside the hours of 0800 and 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays and 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays, Bank 
Holidays or Public Holidays unless otherwise agreed with the local planning 
authority.   
 
Reason: To ensure the protection of the local amenity throughout 
construction works 

  
13 There shall be no burning of any material during construction, demolition or 

site preparation works. 
 
Reason: To minimise the threat of pollution and disturbance to local amenity. 

  
14 At all times during the carrying out of operations authorised or required under 

this permission, best practicable means shall be employed to minimise dust. 
Such measures may include water bowsers, sprayers whether mobile or 
fixed, or similar equipment. At such times when due to site conditions the 
prevention of dust nuisance by these means is considered by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultations with the site operator to be impracticable, 
then movements of soils and overburden shall be temporarily curtailed until 
such times as the site/weather conditions improve such as to permit a 
resumption. 
 
Reason: To ensure the protection of the local amenity throughout 
construction works 

  
15 Precautions shall be taken to prevent the deposit of mud and other debris 

on adjacent roads by vehicles travelling to and from the construction site. 
Any mud refuse etc. deposited on the road as a result of the development 
must be removed immediately by the operator/contractor.  
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and visual 
amenity. 

  

Page 99



16 Street lighting is installed as detailed in the Street Lighting Design drawing 
number MMA15901/001 dated 4 February 2022. 
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of the locality 

  
17 Prior to the development above slap level of the development hereby 

permitted, a scheme for the provision of CCTV shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details 
shall be installed prior to commencement of use of the development hereby 
permitted and retained and maintained thereafter in perpetuity. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure adequate safety and security on site. 

  
18 Prior to the development above slab level of the development hereby 

permitted, full details of the security measures pertaining to windows, doors, 
gates and boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the proposed development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained in 
perpetuity. 
 
Reason: In the interest of crime prevention and safety. 

  
19 All soft landscape works and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved Detailed Landscape Proposals drawing  number KL-516-
001 Revision P2 and Soil Volume Calculation & Tree Pit Details 1 drawing 
number KL-516-002 Revision P2 by Kova landscape Ltd both drawings 
dated 27.09.2022. All landscaping and tree planting shall be completed prior 
to the occupation or use of any part of the development. Any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of similar size and species as those 
originally planted, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written approval 
to any variation.  
 
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a 
reasonable standard of new soft landscape and tree planting landscape in 
accordance with the approved designs. 

  
20 Before any above ground works commence full details of the surface water 

drainage scheme for the site, based on the aforementioned documents shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed.  
 
The scheme shall include  
i) details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, 
dimensions and so on) of all elements of the proposed drainage system, to 
include pipes, inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets and attenuation structures 
(if required).  
ii) details of the drainage system are to be accompanied by full and 
appropriately cross-referenced supporting calculations. 

Page 100



iii) cross sections of the control chambers (including site specific levels 
mAOD) and manufacturers’ hydraulic curves should be submitted for all 
hydrobrakes and other flow control devices 
iv) Infiltration test results to BRE 365.  
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, by 
ensuring the satisfactory means of surface water attenuation and discharge 
from the site. 

  
21 No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for the maintenance 

and upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage system proposed 
on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and the maintenance plan shall be carried out in full 
thereafter. This scheme shall include details of any drainage elements that 
will require replacement within the lifetime of the proposed development.  
 
Details are required of which organisation or body will be the main 
maintaining body where the area is multifunctional (e.g. open space play 
areas containing SuDS) with evidence that the organisation/body has 
agreed to such adoption. 
 
The scheme shall include, a maintenance schedule setting out which assets 
need to be maintained, at what intervals and what method is to be used. 
 
A site plan including access points, maintenance access easements and 
outfalls. 
 
Maintenance operational areas to be identified and shown on the plans, to 
ensure there is room to gain access to the asset, maintain it with appropriate 
plant and then handle any arisings generated from the site.  
 
Details of expected design life of all assets with a schedule of when 
replacement assets may be required. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the drainage systems associated with the 
development will be adopted and maintained appropriately in perpetuity of 
the development, to reduce the potential risk of flooding due to failure of the 
proposed drainage system. 

  
22 No Occupation shall take place until a Verification Report for the installed 

surface water drainage system for the site based on the aforementioned 
documents have been submitted in writing by a suitably qualified drainage 
engineer and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The details shall include:  
a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved 
principles  
b) Any As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos  
c) Results of any Performance testing undertaken as a part of the application 
process (if required / necessary)  
d) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for 
Discharges etc.  

Page 101



e) CCTV confirmation that the system is free from defects, damage and 
foreign objects.  
 
Reason: To ensure the installed Surface Water Drainage System is 
satisfactory and in accordance with the approved reports for the 
development site. 

  
23 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time 

as a scheme to ensure finished floor levels are set no lower than 150mm 
above adjacent ground levels has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
The applicant must also demonstrate the no water susceptible development 
is located within water susceptible / flood flow route(s). 
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 
accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the 
scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and 
future users and to ensure that pluvial flood flow routes are not displaced 
causing flooding to others 

  
24 No development shall take place until a scheme and timetable detailing the 

provision of fire hydrants, sprinkler systems and their associated 
infrastructure has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The fire hydrants, sprinkler systems and associated 
infrastructure shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the approved 
scheme and timetable. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate water infrastructure provision is made on site 
for the local fire service to tackle any property fire. 

  
25 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, full details of a 

scheme for cycle storage shall be submitted to and approved in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented in 
full prior to the first use of the development hereby approved and thereafter 
retained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of security, the convenience of cyclists at the 
premises, and to encourage sustainable forms of transport. 

  
26 Prior to development above slab level of the development hereby permitted, 

details of sustainable measures to be incorporated within the proposed 
dwellings, shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
Thereafter, the proposed development shall be constructed in accordance 
with approved details.  The details should include electrical vehicle charging 
points and water and energy efficiency measures to demonstrate 
compliance with Policy 9 of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
2016. 
 
Reason: In the interest of climate change and environmental protection. 

Page 102



  
27 The care home hereby permitted shall only be occupied by persons that 

require assisted living care and is of the age of sixty-five (65) years and 
above.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity and local need for a specific age group.   

  
28 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the approved plans as follows: 
 
Location plan – 0347-003 P02 
Proposed site layout plan – 0347-001 A 
Apartment Elevation Plan – 0347-004 A 
Apartment Floor Plan – 0347-004 A 
Care Home Elevation Plan – 0347-001 3A 
Care Home Elevation Plan – 0347-002 3A 
Care Home Section Plan – 0347-003 3A 
Care Home Ground Floor Plan – 0347-001 3A 
Care Home First Floor Plan – 0347-002 3A 
Care Home Second Floor Plan – 0347-003 3A 
Lighting Plan – MMA15901/001 R1 
 
Reason: In order to clarify the terms of the planning permission and to 
ensure that the development is carried out as permitted. 

 
12. Informatives 
 
1 With reference to Condition 24, the developer will be expected to meet the 

full costs of supplying and installing the fire hydrant, sprinkler system and 
associated infrastructure. 

  
2 Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the 

Water Industry Act Approval and consent will be required by Anglian Water, 
under the Water Industry Act 1991. Contact Development Services Team 
0345 606 6087 

  
3 The developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not 

been approved for the purposes of adoption. If the developer wishes to have 
the sewers included in a sewer adoption agreement with Anglian Water 
(under Sections 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991), they should contact 
our Development Services Team on 0345 606 6087 at the earliest 
opportunity. Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and 
constructed in accordance with Sewers for Adoption guide for developers, 
as supplemented by Anglian Water’s requirements 

  
4 The North Northamptonshire Joint Core Spatial Strategy 2011-2031 Policy 

10 (e), Provision of Infrastructure, encourages developers to provide for fast 
broadband to new buildings (including but not exclusive to housing, 
commercial, retail or leisure) by partnering with a telecommunications 
provider or providing on site infrastructure to enable the premises to be 
directly served – this should be gigabit capable and where possible, full fibre 
connectivity.  This supports the government’s Gigabit programme and local 
targets to see 80% full fibre and 90% gigabit coverage by the end of 2028.  

Page 103



Developers should approach telecoms providers at the earliest opportunity 
to agree gigabit-ready infrastructure and connectivity plans.  The network 
capability delivered by full fibre technology supports the fastest broadband 
speeds available, is considered future proof, and will bring a multitude of 
opportunities, savings and benefits. It may also add value to the 
development and is a major selling point to attract potential homebuyers and 
occupiers, with many people now regarding fast broadband as one of the 
most important considerations.   
 
Efficiencies can be secured if ducting works and other network infrastructure 
is planned early and carried out in co-operation with the installations of 
standard utility works. Any works carried out should be compliant with the 
Manual of Contract Documents for Highway Works- specifically Volume 1 
Specification Series 500 Drainage and Ducts, and Volume 3 Highway 
Construction Details Section 1 - I Series Underground Cable Ducts.  These 
documents can be found at: 
http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/mchw/index.htm.  
 
Streetworks UK Guidelines on the Positioning and Colour Coding of 
Underground Utilities’ Apparatus can be found here National Joint Utilities 
Group (streetworks.org.uk). Proposals should also be compliant with Part R, 
Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 (soon to be amended to 
strengthen requirements for gigabit connectivity to new dwellings) and the 
Approved Document R. 
 
Some telecoms network providers have dedicated online portals providing 
advice for developers, including: 
 
Openreach Developer Portal (openreach.co.uk) 
Virgin Media http://www.virginmedia.com/lightning/network-
expansion/property-developers    
Gigaclear networkbuildcare@gigaclear.com  (rural areas and some market 
towns 
OFNL (GTC) http://www.ofnl.co.uk/developers   
CityFibre http://cityfibre.com/property-developers  
Details of other fibre network providers operating locally can be found here 
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-we-are-
delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx.    
 
For help and advice on broadband connectivity in North Northamptonshire 
email the Superfast Northamptonshire team at 
bigidea.ncc@northnorthants.gov.uk 

 

Page 104



0 50m

N

Series:

Dimensions and levels to be checked on 

site. The title, copyright and confidential 
information in this document belongs to 
LineStyle Studio. All rights reserved. You 
may not reproduce this document or disclose 
it to others without the written consent of 
LineStyle Studio

4 Pelham Court
Pelham Road 

Nottingham NG5 1AP
+44 (0)115 727 0559

design@linestyle.co.uk
www.linestyle.co.uk

Drawing No.Project Title:

Client:

Drawing Title:

Status:

Date: Scale:

Size:

Project No.

Rev:

1 : 1250

Proposed mixed use development at
land off  Brick Kiln Road, Raunds 10P02

003

0347Country Court Care Group

Site Location Plan

Stage 3

14.01.2022

(1
0

)0
0

3

A4

Brick Kiln Road

Date Rev Comment

14.01.2022 A Planning Issue

Page 105

Appendix 



This page is intentionally left blank



                                     
 
 
 
 

North Northamptonshire Planning Committee (South) 
     18 October 2023 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Location plan 
Appendix B – Proposed plans 
 
Scheme of Delegation 
 
This application is brought to committee because it falls outside of the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation because   
 
1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions. 

  
 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1  The proposal involves the demolition of an existing single storey flat roof 

extension and the construction of a single storey flat roof rear extension to 
serve as a garden room. 

Application 
Reference 

NE/23/00900/FUL 

Case Officer Erika Davies 

Location 13 Church Street, Woodford, Kettering, NN14 4EX 

Development Demolition of an existing single storey flat roof 
extension and its replacement with a new single storey 
flat extension. 

Applicant Mr and Mrs Graeme Kane 

Agent Davis Smith – Design Principle Studio 

Ward Irthlingborough 

Original Expiry 
Date 

17 October 2023 

Agreed Extension 
of Time 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



  
2.2 The extension is proposed to project 4.830m from the rear wall, and measure 

5.39m in width and 2.7m high at eaves. 
  
2.3 The extension is proposed to follow the line of the existing side elevation to 

form a slightly larger extension than the existing single storey rear extension. 
  
2.4 The extension is proposed to be fitted with patio doors to the rear and 

Eastern side elevation, and two roof lights which would provide skyward 
views and daytime illumination. 

 
3. Site Description 
 
3.1  The host dwelling is a detached two storey pitched roof dwelling, built on 

clipped limestone and lime mortar with a part concrete part slate tiled roof, 
sited on a large plot within a residential area of Woodford, surrounded by 
properties of various scales and designs.  

  
3.2 Due to the topography of the land, the dwelling sits at a higher level than the 

public highway and higher than the dwellings to the South East at Nos 20, 
22, 24 & 26 Church Street and the dwelling at 15 Church Street, and slightly 
higher than the dwelling at No. 17 Bakers Lane. 

  
3.3 The existing rear extension projects 4.64m from the western corner of the 

host dwelling and onto the rear garden and has a width of 5.72m, and it is 
fitted with patio doors to the rear and a door to the east elevation. 

  
3.4 There are two small outbuildings to the front of the site, one serving as a 

garage attached to a part brick, part stone build out-house with a pantile roof. 
  
3.5 The site is located within the Woodford Conservation Area, opposite a listed 

building at No. 22 Church Street. 
  
3.6 During site visit it was noted that the rear portion of the site is well screened 

by trees, shrubs and hedges, however the existing single storey extension 
is partially visible from the public highway. 

 
4. Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1  14/02117/FUL - Proposed alteration, works, rear extension and demolition 

of garage to dwelling – Permitted – 23.12.2014 
  
4.2 19/00420/FUL - Replacement windows and rear door – Permitted – 

03.05.2019 
  
4.3 NE/23/00901/FUL - Demolition of an existing garage and attached storage 

building and its replacement with new garage and storage structure with a 
self -contained playroom above. – Pending consideration 

 
5. Consultation Responses 
 

A full copy of all comments received can be found on the Council’s website  

Page 108



 
5.1  Parish Council 
 No comments received 
  
5.2  Neighbours / Responses to Publicity 
 11 Neighbours were notified, a site notice displayed for 21 days, and the 

proposal advertised on the NVN. 
  
 No comments were received 
  
5.3  Nature Space 
 It is considered that the proposed development would present a low risk to 

great crested newts and/or their habitats. However, as the development is 
within the Red Impact Risk Zone, as modelled by district licence mapping, it 
is recommended that an informative is attached to planning consent.  

  
5.4 Senior Conservation Officer 
 No comments were received. 
  
5.5 County Archaeology Advisor 
 No comments. 
  

 
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations 
 
6.1  Statutory Duty 
  
 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.   

  
6.2  National Policy 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 National Design Guide (NDG) (2019) 
  
6.3  North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2016) 
 Policy 1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 Policy 2 – Historic Environment  
 Policy 8 – North Northamptonshire Place Shaping Principles 
 Policy 9 – Sustainable Buildings and Allowable Solutions 
  
6.4  Emerging East Northamptonshire Local Plan (LPP2) (2021) 
 EN1 – Spatial Development Strategy 
 EN13 – Design of Building / Extensions 
  
6.5  Neighbourhood Plan  
 N/A 
  
6.6  Other Relevant Documents 
 Householder Extensions SPD 
 Sustainable Design 

 
Page 109



7. Evaluation 
 

The key issues for consideration are: 
• Principle of Development 
• Visual Impact and Impact on the Conservation Area 
• Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
• Highway Matters 

 
7.1  Principle of Development 
  
7.1.1  The proposal is for the extension of a residential property within the confines 

of the land associated with it. The principle of such development is 
acceptable. 

  
7.2  Visual Impact and Impact on the Conservation Area 
  
7.2.1  The proposed works would be partially visible from the street, however due 

to their modest scale, complementary design and matching materials, as 
well as the low level screening provided by the existing landscaping, the 
proposed works would not have a detrimental visual impact on the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area.  

  
7.2.2  The proposed development would be visually subservient to the existing 

dwelling. The design and layout of the proposal would maintain the 
symmetry and character of the existing dwelling, the flat roof would sit lower 
than the existing roof and the rooflights would not cause any detrimental 
impact visually due to their modest scale and set back position. The 
rooflights would not be prominent visually, as such they would not result in 
any significant visual harm on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area.  

  
7.2.3  Likewise, the scale and design of the proposed extension do not result in 

any visual harm on the character and appearance of the surrounding 
conservation area.  

  
7.3  Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
  
7.3.1  As the proposed extension is single storey, the proposed height and bulk 

would not result in any significant overshadowing of the surrounding 
properties. Similarly, due to the modest scale of the proposed extensions, 
no overbearing impact would occur.  

  
7.3.2  The single storey rear extension is proposed to be fitted with patio doors to 

the rear and east side elevation, however due to the positioning and distance 
to the neighbouring property at No. 17 Bakers Lane there is no significant 
impact on additional overlooking resulting from the addition of the patio 
doors.  

  
7.3.3  There are two rooflights proposed on the flat roof of the proposed extension. 

These windows would provide skyward views and would not result in any 
direct overlooking of adjoining plots.  

  

Page 110



7.4  Heritage 
  
7.4.1  The council is required by section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which they possess.  

  
7.4.2  The council is required by Section 72 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty on a decision maker to pay 
special attention to the need to preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance of a conservation area.  

  
7.4.3  As stated on point 7.2.2 the proposed extension is single storey and is 

screened by the existing trees and shrubs in the rear portion of the site. The 
extension would replace an existing single storey rear extension on a similar 
footprint. 

  
7.4.4 The proposed extension would sit more comfortably in relation to the existing 

dwelling as the extension would be more aligned with the side elevation of 
the existing dwelling. 

  
7.4.5 Therefore, it is considered that the new single storey rear extension would 

not have a severe impact on the conservation area and the listed building 
opposite the application site than the existing as the existing extension. 

 
8. Other Matters 
 
8.1  Neighbour comments: No additional points raised. 
  
8.2  Equality: There are no equality issues in relation to the proposed 

development. 
  

 
9. Conclusion/Planning Balance 
 
9.1  The proposed extension is considered to be in keeping with the design of 

the host dwelling and it would be visually subservient to the existing dwelling, 
the extension would be of similar scale to the existing single storey rear 
extension but it would be constructed at an angle that would allow for a 
continuation of the existing side elevation and would make for a more 
visually appealing feature.   

 
10. Recommendation 
 
10.1  The proposed development complies with the relevant development plan 

policies and is consistent with the provisions in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. It is recommended that the proposal be approved subject to 
condition/s.  

 
11. Conditions  
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

3 years from the date of this permission.  

Page 111



 
Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

  
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out using materials to 

match the existing dwelling and retained in that manner in perpetuity.  
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  

  
3 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance 

with the following plans and documents:  
 - Application form received 22 August 2023; 
 - Location and site plan received 22 August 2023; 
 - Proposed site plan received 22 August 2023; 
 - Existing floor plans received 22 August 2023, drawing number 1188 

X PL 00 GA.P1; 
 - Existing elevations received 22 August 2023, drawing number 1188 

X LE 01.P1 
 - Proposed floor plans received 22 August 2023, drawing number 1188 

P PL 00 GA.P1 
 - Proposed elevations received 22 August 2023, drawing number 1188 

P LE 01.P1 
 
12. Informatives  
1 The applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended), it is an offence to (amongst other things): 
deliberately capture, disturb, injure, or kill great crested newts; damage or 
destroy a breeding or resting place; intentionally or recklessly obstruct 
access to a resting or sheltering place. Planning permission for a 
development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this 
legislation. Should great crested newts be found at any stage of the 
development works, then all works should cease, and a professional and/or 
suitably qualified and experienced ecologist (or Natural England) should be 
contacted for advice on any special precautions before continuing, including 
the need for a licence. 

  
  
  
  

 

Page 112



P
age 113

A
ppendix 



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023
	Apologies for non-attendance were received from Councillor Lora Lawman.

	4 NE/22/00851/OUT - Land East of A6 roundabout at Bedford Road, Rushden, Northants
	NE-22-00851-OUT - location plan

	5 20/00745/FUL - Land North of Raunds fronting Brick Kiln Road, North Street, Brooks Road and Midland Road, Raunds, Northants
	20-00745-FUL - Location Plan
	Sheets
	(10)003 - Site Location Plan



	6 NE/23/00900/FUL - 13 Church Street, Woodford, Kettering, NN14 4EX - Demolition of existing single storey flat rood extension and its replacement with a new single storey extension
	NE-23-00900-FUL location plan


